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Brickabilityat
ataaGlance…
Glance…
Brickability

£181.1m(2020:
(2020:£187.1m)
£187.1m) £17.5m
£17.5m(2020:
(2020:£19.5m)
£19.5m)
£181.1m
Revenue
Revenue

AdjustedEBITDA*
EBITDA*
Adjusted

£38.0m (2020:
(2020:£37.7m)
£37.7m) £7.3m
£38.0m
£7.3m

(2020:£2.3m
£2.3mnet
netcash)
cash)
(2020:
GrossProfit
Profit
Gross
NetDebt**
Debt**
GrossProfit
Profit%% 21.0%
21.0%(2020:
(2020:20.1%)
20.1%) Net
Gross

*A
 djusted
EBITDA
is defined
earnings
before
interest,
tax,
* Adjusted
EBITDA
is defined
asas
earnings
before
interest,
tax,
depreciation,
amortisation,
share
option
expenses,
acquisition
depreciation,
amortisation,
share
option
expenses,
acquisition
costs
and
exceptional
items.
costs
and
exceptional
items.
N
 et
debt
is defined
cash
less
bank
debt.
****
Net
debt
is defined
asas
cash
less
bank
debt.
A
 djusted
EPS
is calculated
dividing
adjusted
profit
******
Adjusted
EPS
is calculated
byby
dividing
thethe
adjusted
profit
year
weighted
average
number
ordinary
forfor
thethe
year
byby
thethe
weighted
average
number
of of
ordinary
shares
issue.
shares
in in
issue.
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obust recovery
recoveryfollowing
following
••R Robust
COVID-19
COVID-19restrictions.
restrictions.

wo strategic
strategicacquisitions
acquisitionsininthe
theyear
year
••T Two

and
andaafurther
furtheracquisition
acquisitionpost
postyear
yearend.
end.

xpansion ofofexisting
existingoperations,
operations,
••EExpansion
including
includinginvestment
investmentininnew
new
warehouse
warehousefacility.
facility.

ontinued focus
focuson
ondelivering
delivering
••CContinued

stakeholder
stakeholdervalue
valueininaasafe
safeand
and
sustainable
sustainable
TSTS
CC
Umanner.
U
Dmanner.
D
RO
RO
PP
NG
IN
IG
F
F
OO
OO

R
R

cquisition pipeline
pipelineremains
remainsstrong.
strong.
••A Acquisition

EPS
EPS

5.56p
5.56p (2020:
(2020:7.27p)
7.27p)

D JOINERY
ND
AN
GA
JOINERY
NG
BIIN
M
UMB
LU
P
, L
NG, P
NG

Roofing
RoofingServices;
Services;

33businesses
businessesoperating
operatingfrom
from22sites.
sites.

Heating,
Heating,Plumbing
Plumbingand
andJoinery;
Joinery;
HH
E
AETAT
II

4.19p
4.19p (2020:
(2020:4.79p)
4.79p)

by
byDivision
Division
1515businesses
from
businessesoperating
operating
from2727sites.
sites.

SS
IAILAL
ERER
ATAT

Profit
ProfitBefore
BeforeTax
Tax

BRICKS AND B
BRICKS AND
BUIL
D
U
I
I
L
N
D
GM
IN
GM

£11.2m
£11.2m (2020:
(2020:£12.2m)
£12.2m)

BRICKABILITY
BRICKABILITYKEY
KEYFACTS….
FACTS….
Three
ThreeCore
CoreDivisions
Divisions
Revenue
Revenue
Bricks
Materials;
Bricksand
andBuilding
Building
Materials;

66businesses
businessesoperating
operatingfrom
from44sites.
sites.

The
TheGroup
Groupcurrently
currentlyemploys
employsininexcess
excess
ofof325
325skilled
skilledand
andexperienced
experiencedpersonnel.
personnel.

Adjusted
AdjustedEPS***
EPS***

4m
.24.m
2
1
1
££
.2m
1444.2m
££14

The
TheGroup
Groupdistributes,
distributes,and
andininmany
many
cases
casesinstalls,
installs,superior
superiorquality
qualityand
and
strategically
strategicallyimportant
importantbuilding
building
materials
materialsfrom
frommajor
majorUK
UKand
andEuropean
European
manufacturing
manufacturingpartners,
partners,providing
providing
product
productsolutions
solutionstotoboth
bothprivate
privateand
and
commercial
commercialspecifiers,
specifiers,contractors,
contractors,
developers
developersand
andbuilders.
builders.

24.5m
££24.5m

ROOFING
ROOFING
SERVICES
SERVICES
HEATING,
HEATING,
PLUMBING
PLUMBINGAND
AND
JOINERY
JOINERY

BRICKS
BRICKSAND
AND
BUILDING
BUILDINGMATERIALS
MATERIALS

Revenue
Revenueby
byDivision
Division
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Chairman’s Statement
The response of the Group and everybody working within
it since the arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic in March
2020 has been outstanding. I am extremely pleased
of what has been achieved and, considering the very
significant challenges faced, the financial performance
of the Group is one of which we can be very proud.
COVID-19

John Richards
Chairman

At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
immediately took actions to comply with
government legislation and guidelines to
protect the health and safety of our employees
and customers. Strict new protocols were
introduced and the vast majority of our
employees worked from home. This in itself
presented several technical challenges and I
am pleased to note that those challenges were
quickly overcome. April 2020 saw significant
reductions in homebuilding and construction
activity before rebounding in May 2020.
In June, sales returned to 83% of June 2019
volumes and in the subsequent months of the
year, performance was broadly at the levels of
the previous year.

FY2021 has been another strong year for
Brickability Group. In a challenging and uncertain
year for the economy at-large Brickability showed its
ability to adapt quickly and successfully as well as maintain
focus – a real testament to the strength and diversity of the
business, and the management team we have. This is underscored
by the two strategic acquisitions we made during the year.
Post year end the acquisition of Taylor Maxwell further underpinned our
strategic diversification, adding to the Group’s product offering and its ability to
provide timely customer service.
Against this backdrop we believe that the Group is well-positioned to take full advantage
of a robust and improving construction market and the order book is strong. The pipeline
going forward looks encouraging.
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As government guidelines changed and
our markets opened up, we adapted our
COVID-19 protocols accordingly. As
we stand today, we still have employees
working from home on rota along with
robust social distancing and hand
sanitising procedures in place amongst
other health and safety policies.
The Group has a flexible cost base which
enabled us to cut overheads quickly as
restrictions took hold and, as activity has
become stronger, we have continued to
focus robustly on our costs.
I am, therefore, pleased to confirm for the
year to 31 March 2021 revenue of £181.1
million and an adjusted EBITDA of £17.5
million. Considering the nature of market
conditions during the early months of this
financial year, we are very satisfied with the
Group’s performance.

Stuart Overend

November proved to be a challenging month in a very unexpected way. The Group’s Chief
Financial Officer, Stuart Overend, passed away very suddenly at the age of 50. Stuart had
made an extremely important contribution to the Group and working with him during
our IPO and subsequent roadshows proved to be an absolute pleasure for Alan Simpson,
our Chief Executive, and I. Stuart was a tremendous colleague and friend and we are
all grateful to have had the opportunity to have known him and worked with him.
Our thoughts continue to be with his wife, Jennifer, and his three children.
Following an extensive executive search, Mike Gant was appointed Chief Financial Officer
in January 2021, initially on an interim basis, with his permanent appointment following in
April 2021. Mike has made a very positive contribution to the Group since joining and we
look forward to working with him in the years ahead.

Acquisitions

The Group’s strategy of bolt-on acquisitions funded by cash generation has continued
during the year. Details of these acquisitions and indeed our ceramic tile start-up business
can be found in the Chief Executive’s report, however, I would like to dwell briefly on the
acquisition of our haulage business, McCann Logistics. This business specialises in the
haulage of construction materials from Continental Europe to the UK. While such an
acquisition is outside of our normal focus, we viewed Brexit as a potential problem for
haulage and customs delays. The management believed the best way around this was to
bring such a business in-house. This has proved to be a strong decision with the haulage
delays experienced by some hardly affecting our Group. The business is performing at such
a strong pace that additional trailers have had to be ordered.
I must also mention the acquisition of Taylor Maxwell which has taken place since the year
end. This transformative deal significantly diversifies the Group’s product offering and
customer base. We now have a strong position in both timber and cladding distribution
and have access to many new customers, particularly in the contractor arena. The brand,
reputation and employees of Taylor Maxwell are very welcome and will no doubt add
significantly to the performance of the Group. Taylor Maxwell’s senior managers will be
represented on the Group’s Management Board.
The pipeline for further acquisitions continues to be strong.

Market

The construction market in general and the homebuilding market, in particular, were areas
that recovered quickly in 2020. This recovery is forecast to continue into 2021 and beyond. The
market is strongly supported by government initiatives including Help to Buy Version 2, the
Affordable Homes Programme and the Housing Accelerator Fund. Forecasts are also positive
for other parts of the construction market with the CPA Winter 2020/21 forecast showing:
• Construction output will rise 14.0% in 2021 and 4.9% in 2022;
• Private housing output will rise by 15.5% in 2021 and 6.0% in 2022;
• Public housing output will rise by 14.8% in 2021 and 10.0% in 2022;
• Private housing (RMI) will rise by 10.1% in 2021 and 3.0% in 2022;
• Public housing (RMI) will rise by 20.6% in 2021 and 2.0% in 2022; and
• Infrastructure output will rise by 32.1% in 2021 and 6.0% in 2022.

Shareholder Returns and Dividends

The Group paid an interim dividend of 0.8678p per share on 25 February 2021. This
was possible due to the recovery from a difficult start to the year, the Group’s rigorous
cost control and our strong cash conversion.
Following the continued V-shaped recovery in our markets, the successful integration of
acquisitions and the success of our Brexit preparations, our performance enables the
Board to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 of
1.0850p per share. Subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting, the
final dividend will be payable on 23 September 2021, with a record date of 27 August 2021
and an ex-dividend date of 26 August 2021.

Board and Corporate
Governance

The Board remains committed to the highest
standards of Corporate Governance, not only
at Board level but throughout out Group. The
Group continues to comply in full with the
Quoted Companies Alliance’s Ten Principles
of Corporate Governance. Further details of
the activities of our Board and its Committees
during the year can be found in later sections of
the report.
2020 was unusual in all sorts of ways and the
Group’s Board and Committees had to quickly
adapt to meeting online. This proved successful
and, during the most demanding periods of
lockdown and market changes, meetings were
held on a fortnightly basis.

Sustainability

We take our obligations to protect the
environment seriously and are pleased to
include our Sustainability Report within this
Annual Report.
We are in the process of finalising our ESG
roadmap. This activity will increasingly be core
to all that we do, not least in identifying those
manufacturers with strong ESG credentials and
indeed those potential acquisitions who would
benefit from having them.
A group has been convened to drive our
efforts in this area which will be chaired by me.

Our People

I have already referenced the remarkable
performance, dedication and flexibility
displayed by the Group’s employees. They
have embraced the robust and regularly
changing health and safety protocols, while
helping to drive the business to a speedy
performance recovery. They and their Group
are well placed to take advantage of the
robust house building and construction
market and its encouraging outlook.
Our staff have driven the setting up of the
Brickability Group Foundation which will raise
funds to support charities close to the Group’s
areas of operation. It will have 3 Trustees;
Paul Hamilton and Andrew Wilson, 2 of our
Divisional Managing Directors, and myself.
John Richards
Chairman
4 August 2021
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ChiefExecutive’s
Executive’sReview
Review
Chief
TheCOVID-19
COVID-19pandemic
pandemicand
andthe
theconsequent
consequentlockdowns
lockdowns
The
andrestrictions
restrictionsprovided
providedthe
theGroup
Groupwith
withgreat
greatchallenges
challenges
and
duringthe
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021.
2021.Despite
Despitethose
those
during
challenges,we
wewere
werestill
stillable
abletotodeliver
deliverrevenues
revenuesofof£181.1
£181.1
challenges,
millionand
andEBITDA
EBITDAofof£17.5
£17.5million.
million.Bearing
Bearingininmind
mindthe
the
million
virtualloss
lossofof1.5
1.5months
monthsofoftrading,
trading,we
weare
aredelighted
delighted
virtual
withthis
thisresult.
result.We
Wewere
werealso
alsoable
abletotodeliver
deliveragainst
against
with
ourstrategy
strategyofofbolt-on
bolt-onacquisitions
acquisitionswith
withtwo
twobusinesses
businesses
our
joiningthe
theGroup,
Group,on
onwhich
whichI Iwill
willelaborate
elaboratelater
laterininmy
my
joining
review.Our
Ourstrategy
strategyofofsupporting
supportingstart-up
start-upbusinesses
businesses
review.
alsocontinued
continuedwith
withForum
ForumTiles
Tilesjoining
joiningAlfiam
Alfiamand
and
also
ArchitecturalFacades.
Facades.These
Theseacquisitions
acquisitionsand
andstart-ups
start-ups
Architectural
becamepossible
possibledue
duetotoour
ourstrong
strongbalance
balancesheet
sheetand
and
became
cashconversion,
conversion,and
andwe
weexpect
expectmore
moretotocome.
come.
cash
AcquisitionStrategy
Strategy
Acquisition

AlanSimpson
Simpson
Alan

ChiefExecutive
ExecutiveOfficer
Officer
Chief

Twofurther
furtherstrategic
strategicacquisitions
acquisitionswere
weremade
madeduring
duringthe
theyear.
year.Bathroom
BathroomBarn,
Barn,a aWest
WestMidlands
Midlands
Two
basedsupplier
supplierofofradiator
radiatorvalves,
valves,elements
elementsand
andtraditional
traditionalvalves
valveswas
wasacquired
acquiredonon3030November
November
based
2020and
andimmediately
immediatelybegan
beganitsitsintegration
integrationinto
intothe
theTowelrads
Towelradsbusiness.
business.McCann
McCannLimited
Limited
2020
(nowMcCann
McCannLogistics)
Logistics)was
wasacquired
acquiredininearly
earlyDecember
December2020
2020asasthe
theGroup
Groupsought
soughttotoprotect
protect
(now
thesignificant
significantlevels
levelsofofimported
importedbricks
bricksand
androof
rooftiles
tilesfrom
fromany
anypotential
potentialdelays
delaysfollowing
followingBrexit.
Brexit.
the
Establishedinin1972,
1972,McCann
McCannspecialises
specialisesinintransporting
transportingbuilding
buildingmaterials
materialsfrom
fromfactories
factoriesinin
Established
Europetotothe
theUK,
UK,with
withitsitsacquisition
acquisitiongiving
givingthe
theGroup
Groupcontrol
controlininthis
thiscritical
criticalarea.
area.McCann’s
McCann’s
Europe
abilitytotoprovide
providetimely
timelycontinuity
continuityofofdeliveries
deliverieshas
hasbeen
beenimpressive
impressivetotodate.
date.
ability
outlinedininthe
theChairman’s
Chairman’sStatement,
Statement,the
theGroup
Grouphas
hascompleted
completedthe
thesignificant
significantacquisition
acquisitionofof
AsAsoutlined
TaylorMaxwell
Maxwellsince
sincethe
theyear
yearend.
end.The
TheGroup
Grouphas
hasalso
alsosubsequently
subsequentlyacquired
acquiredLeadcraft
LeadcraftLimited,
Limited,
Taylor
whichwill
willexpand
expandthe
theGroup’s
Group’sRoofing
RoofingServices
Servicesdivision.
division.Leadcraft
Leadcraftwas
wasfounded
foundedinin1997
1997and
and
which
providesa afullfullrange
rangeofofroofing
roofingservices
servicesincluding
includingtiling,
tiling,slate,
slate,zinc,
zinc,copper,
copper,feltfeltand
andlead
leadworks.
works.
provides
Ouracquisition
acquisitionpipeline
pipelinecontinues
continuestotobebestrong
strongand
andweweare
arecurrently
currentlyprocessing
processingororevaluating
evaluating
Our
severalopportunities.
opportunities.Our
Ourdemanding
demandingcriteria,
criteria,asasoutlined
outlinedininlast
lastyear’s
year’sAnnual
AnnualReport
Reportand
and
several
Accounts,remains
remainsour
ourguide
guideand
andwewehave
havethe
thefinancial
financialheadroom
headroomand
andcash
cashconversion
conversionlevels
levelstoto
Accounts,
pressahead
aheadwith
withthose
thosethat
thatpass
passour
ourstringent
stringentassessments.
assessments.
press

OrganicDevelopment
Development
Organic
Ourcladding
claddingbusiness,
business,Architectural
ArchitecturalFacades,
Facades,continues
continuestotomake
makeprogress
progresswith
withthe
theaddition
additionofof
Our
newshowroom
showroomininthe
theNorth
NorthWest,
West,additional
additionalsales
salesstaff
staffand
andsome
somevery
veryexciting
excitingand
andprofitable
profitable
a anew
contractsconfirmed.
confirmed.Similarly,
Similarly,weweare
areequally
equallyexcited
excitedbybythe
thelaunch
launchofofour
ourceramic
ceramictiletilebusiness,
business,
contracts
ForumTiles.
Tiles.We
Wehave
haverecruited
recruitedananexpert
expertsales
salesteam,
team,with
withsignificant
significantexperience
experienceinintheir
theirindustry,
industry,
Forum
andhave
haveestablished
establishedworking
workingrelationships
relationshipswith
withmany
manyhigh-quality
high-qualitysuppliers
suppliersfrom
fromItaly,
Italy,Spain,
Spain,
and
Indiaand
andother
othergeographics
geographicswhich
whichlook
looktotobebeextremely
extremelybeneficial.
beneficial.
India
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Divisional
DivisionalPerformance
Performance
Bricks
Bricksand
andBuilding
BuildingMaterials
Materials

Health
Healthand
andSafety
Safety

With
Witha aturnover
turnoverofof£144.2
£144.2million,
million,the
theBrick
Brickdivision
divisionmanaged
managedtotoexceed
exceed
the
thefull-year
full-yearturnover
turnoverofofthe
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2020
2020(£144.0
(£144.0million).
million).
Considering
Consideringthe
thelost
lostturnover
turnoverininApril,
April,and
andthe
themuch-reduced
much-reducedturnover
turnover
ininMay,
May,this
thiswas
wasa aremarkable
remarkableachievement.
achievement.Our
Ourflexible
flexiblecost
costbase
basewas
was
demonstrated
demonstratedbybya ac.£2
c.£2million
millionreduction
reductioninincost
costofofsales,
sales,giving
givingananEBITDA
EBITDA
ofof£11.7
£11.7million
millionversus
versus£11.5
£11.5million
millionininthe
theprevious
previousyear.
year.

The
Thehealth
healthand
andsafety
safetyofofour
ourstaff,
staff,suppliers,
suppliers,contractors,
contractors,customers
customersand
and
visitors
visitorsis iscore
coretotothe
thevalues
valuesofofour
ourGroup.
Group.Having
Havingworked
workedwith
withour
ourexternal
external
partner,
partner,Safety
SafetyForward,
Forward,ininthe
theyear
yeartoto3131March
March2020
2020totore-evaluate
re-evaluateallallofof
our
ourhealth
healthand
andsafety
safetyprocesses
processesand
andprocedures,
procedures,along
alongwith
withthe
thetraining
training
required
requiredtotoembed
embedthem
theminto
intothe
thebusiness,
business,the
thearrival
arrivalofofCOVID-19
COVID-19meant
meant
a arapid
rapidre-evaluation
re-evaluationand
andimplementation
implementationofofour
ourhealth
healthand
andsafety
safety
operations
operationsand
andstandards.
standards.

Heating,
Heating,Plumbing
Plumbingand
andJoinery
Joinery
Turnover
Turnoverwas
wasreduced
reducedininthe
theyear
yearand
andstood
stoodatat£24.5
£24.5million
millionagainst
againstthe
the
previous
previous£26.1
£26.1million.
million.EBITDA
EBITDAfellfelltoto£5.8
£5.8million
millionfrom
fromthetheprevious
previous£6.2
£6.2million,
million,
despite
despitereductions
reductionsinincost
costofofsales.
sales.It Itwas
wasa arelatively
relativelyslow
slowstart
starttotothe
theyear
yearforfor
Towelrads
Towelradswhich
whichthen
thengathered
gatheredmore
moresales
salesstrength
strengthasasthe
theyear
yearprogressed
progressed
and
andindeed
indeedcontinues
continuestotododoso.so.Towelrads
Towelradsoperated
operatedfrom
fromseveral
severalwarehouse
warehouse
facilities
facilitiesand,
and,during
duringthe
theyear,
year,the
theGroup
Grouppurchased
purchaseda a63,000
63,000square
squarefoot
foot
warehouse
warehouseininSoutham,
Southam,Warwickshire,
Warwickshire,which
whichis isideally
ideallylocated
locatedforforthethebusiness
business
and
andprovides
providesthethescale
scaleforforfuture
futuregrowth.
growth.We
Wealso
alsoadded
addedBathroom
BathroomBarn
Barntotothethe
business
businessininDecember
Decembertotovirtually
virtuallydouble
doubleour
ourscale
scaleofofvalves.
valves.
AAnumber
numberofofwindow
windowsuppliers
suppliersexperienced
experiencedproduction/financial
production/financialissues
issuesduring
during
thetheyear
yearrestricting
restrictingour
ourperformance
performanceininthat
thatmarket.
market.New
Newsuppliers
suppliershave
havebeen
been
identified
identifiedand
andthetheright
rightagreements
agreementstotosupply
supplyhave
havebeen
beenput
putininplace.
place.
Our
OurSpanish
Spanishdoor
doorsupplier
suppliergradually
graduallyimproved
improvedtheir
theirdelivery
deliveryperformance
performance
during
duringthe
theyear,
year,while
whileour
ouragreement
agreementtotosellsellDeanta
DeantaDoors
Doorsfills
fillsour
ourneed
need
totohave
havea amid-range,
mid-range,high
highvolume
volumedoor
doorsupplier.
supplier.This
Thisis isalready
alreadyproving
proving
successful
successfulwith
withthe
thesupplier
supplierholding
holdingexcellent
excellentlevels
levelsofofinventory.
inventory.

Roofing
RoofingServices
Services
With
Withthe
theroofing
roofingindustry
industryappearing
appearingtotohave
havebeen
beenparticularly
particularlyhard
hardhithitbyby
COVID-19
COVID-19driven
drivenworkplace
workplaceregulations,
regulations,roofing
roofingturnover
turnoverfellfellfrom
from£17.1
£17.1
million
milliontoto£12.4
£12.4million.
million.Despite
Despitelower
lowercost
costofofsales
saleswhich
whichreduced
reducedbybyc.£3.3
c.£3.3
million,
million,EBITDA
EBITDAwas
wasstill
stillreduced
reducedtoto£2.6
£2.6million,
million,down
downfrom
from£3.7
£3.7million
millioninin
the
theprevious
previousyear.
year.Notwithstanding
Notwithstandingsubsequent
subsequentimprovements
improvementsininthe
themarket,
market,
when
whenthe
themarket
marketfinally
finallybegan
begantotoimprove,
improve,it itwas
wasfurther
furtherimpacted
impactedbybysupply
supply
problems
problemsfrom
frommanufacturers
manufacturerswho
whohad
hadlengthy
lengthyshutdowns.
shutdowns.This
Thisshortage
shortage
ofofsupply
supplycontinues
continuesinto
intothe
thecurrent
currentyear,
year,however,
however,the
theGroup
Groupdoes
doeshave
havethe
the
advantage
advantageofofitsitsplentiful
plentifulsupply
supplyofofEuropean-made
European-maderoof
rooftiles.
tiles.

New
Newoffice/yard/warehouse/showroom
office/yard/warehouse/showroomprocedures
procedureswere
wereagreed
agreedasaswere
were
risk
riskassessments
assessmentsininline
linewith
withgovernment
governmentguidance
guidanceatatevery
everylocation.
location.
AsAsrestrictions
restrictionsbegan
begantotobebelifted,
lifted,wewereacted
reactedaccordingly,
accordingly,however,
however,wewe
maintain
maintaina ahigh
highstandard
standardofofhealth
healthand
andsafety
safetydiscipline.
discipline.
Our
Ournew
newwarehouse
warehouseininSoutham,
Southam,Warwickshire,
Warwickshire,is isnow
nowfully
fullyoperational.
operational.
AsAsit itmoves
movestowards
towardsoptimum
optimumoperational
operationalcapacity,
capacity,a afacility
facilityofofthat
thatscale
scale
has
hasdemanded
demandeda athorough
thoroughhealth
healthand
andsafety
safetyreview
reviewand
andrisk
riskassessments.
assessments.
It Itis isfully
fullyupuptotospeed
speedininitsitshealth
healthand
andsafety
safetyprotocols
protocolsand
andweweintend
intendit ittoto
bebea astandard-setter
standard-setterinside
insideand
andoutside
outsideofofthe
theGroup.
Group.

Outlook
Outlook
The
Theoutlook
outlookforforconstruction
constructionincluding
includinghouse
housebuilding
buildingis isvery
verypositive.
positive.
Construction
Constructionoutput
outputis isforecast
forecasttotorise
rise14.0%
14.0%inin2021
2021and
and4.9%
4.9%inin2022,
2022,
while
whilethe
theRIBA
RIBAFuture
FutureTrends
Trendsworkload
workloadindex
indexforforMay
Mayput
putconfidence
confidenceatat
the
thehighest
highestlevel
levelsince
since2009.
2009.
The
Thefundamentals
fundamentalsforforhouse
housebuilding
buildingremain
remainstrong
strongininboth
boththe
theprivate
private
and
andpublic
publicarenas
arenaswith
withboth
bothbenefitting
benefittingfrom
fromgovernment
governmentsupport.
support.
Current
Currentdemand
demandis issuch
suchthat
thatmany
manybuilding
buildingmaterials
materialsare
areononextended
extended
availabilities
availabilitiesand
andwhile
whilethis
thispresents
presentsthe
theGroup
Groupwith
withchallenges,
challenges,the
the
strength
strengthofofour
oursupplier
supplierrelationships
relationshipsand
andsupply
supplychains
chainsenables
enablesusustoto
continue
continuetotoprovide
providereliable
reliableproduct
productsupply.
supply.
The
TheGroup’s
Group’strading
tradingininthe
thefirst
firstquarter
quarterofofthe
the2022
2022financial
financialyear
yearwas
was
encouraging
encouragingand
andwewecontinue
continuetotoreview
reviewand
andprogress
progressa anumber
numberofof
acquisition
acquisitionopportunities.
opportunities.

Alan
AlanSimpson
Simpson
Chief
ChiefExecutive
ExecutiveOfficer
Officer
44August
August2021
2021
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Our vision is to be the
leading specialist supplier
of products to house
builders and contractors.
Business Model

ROUTES TO MARKET
• S trong regional sales network
The Group has over 30 GB locations serving local,
regional and national customers.

•E
 stablished Brands
The Group has developed or acquired businesses that have
built local, regional or national brand strength while being
part of a business with strong buying power.

• National agreements with local delivery
The Group has central agreements with larger customers
which are delivered by the regional businesses.

OUR STRENGTHS
• R egional sales network
• N ational coverage
• S pecialist knowledge
• T echnical Expertise
• A ccess to high quality products and supplies in UK and abroad
• Scale / buying power
• Strong track record
• Integrating acquisitions
• H ighly experienced management team
•U
 nrivalled customer relationships
• E xceptional customer service
• C ross selling
10

HOW WE CREATE VALUE
FOROUR STAKEHOLDERS?
• F or shareholders
Share price growth with a focus on acquisitions.
A progressive dividend policy.

• F or customers
Sourcing and supplying products that meet customer needs,
are priced competitively and are delivered on time.

• F or suppliers
Suppliers are paid on time and we meet our commitments to the
distribution of products, prices and volumes.

• For employees and local communities
The Group has over 325 employees in GB. We provide growing
employment opportunities in our communities along with
long-term career development. The Brickability Group
Foundation supports charities local to our business locations.

Our Brands
BRICKS AND BUILDING MATERIALS

ROOFING SERVICES

HEATING, PLUMBING AND JOINERY

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T
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TheComplete
CompleteSolution
Solution
The
TheGroup
Grouphas
hasbeen
beenformed
formedtotopool
pool
The
thecombined
combinedsuccess
successofofindividual
individual
the
businessesinto
intoone
onecohesive
cohesivestructure
structure
businesses
thatwill
willmaximise
maximiserevenue
revenueand
andgrowth.
growth.
that
Togetherweweare
arestronger
strongerand
andwill
willtake
takeadvantage
advantageofof
Together
ourindividual
individualspecialisms
specialismstotoprovide
providea asupply
supplyhub
hubofof
our
extraordinaryefficiency
efficiencyand
andservice.
service.
extraordinary

ROOFING
ROOFING
CrestRoofing
Roofing
Crest
CrownRoofing
Roofing
Crown
ExcelRoofing
Roofing
Excel
McCannRoofing
RoofingProducts
Products
McCann

CLADDING
CLADDING
Plastics
UUPlastics

WINDOWS
WINDOWS
TRANSPORT
TRANSPORT

FrazerSimpson
Simpson
Frazer

McCannLogistics
Logistics
McCann

EXTERNALDOORS
DOORS
EXTERNAL
FrazerSimpson
Simpson
Frazer
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BRICK
BRICKSUPPLY
SUPPLY&&SERVICES
SERVICES

FASCIAS,
FASCIAS,SOFFITS
SOFFITS&&GUTTERING
GUTTERING

Brickability
Brickability
Apex
ApexBrick
BrickCutters
Cutters
Matching
MatchingBrick
Brick
The
TheBespoke
BespokeBrick
BrickCo.
Co.
Bricklink
Bricklink
Brick
BrickMongers
MongersWessex
Wessex

UUPlastics
Plastics

Brick
BrickServices
Services
CPG
CPGBuilding
BuildingSupplies
Supplies
Crest
CrestBrick
BrickSlate
Slate&&Tile
Tile
LBT
LBTBrick
Brick&&Facades
Facades
Plansure
Plansure
Alfiam
AlfiamBuilding
BuildingSupplies
Supplies

TOWEL
TOWELRAILS
RAILS&&RADIATORS
RADIATORS

FLOORING
FLOORINGSERVICES
SERVICES

Towelrads
Towelrads
Radiators
RadiatorsOnline
Online
Radiator
RadiatorValves
ValvesUK
UK

DSH
DSHFlooring
Flooring
Forum
ForumTiles
Tiles

INTERNAL
INTERNALDOORS
DOORS

UNDERFLOOR
UNDERFLOORHEATING
HEATING

FSN
FSNDoors
Doors

Towelrads
Towelrads

S ST TR RA A
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GroupStrategy
Strategy
Group
andDelivery
Delivery
and
TheGroup
Groupcontinues
continuestotofollow
followitsitsstrategy
strategyfor
for
The
growth,which
whichisisbased
basedaround
aroundfour
fourkey
keyareas:
areas:
growth,
OrganicGrowth,
Growth,Geographic
GeographicExpansion,
Expansion,
Organic
Acquisitionsand
andProduct
ProductExpansion.
Expansion.
Acquisitions

Organic
Organic
Growth
Growth

Achievements Outlook
Outlook
Achievements

KPI’s
KPI’s

Fastrecovery
recovery - Continued
- Continued
Fast
from
crossselling
selling
from
cross
COVID-19
COVID-19
- Growth
- Growthwith
with
market
market
additional
additional
restrictions.
restrictions.
customers
customers
Recruitment
Recruitment
- Access
additional - Access
ofofadditional
to
tonew
new
salesteam
team
sales
customers
customers
membersinin
members
divisions.
allalldivisions.

- Revenue
- Revenue

Geographical New
Newlocations
locations
Geographical
Expansion have
havejoined
joined
Expansion
Groupviavia
thetheGroup
acquisitions.
acquisitions.
Plastics
UUPlastics
haveopened
opened
have
new
a anew
depotinin
depot
Maidenhead.
Maidenhead.

Product
Product
Expansion
Expansion

1414

Acquisitions
Acquisitions
have
have
expanded
expanded
product
thetheproduct
portfolioasas
portfolio
hasthetheForum
Forum
has
Ceramicstiletile
Ceramics
start-up.
start-up.

Governance
Governance

- Economic
TheDivisional
Divisional
- Economic
The
environment
environment
Managing
Managing
- Costofofsales
- Cost
sales
Directors
Directors
- Extreme
- Grossprofit
profit - Extreme
- Gross
monitor
monitor
Weather
Weather
- EBITDA
- EBITDA
performance
performance
- Major
-Majorevent
event
andtake
takeany
any
and
necessary
necessary
action.
action.
Divisional
Divisional
performance
performance
reportedtoto
is isreported
Board.
thetheBoard.

Further
- Revenue
Further
- Revenue
geographic - Gross
geographic
- GrossProfit
Profit
expansionis is
expansion
- EBITDA
- EBITDA
planned
planned
atatnew
new
withexisting
existing locations
with
locations
product
product
range.
range.

Acquisitions 2 2acquisitions
acquisitions Further
Further
Acquisitions
duringthethe
acquisitions
during
acquisitions
year.
pipeline
year.
ininpipeline
expand
totoexpand
product
product
offeringand
and
offering
customer
customer
base.
base.

Risks
Risks

- Economic
TheBoard
Board
- Economic
The
environment reviews
environment
reviews
acquisition/ /
acquisition
- Limited
- Limited
expansion
acquisitions
acquisitions expansion
plans.
plans.

- Revenue
- Revenue

- Failuretoto
- Failure
integrate
integrate
- GrossProfit
Profit
- Gross
acquisition.
acquisition.
- EBITDA
- EBITDA
- Retention
- Retentionofof
- Past
- Past
talent
talent
acquisition
acquisition
audit
audit

Further
- Revenue
Further
- Revenue
acquisitions - Gross
acquisitions
- GrossProfit
Profit
andstart
startups
ups
and
- EBITDA
- EBITDA
areplanned.
planned.
are
- 5-5year
yearstart
start
upupplans
plans

-L ossofofa a
- Loss
major
major
supplier
supplier
-Lossofofkeykey
- Loss
management
management

The
TheBoard
Board
reviews
reviews
acquisition
acquisition
strategy
strategyand
and
plans.
plans.

TheBoard
Board
The
reviews
reviews
andapproves
approves
and
start-ups.
start-ups.

Case
CaseStudy
Study

Belle
BelleVue
Vue//Bartrams
Bartrams
The
TheBespoke
BespokeBrick
BrickCo.,
Co.,one
oneofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’s
specialist
specialistbrick
brickimporters
importersand
anddistributors,
distributors,were
were
asked
askedtotowork
workwith
withMorris
Morris&&Co
CoArchitects
Architectson
onaa
beautiful
beautifulscheme
schemefor
forPegasus
PegasusLife
Lifewhich
whichconsisted
consistedofof
60
60luxury
luxuryapartments
apartmentswith
withlandscaped
landscapedcourts
courtsand
andgardens
gardens
for
forover
over60s
60sininHampstead,
Hampstead,London.
London.The
Theconcept
conceptfeatured
featuredaavery
very
complex
complexfaçade
façadedesign,
design,including
includingsteel
steelframing
framingsystems
systemswhich
whichbacked
backedonto
onto
hand-laid
hand-laidbrick
brickwork
workininfeature
featurebonds.
bonds.An
Anintricate
intricatemechanically
mechanicallyfixed
fixedbrick
brick
slip
sliprain
rainscreen
screenwas
wascreated
createdwith
withpre
precast
castpanelling,
panelling,pre
precast
castsills
sillsand
andbanding,
banding,
loggia
loggiabalconies,
balconies,composite
compositepunch
punchwindows
windowsand
andstick
stickcurtain
curtainwalling.
walling.
The
Thebrief
briefwas
wastotosuggest
suggestaabrick
brickwhich
whichcould
couldbebeproduced
producedinintwo
twodifferent
differenttones
tonestotocreate
createsubtle
subtle
colour
colourdifferences
differenceswhich
whichhighlighted
highlightedsome
someofofthe
theinteresting
interestingfeatures
featureswithin
withinthe
thefaçade.
façade.

We
Weopted
optedtotowork
workwith
withFloren,
Floren,one
oneofofour
our
production
productionpartners
partnersininBelgium,
Belgium,who
whoadopt
adoptaa
customised
customisedapproach
approachtotobrick
brickmaking.
making.
The
Thearchitect
architectfavoured
favouredaamore
morerustic
rustic
appearance
appearanceininthe
thebrick
bricktotocontrast
contrastsome
someofof
the
thevery
verymodular
modularand
andsharp
sharpdesign
designwithin
within
the
thefaçades.
façades.We
Wetook
tookaatumbled
tumbledred
redbrick
brick
with
withsome
someblack
blackengobe
engobetotocreate
createaahistoric
historic
weathered
weatheredeffect.
effect.We
Wethen
thenadded
added60%
60%
calcium
calciumslurry
slurrytotoone
onetype
typeand
and90%
90%slurry
slurry
totoanother.
another.This
Thisgave
gaveusustwo
twoproducts
productswith
with
very
verysubtle
subtledifferences.
differences.The
Thelighter
lighterbrick
brick

which
whichdisplayed
displayed90%
90%slurry
slurrywas
wasused
usedononthe
the
interesting,
interesting,angled
angledwindow
windowrecesses
recessesasaswell
wellasas
the
theshark
sharkfinfindetail
detailwhich
whichexplored
exploredtextures
texturesinin
some
someareas
areasofofthe
thescheme.
scheme.
Galostar
Galostarwere
werethe
theappointed
appointedcontractor
contractorand
and
IGIGlintels
lintelswere
werethe
thechosen
chosenpre
precast
castmanufacturer.
manufacturer.
This
Thiswas
wasaachallenging
challengingbut
butrewarding
rewardingscheme
scheme
which
whichhas
hasreceived
receivedmuch
muchacclaim.
acclaim.It Itwas
was
shortlisted
shortlistedforforthe
theRIBA
RIBAregional
regionalaward
award2020
2020
forforNorth
NorthLondon.
London.
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KeyPerformance
Performance
Key
Indicators
Indicators

REVENUE
REVENUE

£181.1m

19/20
19/20

£187.1m
£187.1m

20/21
20/21

£181.1m
£181.1m

Revenuegrowth
growthisisa akey
keydriver
driverofofprofit
profitgrowth.
growth.
Revenue

GROSSPROFIT
PROFIT
GROSS

£38.0m

19/20
19/20
2018
2018

£37.7m(20.1%)
(20.1%)
£37.7m

20/21
20/21
2019
2019

£38.0m(21.0%)
(21.0%)
£38.0m

19/20
19/20

£19.5m
£19.5m

GrossProfit
Profitpercentage
percentageacts
actsasasa across
crosscheck
check
Gross
againstRevenue
Revenuegrowth
growthtotoensure
ensurenew
newsales
sales
against
maintainmargin.
margin.
maintain

ADJUSTEDEBITDA
EBITDA
ADJUSTED

£17.5m

20/21
20/21

£17.5m
£17.5m

Earningsbefore
beforeInterest,
Interest,Tax,
Tax,Depreciation
Depreciation
Earnings
andAmortisation,
Amortisation,share
shareoption
optionexpenses,
expenses,
and
acquisitioncosts
costsand
andexceptional
exceptionalitems.
items.
acquisition

CASHGENERATED
GENERATED
CASH
FROMOPERATIONS
OPERATIONS
FROM

£13.1m
£7.3m

19/20
19/20

£20.9m
£20.9m

20/21
20/21

£13.1m
£13.1m

NETDEBT
DEBT
NET

19/20 £2.3m
£2.3mNet
Netcash
cash
19/20
20/21
20/21

£7.3mNet
Netdebt
debt
£7.3m

Thenet
netcash
cashposition
positionafter
afterdeducting
deductingthe
the
The
cashheld
heldfrom
fromthe
theamount
amountofofbank
bankdebt.
debt.
cash

DIVIDEND
DIVIDEND

1.95p
Annualdividend
dividendper
pershare
share
Annual

1616

19/20
19/20

1.95p
1.95p

20/21
20/21

1.95p
1.95p

The
Thepresented
presentedfigures
figuresillustrate
illustrateaa
number
numberof
ofthe
thekey
keyperformance
performance
indicators
indicatorsthat
thatthe
theGroup
Groupreviews
reviewson
on
aaregular
regularbasis
basisand
andby
bywhich
whichoverall
overall
business
businessperformance
performanceis
ismeasured.
measured.
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Risk
management

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

MANAGING RISK
IN ORDER TO DELIVER
OUR STRATEGY

IDENTIFY RISK

ASSESS RISK

The Board has overall responsibility
for monitoring the Group’s systems
of internal control, for identification
of risks and for taking appropriate
action to prevent, mitigate or
manage those risks. The Board
will continually assess and review
the business and operating
environment to identify any new
risks to be managed.

A detailed schedule of risks is
considered at each scheduled
Board meeting under the
following categories: Competitors,
Economic environment, Financial
Risk, People and Suppliers. These
risks are graded against the
criteria of likelihood and potential
impact in order to identify the key
risks impacting the Group (see
page 19).

01 02

The Group is exposed to a number
of risks in the markets it serves.
The Board considers the risks to
the business and the adequacy of
internal controls with regard to the
risks identified at every scheduled
Board meeting. It formally reviews
and updates the risk register of the
business at least annually.

01

Identify
risk

05

Review and
evaluate
risks

02

Assess
risk

Board
of Directors

04

03

Update
risk register

Remuneration
Committee

Mitigate
risk

Audit
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Group Management Board and
Subsidiary company boards
Divisional and
functional teams
18

03 04 05
MITIGATE RISK

UPDATE RISK REGISTER

REVIEW & EVALUATE RISKS

The Board seeks to ensure that
the Group’s activities do not
expose it to significant risk.
The Group’s aim is to diversify
sufficiently to ensure it is not
exposed to risk of concentration
in product, market or channel.

The risk register is updated
as appropriate at scheduled
Board meetings and in-between
as necessary.

The Board and Group Management
Board are all responsible for reviewing
and evaluating risk. The Group
Management Board meet at least
monthly to review ongoing trading
performance, discuss budgets and
forecasts and consider new risks
associated with ongoing trading.
Feedback from these meetings regarding
changes to existing risks or the emergence
of new risks is then provided to the Board.

RISK HEAT MAP

SEVERE

The risk heat map summarises the potential impact of a range of
risks and uncertainties identified by the management team. They are
logged on the ‘Risk Matrix’ and reported on and reviewed regularly.

E

IMPACT

S

P

C Competitors
This includes:
• Margin management
• Environmental and
social responsibility

C

E Economic environment
This includes:
• Ongoing COVID-19 impact
• Extreme weather events
• Product supply shortages

F

MINOR
LOW

LIKELIHOOD

HIGH

F Financial risk
This includes:
• Margin management
• Change in employment status
of Group subcontractors
• Failure to integrate key
acquisitions
• Cyber security
P People
This includes:
• Retention of talent
• Failure to integrate key
acquisitions
S Suppliers
This includes:
• Loss of key trading partner
• Modern methods of
construction

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T
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PrincipalRisks
Risksand
and
Principal
Uncertainties
Uncertainties
TheBoard
Boardhas
hasoverall
overallresponsibility
responsibilityforformonitoring
monitoring
The
internaland
andexternal
externalrisks
riskstotowhich
whichthe
theGroup
Group
internal
anditsitsbusinesses
businessesmay
maybebesubject.
subject.The
TheGroup
Grouphas
has
and
establishedinternal
internalcontrols
controlsand
andsystems
systemstotoidentify
identify
established
andassess
assesssuch
suchrisks.
risks.The
TheBoard
Boardreviews
reviewsthese
theserisks
risks
and
andour
ourability
abilitytotoeffectively
effectivelymonitor
monitorthem
thematateach
each
and
scheduledBoard
Boardmeeting.
meeting.Where
Whereappropriate
appropriatespecific
specific
scheduled
updatesand
andreports
reportsare
arecirculated
circulatedtotoBoard
Boardmembers
members
updates
betweensuch
suchmeetings.
meetings.
ininbetween
report,the
the‘risk
‘riskmatrix’
matrix’isismaintained
maintainedononaarolling
rolling
AAreport,
basisbybyour
ourChief
ChiefFinancial
FinancialOfficer
Officerand
andisisthe
thesubject
subject
basis
regularreview
reviewbybythe
theGroup’s
Group’sManagement
ManagementBoard
Board
ofofregular
team,with
witheach
eachsenior
seniormanager
managerresponsible
responsibleforfor
team,
underlyingoperating
operatinggroup
groupcompanies
companiesreporting
reporting
underlying
intothe
theoperating
operatingboard’s
board’sreview.
review.The
TheGroup’s
Group’s
into
ManagementBoard
Boardmeets
meetsmonthly,
monthly,isisattended
attended
Management
eachexecutive
executivedirector
directorand
andisischaired
chairedbybyJohn
John
bybyeach
Richards,chairman
chairmanofofthe
theBoard.
Board.AsAspart
partofofthese
these
Richards,
meetingsthe
theManagement
ManagementBoard
Boardmeet
meettotoreview
reviewononmeetings
goingtrading,
trading,budgets
budgetsand
andforecasts
forecastsand
andconsider
consider
going
newand
andon-going
on-goingrisks
risksand
anduncertainties
uncertaintiestotothe
the
new
Group’soperating
operatingbusinesses.
businesses.Where
Whereappropriate
appropriate
Group’s
additional,separate
separateanalyses
analysesororfollow-up
follow-upisis
additional,
undertakenofofparticular
particularrisks
risksand
andissues
issuesidentified.
identified.
undertaken
Throughoutthe
theyear,
year,the
theCOVID-19
COVID-19pandemic
pandemic
Throughout
hasgiven
givenrise
risetotosignificant
significantadditional
additionalrisks
risksand
and
has
uncertainties.These
Thesehave
havebeen
beenthe
thesubject
subjectofof
uncertainties.
specificcontingency
contingencyplanning
planningand
andrisk
riskmitigation.
mitigation.
specific
ourcustomers’
customers’and
andsuppliers’
suppliers’businesses
businesseshave
have
AsAsour
resumedtrading
tradingsosohave
haveweweand
andwewehave
haverecovered
recovered
resumed
wellfrom
fromthe
theinitial
initiallockdown
lockdownininMarch
Marchand
andApril
April
well
2020.Our
Ourpriority
prioritythroughout
throughoutthe
theyear
yearhas
hasbeen
been
2020.
thehealth
healthand
andwellbeing
wellbeingofofallallofofour
ourstakeholders,
stakeholders,
the
includingcolleagues,
colleagues,clients,
clients,our
ourcontractors
contractorsand
and
including
thecommunities
communitieswithin
withinwhich
whichwewework,
work,asaswell
wellasasthe
the
the
commercialand
andfinancial
financialhealth
healthofofour
ourbusinesses
businesses
commercial
andthe
thepreservation
preservationofofshareholder
shareholdervalue.
value.Board
Board
and
meetingshave
haveincreased
increasedininfrequency
frequencyasaswewecontinue
continue
meetings
monitorthe
theongoing
ongoingsituation.
situation.
totomonitor

20
20

Principal
Principalrisks
risksand
anduncertainties
uncertaintiesfacing
facingthe
theGroup
Groupare
areset
setout
outbelow.
below.
Risk
Risk

Key
Keycontrols
controls

Ongoing
Ongoingaction
action

Economic
environment
Economic
environment
The
UKUK
is recovering
from
thethe
COVID-19
pandemic,
The
is recovering
from
COVID-19
pandemic,
which
hashas
impacted
operations
and
results
during
thethe
which
impacted
operations
and
results
during
year.
While
thethe
Group
hashas
returned
to to
a strong
trading
year.
While
Group
returned
a strong
trading
position
following
significant
downturns
at at
thethe
start
of of
significant
downturns
start
position
following
thethe
year,
ongoing
uncertainty
around
new
variants
year,
ongoing
uncertainty
around
new
variants
continues
to to
pose
a risk.
continues
pose
a risk.
The
pandemic’
s impact
onon
thethe
national
economy
hashas
The
pandemic’
s impact
national
economy
also
putput
pressure
onon
thethe
Group’
s supply
chain,
resulting
also
pressure
Group’
s supply
chain,
resulting
in in
challenges
from
reduced
product
availability.
challenges
from
reduced
product
availability.
The
Brexit
process
was
monitored
during
thethe
year
and
The
Brexit
process
was
monitored
during
year
and
appropriate
measures
putput
in in
place
to to
accommodate
appropriate
measures
place
accommodate
changes
following
thethe
end
of of
thethe
transition
period.
changes
following
end
transition
period.
There
hashas
notnot
been
anan
adverse
impact
onon
thethe
Group’
s s
There
been
adverse
impact
Group’
ability
to to
trade
since
leaving
thethe
EUEU
and
thus
Brexit
is is
ability
trade
since
leaving
and
thus
Brexit
nono
longer
considered
a principal
risk.
longer
considered
a principal
risk.

WeWe
monitor
ourour
core
markets
closely
and
maintain
close
relationships
monitor
core
markets
closely
and
maintain
close
relationships
with
ourour
principle
customers,
suppliers
and
manufacturers.
Our
keykey
with
principle
customers,
suppliers
and
manufacturers.
Our
customers
within
thethe
housebuilding
market
areare
financially
robust
butbut
wewe
customers
within
housebuilding
market
financially
robust
monitor
credit
riskrisk
and
debtors
continuously.
monitor
credit
and
debtors
continuously.
The
Group’
s supply
lines
have
remained
resilient
butbut
areare
monitored
The
Group’
s supply
lines
have
remained
resilient
monitored
closely
and
ourour
riskrisk
mitigation
plans
areare
regularly
reviewed.
closely
and
mitigation
plans
regularly
reviewed.
Working
capital
is monitored
onon
a daily
basis,
with
robust
and
active
Working
capital
is monitored
a daily
basis,
with
robust
and
active
debtor
control.
Budgets
and
financial
performance
against
KPIs
areare
debtor
control.
Budgets
and
financial
performance
against
KPIs
regularly
reviewed.
regularly
reviewed.
Health
and
safety
remains
a priority,
both
at at
ourour
sites
and
in in
interacting
Health
and
safety
remains
a priority,
both
sites
and
interacting
with
clients
and
contacts.
Compliance
is tightly
managed.
with
clients
and
contacts.
Compliance
is tightly
managed.

Where
opportunity
presents
itself,
wewe
Where
opportunity
presents
itself,
willwill
continue
to to
prudently
expand
ourour
continue
prudently
expand
geographical
presence
and
thethe
diversity
of of
ourour
geographical
presence
and
diversity
business
in in
order
to to
better
serve
ourour
clients
and
business
order
better
serve
clients
and
diversify
risk.
diversify
risk.
Our
ongoing
strategy
of of
developing
through
Our
ongoing
strategy
developing
through
acquisitions
and
organic
growth
maintains
acquisitions
and
organic
growth
maintains
a high
level
of of
buying
power
within
both
thethe
a high
level
buying
power
within
both
UKUK
and
EUEU
markets,
ensuring
thethe
Group
cancan
and
markets,
ensuring
Group
source
sufficient
products
to to
meet
demand.
source
sufficient
products
meet
demand.
Health
and
safety
procedures
areare
thethe
subject
Health
and
safety
procedures
subject
of of
regular
review
and
external
review
byby
health
regular
review
and
external
review
health
and
safety
consultants,
Safety
First.
COVID-19
and
safety
consultants,
Safety
First.
COVID-19
safe
procedures
continue
to to
bebe
applied.
safe
procedures
continue
applied.

Retention
ofof
talent
Retention
talent
The
success
of of
thethe
Group
depends
to to
a significant
The
success
Group
depends
a significant
degree
upon
ourour
senior
management
team.
Failure
to to
degree
upon
senior
management
team.
Failure
attract
and
retain
individuals
with
thethe
right
skills,
drive
attract
and
retain
individuals
with
right
skills,
drive
and
capability
may
impact
ourour
ability
to to
meet
and
capability
may
impact
ability
meet
performance
expectations.
performance
expectations.

The
recruitment
and
training
of of
talent
from
within
is actively
promoted,
The
recruitment
and
training
talent
from
within
is actively
promoted,
when
appropriate,
with
a focus
onon
internal
succession
management.
when
appropriate,
with
a focus
internal
succession
management.
WeWe
also
endeavour
to to
ensure
that
talent
acquired
through
acquisitions
also
endeavour
ensure
that
talent
acquired
through
acquisitions
is retained.
WeWe
continue
to to
review
ourour
remuneration
policies
to to
facilitate
is retained.
continue
review
remuneration
policies
facilitate
thethe
recruitment
and
retention
of of
talent
at at
thethe
highest
calibre,
in addition
to to
recruitment
and
retention
talent
highest
calibre,
in addition
maintaining
entrepreneurial
drive
through
thethe
useuse
of of
responsible
incentives.
maintaining
entrepreneurial
drive
through
responsible
incentives.

The
Group
hashas
employee
incentive
schemes
in in
The
Group
employee
incentive
schemes
place
and
continues
to to
review
thethe
keykey
aspects
place
and
continues
review
aspects
of of
itsits
incentive
arrangements
and
rewarding
incentive
arrangements
and
rewarding
of of
staff.
staff.

Margin
management
Margin
management
Prices
may
notnot
remain
at at
levels
which
areare
both
Prices
may
remain
levels
which
both
competitive
and
achieve
adequate
margins.
There
competitive
and
achieve
adequate
margins.
There
is ais risk
that
notnot
allall
inflationary
price
increases
cancan
a risk
that
inflationary
price
increases
bebe
passed
on,on,
resulting
in in
lower
margins.
Rebate
passed
resulting
lower
margins.
Rebate
income
may
also
notnot
bebe
adequately
monitored
and
income
may
also
adequately
monitored
and
accounted
for.for.
Both
or or
either
may
adversely
impact
accounted
Both
either
may
adversely
impact
financial
performance.
financial
performance.

WeWe
continuously
review
and
monitor
margins
and
pricing
within
thethe
continuously
review
and
monitor
margins
and
pricing
within
market
byby
customer,
supplier
and
product.
market
customer,
supplier
and
product.
Where
possible
wewe
seek
to to
secure
fixed
pricing
over
a longer
period
with
Where
possible
seek
secure
fixed
pricing
over
a longer
period
with
keykey
trading
partners
soso
asas
to to
maintain
pricing
continuity.
trading
partners
maintain
pricing
continuity.
WeWe
regularly
review
and
audit
ourour
rebate
debtors
and
income.
Monthly
regularly
review
and
audit
rebate
debtors
and
income.
Monthly
performance
is reviewed
against
rebate
reports
from
suppliers
and
performance
is reviewed
against
rebate
reports
from
suppliers
and
internal
rebate
assumptions
areare
closely
monitored.
internal
rebate
assumptions
closely
monitored.
Volume
arrangements
with
UKUK
manufacturers
areare
carefully
maintained.
Volume
arrangements
with
manufacturers
carefully
maintained.
Arrangements
with
keykey
trading
partners,
including
rebates
and
Arrangements
with
trading
partners,
including
rebates
and
relationships
with
other
keykey
trading
partners
areare
anan
important
relationships
with
other
trading
partners
important
consideration
when
reviewing
potential
acquisitions.
consideration
when
reviewing
potential
acquisitions.

WeWe
continue
to to
monitor
and
improve
thethe
continue
monitor
and
improve
accuracy
of of
ordering,
scheduling
and
accuracy
ordering,
scheduling
and
forecasting.
Core
relationships
areare
maintained
forecasting.
Core
relationships
maintained
with
keykey
trading
partners
and,
where
possible,
with
trading
partners
and,
where
possible,
wewe
seek
to to
agree
prices
onon
anan
annual
basis.
seek
agree
prices
annual
basis.
WeWe
also
seek
to to
diversify
thethe
products
also
seek
diversify
products
and
services
offered
byby
thethe
Group,
to to
mitigate
and
services
offered
Group,
mitigate
thethe
impact
of of
margin
pressures
impact
margin
pressures
in in
specific
areas.
specific
areas.

Loss
ofof
a key
trading
partner
Loss
a key
trading
partner
The
lossloss
of of
a key
customer
or or
supplier
could
adversely
The
a key
customer
supplier
could
adversely
impact
business
performance.
impact
business
performance.

Relationships
with
keykey
trading
partners
areare
valued
and
kept
under
Relationships
with
trading
partners
valued
and
kept
under
continuous
review.
WeWe
monitor
ourour
markets
and
ensure
that
allall
keykey
continuous
review.
monitor
markets
and
ensure
that
trading
partners
remain
upup
to to
date
with
ourour
unique
selling
propositions.
trading
partners
remain
date
with
unique
selling
propositions.
The
impact
of of
potential
acquisitions
onon
ourour
keykey
trading
relationships
areare
The
impact
potential
acquisitions
trading
relationships
carefully
assessed
asas
part
of of
ourour
due
diligence
process.
carefully
assessed
part
due
diligence
process.

The
active
development
of of
new
trading
The
active
development
new
trading
partners
and
thethe
maintenance
of of
sustainable
partners
and
maintenance
sustainable
long-term
relations
with
ourour
existing
partners
long-term
relations
with
existing
partners
areare
keykey
performance
metrics
forfor
senior
performance
metrics
senior
managers.
managers.

Change
inin
employment
status
ofof
Change
employment
status
Group
subcontractors
Group
subcontractors
HMRC
may
reconsider
their
view
onon
labour
only
HMRC
may
reconsider
their
view
labour
only
‘subcontractors’
employment
status.
This
may
have
aa
‘subcontractors’
employment
status.
This
may
have
significantadverse
impact
onon
overheads,
forfor
those
significantadverse
impact
overheads,
those
Group
using
such
contractors
in in
members
of of
ourour
Group
using
such
contractors
members
their
business.
their
business.

Such
a change,
if made,
would
in in
ourour
view
bebe
industry-wide.
AsAs
Such
a change,
if made,
would
view
industry-wide.
adversely
affected
contractual
obligations
areare
completed,
wewe
would
adversely
affected
contractual
obligations
completed,
would
expect
new
pricing
in in
thethe
market
to to
reflect
increased
overheads.
expect
new
pricing
market
reflect
increased
overheads.
The
Group
reviews
thethe
employment
status
of of
itsits
subcontractors
to to
The
Group
reviews
employment
status
subcontractors
ensure
compliance
with
thethe
latest
legislation
ensure
compliance
with
latest
legislation
. .

Group
businesses
potentially
affected
willwill
Group
businesses
potentially
affected
endeavour
to to
maintain
robust
margins
soso
asas
to to
endeavour
maintain
robust
margins
mitigate
anyany
impact
onon
overheads.
mitigate
impact
overheads.

Modern
Methods
ofof
Construction
(MMC)
Modern
Methods
Construction
(MMC)
MMC,
or or
thethe
factory
construction
of of
modular
units
MMC,
factory
construction
modular
units
forfor
subsequent
on-site
assembly,
have
increased
subsequent
on-site
assembly,
have
increased
and
attracted
significant
investment
from
several
and
attracted
significant
investment
from
several
market
participants.
market
participants.

WeWe
continue
to to
monitor
thethe
scale
and
useuse
of of
MMC
and
thethe
approach
continue
monitor
scale
and
MMC
and
approach
of of
Local
Authority
planners
to to
their
useuse
and
how
members
of of
thethe
Group
Local
Authority
planners
their
and
how
members
Group
might
bebe
affected
were
their
products,
forfor
example
roof
coverings,
to to
fallfall
might
affected
were
their
products,
example
roof
coverings,
into
thethe
factory
build
stage
of of
such
units.
into
factory
build
stage
such
units.

WeWe
seek
to to
ensure
that
thethe
Group
hashas
close
seek
ensure
that
Group
close
relationships
with
builders
using
MMC.
relationships
with
builders
using
MMC.

Extreme
weather
Extreme
weather
Extreme
weather
events,
whether
in in
thethe
form
of of
Extreme
weather
events,
whether
form
excessive
rain
and
flooding
or or
snow,
cancan
have
aa
excessive
rain
and
flooding
snow,
have
material
impact
onon
clients’
construction
sites
and
material
impact
clients’
construction
sites
and
adversely
affect
turnover.
adversely
affect
turnover.

The
Group’
s geographical
diversity
across
thethe
UKUK
reduces
thethe
impact
of of
The
Group’
s geographical
diversity
across
reduces
impact
extreme
regional
weather
events.
extreme
regional
weather
events.

WeWe
continue
to to
seek
to to
increase
ourour
continue
seek
increase
geographical
reach
through
strategic
geographical
reach
through
strategic
acquisitions
and
organic
growth.
acquisitions
and
organic
growth.

Failure
toto
integrate
key
acquisitions
Failure
integrate
key
acquisitions
Given
thethe
Group’
s acquisitive
nature,
there
is ais risk
Given
Group’
s acquisitive
nature,
there
a risk
that
thethe
Group
fails
toto
integrate
anan
acquisition.
that
Group
fails
integrate
acquisition.

The
Group
completes
both
financial
and
legal
due
diligence,
prior
toto
The
Group
completes
both
financial
and
legal
due
diligence,
prior
acquisition,
toto
mitigate
thisthis
risk.
acquisition,
mitigate
risk.
The
Group
Management
Board
executives
also
meet
with
thethe
senior
The
Group
Management
Board
executives
also
meet
with
senior
management
of of
thethe
company
being
acquired
toto
ensure
they
willwill
fit fit
in in
management
company
being
acquired
ensure
they
with
thethe
Group.
with
Group.
Following
acquisition,
thethe
Group
ensures
compliance
with
itsits
Following
acquisition,
Group
ensures
compliance
with
systems
and
reporting,
while
also
undertaking
regular
business
and
systems
and
reporting,
while
also
undertaking
regular
business
and
performance
reviews.
performance
reviews.

WeWe
continue
to to
monitor
existing
acquisitions
continue
monitor
existing
acquisitions
and
maintain
thethe
due
diligence
discipline.
and
maintain
due
diligence
discipline.
Group
policies
and
practices
also
undergo
Group
policies
and
practices
also
undergo
continuous
review,
to to
work
towards
a Group
continuous
review,
work
towards
a Group
wide
approach
asas
quickly
asas
possible.
wide
approach
quickly
possible.

Cyber
security
Cyber
security
The
COVID-19
pandemic
ledled
toto
anan
increase
in in
The
COVID-19
pandemic
increase
remote
working.
There
is also
a growing
riskrisk
of of
remote
working.
There
is also
a growing
fraudulent
attacks
onon
businesses.
Such
anan
attack
fraudulent
attacks
businesses.
Such
attack
could
have
thethe
potential
toto
significantly
disrupt
thethe
could
have
potential
significantly
disrupt
Group’
s operations
and
result
in in
loss
toto
thethe
business.
Group’
s operations
and
result
loss
business.

The
Group
hashas
recovery
plans
in in
place,
and
ensures
systems
areare
upup
The
Group
recovery
plans
place,
and
ensures
systems
toto
date
with
thethe
latest
cyber
protection.
date
with
latest
cyber
protection.

WeWe
continuously
monitor
IT IT
systems
in in
place
continuously
monitor
systems
place
toto
ensure
they
areare
upup
toto
date
and
regularly
ensure
they
date
and
regularly
updated
with
thethe
latest
security
protection.
updated
with
latest
security
protection.
Ongoing
training
is also
provided
soso
staff
Ongoing
training
is also
provided
staff
maintain
awareness
of of
thethe
risks
and
appropriate
maintain
awareness
risks
and
appropriate
action
toto
take
should
anan
issue
arise.
action
take
should
issue
arise.

Environmental
and
social
responsibility
Environmental
and
social
responsibility
Increasing
requirements
in in
respect
of of
environmental
Increasing
requirements
respect
environmental
and
social
reporting
and
practices,
increase
thethe
riskrisk
and
social
reporting
and
practices,
increase
of of
anan
adverse
impact
onon
thethe
Group’
s reputation,
adverse
impact
Group’
s reputation,
should
expectations
notnot
bebe
met
oror
regulations
should
expectations
met
regulations
adhered
to.to.
adhered

Ongoing
updates
toto
legislation
and
social
expectations
areare
discussed
Ongoing
updates
legislation
and
social
expectations
discussed
atat
regular
senior
management
meetings
toto
ensure
thethe
Group
is aware
regular
senior
management
meetings
ensure
Group
is aware
of of
anyany
keykey
changes.
changes.

WeWe
monitor
thethe
impact
that
thethe
Group’
ss
monitor
impact
that
Group’
operations
have
onon
thethe
environment
and
itsits
operations
have
environment
and
stakeholders
toto
ensure
compliance
with
allall
stakeholders
ensure
compliance
with
appropriate
appropriate
regulations.
regulations.
WeWe
also
carry
outout
checks
onon
suppliers
toto
also
carry
checks
suppliers
ensure
that
they
areare
also
maintaining
thethe
ensure
that
they
also
maintaining
high
standards
expected.
high
standards
expected.
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Section172(1)
172(1)statement
statement
Section
compliancewith
withthe
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006,
2006,the
theBoard
BoardofofDirectors
Directorsare
are
InIncompliance
requiredtotoact
actininaccordance
accordancewith
withaaset
setofofgeneral
generalduties.
duties.During
Duringthe
theyear
yeartoto
required
March2021,
2021,the
theBoard
BoardofofDirectors
Directorsconsider
considerthat
thatthey
theyhave,
have,individually
individually
3131March
andcollectively,
collectively,acted
actedininaaway
waythey
theyconsider,
consider,iningood
goodfaith,
faith,would
wouldbebemost
most
and
likelytotopromote
promotethe
thesuccess
successofofthe
theCompany
Companyfor
forthe
thebenefit
benefitofofitsitsshareholders
shareholders
likely
whole,having
havingregard
regardtotoaanumber
numberofofbroader
broadermatters
mattersincluding
includingthe
the
asasaawhole,
likelyconsequence
consequenceofofdecisions
decisionsfor
forthe
thelong-term
long-termand
andthe
theCompany’s
Company’swider
wider
likely
relationships.InIndoing
doingso,
so,the
theBoard
Boardhas
hashad
hadregard
regardtotothe
thematters
matterscontained
contained
relationships.
section172(1)
172(1)(a)-(f)
(a)-(f)ofofthe
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006.
2006.
ininsection

The
TheDirectors
Directorshave
haveregard,
regard,amongst
amongstother
othermatters,
matters,totothe:
the:
• likely
• likelyconsequences
consequencesofofany
anydecisions
decisionsininthe
thelong-term;
long-term;
• interests
• interestsofofthe
theCompany’s
Company’semployees;
employees;
• need
s business
• needtotofoster
fosterthe
theCompany’
Company’s
businessrelationships
relationshipswith
with
suppliers,
suppliers,customers
customersand
andothers;
others;
• impact
• impactofofthe
theCompany’s
Company’soperations
operationsononthe
thecommunity
community
and
andenvironment;
environment;
• desirability
• desirabilityofofthe
theCompany
Companymaintaining
maintaininga areputation
reputationforfor
high
highstandards
standardsofofbusiness
businessconduct;
conduct;and
and
• need
• needtotoact
actfairly
fairlybetween
betweenmembers
membersofofthe
theCompany.
Company.

2222

Thisstatement
statementfocuses
focusesononmatters
mattersmaterial
materialtotoshareholders.
shareholders.
This
The
TheGroup’s
Group’skey
keyresources
resourcesand
andrelationships
relationshipsare
aredetailed
detailedinin
the
theBusiness
BusinessModel
Modelononpage
page10.10.The
TheBoard
Boardrecognises
recognisesthe
the
importance
importanceofofbuilding
buildingand
andmaintaining
maintainingrelationships
relationshipswith
withitsits
key
keystakeholders,
stakeholders,and
andconsidering
consideringthe
theexternal
externalimpact
impactofofthe
the
Group’s
Group’soperations,
operations,ininorder
ordertotoachieve
achievelong-term
long-termsuccess.
success.
The
s sunderstanding
TheBoard’
Board’
understandingofofthe
theinterests
interestsofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’s
stakeholders
stakeholdersisisinformed
informedbybythe
theBoard’s
Board’sprogramme
programme
ofofstakeholder
stakeholderengagement.
engagement.
Matters
Mattersthat
thathave
haveimpacted
impactedkey
keydecisions
decisionsand
andstrategies
strategies
during
duringthe
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021
2021are
aresetsetout
outininthe
the
following
followingparagraphs.
paragraphs.

Acquisitions
Acquisitions

During
Duringthe
theyear,
year,the
theGroup
Groupacquired
acquiredtwo
two
companies.
companies.The
Theacquisitions
acquisitionsprovided
providedthe
the
Group
Groupwith
withadditional
additionalscale,
scale,geographical
geographical
diversity
diversityand
andadditional
additionalproduct
productranges.
ranges.
The
Theacquisitions
acquisitionsprovided
providedenhanced
enhancedsales
sales
opportunities
opportunitiesand
andrevenue
revenuegeneration,
generation,
providing
providingreturns
returnstotoshareholders
shareholdersininthe
the
longer
longerterm
termand
andenhanced
enhancedemployment
employment
opportunities
opportunitiesasaspart
partofofaawider
widerGroup.
Group.
Prior
Priortotothe
theacquisitions,
acquisitions,the
theBoard
Board
considered
consideredthe
theeffects
effectsthey
theywould
wouldhave
have
ononthe
s sgearing
theGroup’
Group’
gearingand
andcreditors
creditorsbut
but
reached
reachedthe
theconclusion
conclusionthat
thatcreditors’
creditors’
interests
interestswould
wouldnot
notbebeimpacted
impacted
significantly
significantlyand
andany
anyimpact
impactwould
would
bebeoffset
offsetbybythe
thepositive
positiveeffects
effectsofofthe
the
acquisition
acquisitionononthe
theGroup.
Group.
Link
Linktotostrategy:
strategy:Acquisitions,
Acquisitions,Geographical
Geographical
Expansion
Expansionand
andProduct
ProductExpansion
Expansion

Retention
RetentionofofStaff
Staff

Strategy
Strategy

The
TheDirectors
Directorsalso
alsotake
takeinto
intoaccount
accountthe
theviews
viewsand
andinterests
interestsofofaawider
wider
setsetofofstakeholders
stakeholderswhen
whenmaking
makingdecisions.
decisions.During
Duringthe
theyear,
year,the
theBoard
Board
received
receivedinformation
informationtotoenable
enablethem
themtotoconsider
considerthe
theimpact
impactofofthe
the
Company’s
Company’sdecisions
decisionsononitsitskey
keystakeholders.
stakeholders.This
Thisinformation
informationwas
was
distributed
distributedininaarange
rangeofofdifferent
differentformats,
formats,including
includingthrough
throughreports
reports
and
andpresentations
presentationsononour
ourfinancial
financialand
andoperational
operationalperformance,
performance,
non
nonfinancial
financialKPIs
KPIsand
andrisk.
risk.We
Weacknowledge
acknowledgethat
thatevery
everydecision
decisionwewe
make
makewill
willnot
notnecessarily
necessarilyresult
resultininaapositive
positiveoutcome
outcomeforforallallofofour
our
stakeholders
stakeholdersand
andthe
theBoard
Boardfrequently
frequentlyhas
hastotomake
makedifficult
difficultdecisions
decisions
based
basedononcompeting
competingpriorities.
priorities.ByByconsidering
consideringthe
theCompany’s
Company’spurpose
purpose
and
andvalues,
values,together
togetherwith
withitsitsstrategic
strategicpriorities
prioritiesand
andhaving
havingaaprocess
process
ininplace
placeforfordecision
decisionmaking,
making,wewedo,
do,however,
however,aim
aimtotobalance
balancethose
those
different
differentperspectives.
perspectives.

Promoting
Promotingthe
thesuccess
successofofour
ourbusiness
businessforfor
the
thebenefit
benefitofofour
ourshareholders,
shareholders,whether
whether
large
largeinstitutions
institutionsororsmall
smallretail
retailinvestors,
investors,
isisfundamental
fundamentaland
andhas
hastotobebealigned
aligned
with
withemployees.
employees.The
TheBoard
Boardbelieves
believes
that
thatthe
theissue
issueofofCSOP
CSOPshares
sharestotoallallstaff
staff
that
thathad
hadbeen
beenwith
withthe
theGroup
Groupover
over2 2
years
yearsatatthe
thetime
timeofofthe
theCompany’s
Company’sIPO,
IPO,
and
andthe
theissue
issueofofLTIP
LTIPawards
awardsduring
during
the
theyear,
year,ensures
ensuresalignment
alignmentofofinterest
interest
between
betweenthe
theshareholders
shareholdersand
andemployees.
employees.
Remuneration
Remunerationpackages
packagesforforallallemployees
employees
are
arealso
alsoreviewed
reviewedregularly.
regularly.
Linktotostrategy:
strategy:Organic
OrganicGrowth
Growth
Link

Impact
Impacton
onthe
theEnvironment
Environment
and
andthe
theCommunity
Community

The
TheGroup
Groupisiscommitted
committedtotoreducing
reducingthe
the
environmental
environmentalimpact
impactofofitsitsoperations
operations
and
andtotomaking
makingaapositive
positiveimpact
impactininthe
the
community.
community.Further
Furtherinformation
informationononthe
the
steps
stepstaken
takentotoreduce
reducethe
theenvironmental
environmental
impact
impactofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’soperations,
operations,and
and
itsitscharitable
charitableactivities,
activities,are
aresetsetout
outononinin
the
theCorporate
Corporateand
andSocial
SocialResponsibility
Responsibility
statement
statementononpages
pages2828and
and29.
29.
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Chief Financial Officer’s Review

£181.1m £38.0m £17.5m £11.2m
Revenue decline of 3.2% to
£181.1 million, with like-for-like
decline of 13.2%

Gross Profit increased by
0.8% to £38.0m.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased
by 10.1% to £17.5m

Profit Before Tax
decreased by 8.4%
from 2020

The financial results for the year ended 31 March 2021 reflect the impact of COVID-19 on the business. This impact was
mitigated by careful cost control and the utilisation of around £1.3 million of the Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (CJRS).
Overall business performance is shown in our key performance indicators on page 16.

Revenue
Revenue totalled £181.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. This represented a decrease of 3.2% compared to the previous
year (2020: £187.1 million).
Division

2021
£m

2020
£m

% Change

Bricks and Building Materials

144.2

144.0

0.1

Roofing Services

12.4

17.1

(27.5)

Heating, Plumbing and Joinery

24.5

26.1

(6.1)

Total

181.1

187.1

(3.2)

Sales performance was very different in the two halves of the year, following recovery from the initial COVID-19 related lockdown, as
shown in the table below, on a like-for-like basis, as a % change from the equivalent period in the prior year.
Bricks and Building
Materials
% Change

Roofing Services
% Change

Heating, Plumbing
and Joinery
% Change

Total
% Change

H1

(30.4)

(49.3)

(24.3)

(31.3)

H2

8.9

(1.3)

5.2

7.6

Full year

(12.2)

(28.3)

(9.6)

(13.2)

Gross Profit

Adjusted Profit and Adjusted EBITDA

Gross profit for the year increased to £38.0 million from £37.7
million, with a slight improvement in gross margin of 0.8% to
21.0% (2020: 20.1%)

Statutory profit before tax of £11.2 million (2020: £12.2 million)
includes other items of £3.8 million (2020: £4.8 million) which are
not considered to be part of the Group’s underlying operations.

24

These are analysed as follows:

Dividends
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Statutory profit before tax

11,165

12,184

Acquisition costs

105

-

Share based payment expense

338

56

Amortisation of intangible assets

3,619

3,059

Impairment of goodwill

-

16

Unwinding of discount on
contingent consideration

127

227

Interest payable on loan notes

-

977

Interest payable on deferred consideration

-

13

Share of post-tax losses of equity
accounted associates

6

32

Fair value (gains)/ losses on
contingent consideration

(360)

45

Exceptional income

-

(2,000)

Exceptional expenses

-

2,407

Total other items before tax

3,835

4,832

Adjusted profit before tax

15,000 17,016

Further details regarding the above other items are disclosed in
note 14 to the financial statements.
Adjusted EBITDA is the adjusted profit before tax prior to the
addition of finance income and deduction of depreciation,
amortisation and finance expenses.
Adjusted EBITDA decreased by 10.1% to £17.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. Detailed segmental analysis is per note 6
of the financial statements. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted
in a decrease across all divisions on a like for like basis. However,
as reported, the Bricks and Building Materials division adjusted
EBITDA has increased from £11.5 million to £11.7 million, following
acquisitions that were made during the current year and part way
through the previous year.

Taxation

The charge for taxation was £1.5 million (2020: £2.9 million), an
effective rate of taxation (Tax expense divided by Profit Before
Tax) of 13.5% (2020: 23.7%). The effective rate for the year falls
below the main rate of corporation tax (19%), due to research and
development tax credits being claimed during the year in relation to
prior years. The 2020 effective tax rate was higher than the main
rate of tax following the remeasurement of deferred tax after the
announcement of a change in tax rate from 17% to 19%.

Earnings Per Share

Basic EPS for the year was 4.19p (2020: 4.79p). The Group also
reports an adjusted underlying EPS which adjusts for the impact of
the other items analysed in the table above. Adjusted EPS has fallen
from 7.27p to 5.56p per share.

In light of the strength of the Group’s trading performance since the
easing of the initial COVID-19 related lockdown measures for the
construction industry and also in recognition of the strength of the
balance sheet at the year end, the Board is recommending a final
dividend of 1.0850p per share.
Subject to approval by shareholders, the final dividend will be paid
on 23 September 2021, with a record date of 27 August 2021 and an
ex-dividend date of 26 August 2021.

Cash Flow and Net Debt

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital decreased
to £17.4 million from £21.0 million in 2020. Cash generated from
operations decreased to £13.1 million from £20.9 million.
Inventories increased primarily as a result of the Group’s
preparations for Brexit. The initial COVID-19 lockdown hampered
sales in the final month of the 2020 financial year whilst in comparison
the Group was fully trading in March 2021, resulting in a higher
receivables balance as at 31 March 2021. Creditor payments were
also normalised following the staggered payments at 31 March 2020
during lockdown. Additional working capital requirements are also
included for the new acquisitions, since their addition to the Group.
At 31 March 2021, net debt (borrowings less cash) was
£7.3 million which compares to net cash of £2.3 million at the
prior year end. This is after additional investment in property, plant
and equipment of £5.7 million (2020: £0.9 million), tax paid of
£2.4 million (2020: £4.7 million), the initial payments for two new
subsidiaries of £2.5 million (2020: £11.4 million) and the payment
of deferred consideration, in relation to prior year acquisitions, of
£7.9 million (2020: £5.9 million). Dividends of £4.5 million (2020:
£2 million) were also paid in the year. We continue to expect that the
Brickability Group will remain a business that is cash generative.

Bank Facilities

At the year end, the Group had debt facilities with HSBC, totalling
£30 million. This consists of a £25 million revolving credit facility
repayable in full in March 2023 (with the option of two one-year
extensions) and a £5 million overdraft facility until March 2023.
Since the year end, the Group has re-financed into a £60 million
revolving credit facility, on a club basis with HSBC and Barclays, that
runs for 3 years (with the option of two one-year extensions). The
Group also has access to an additional £25 million accordion.

Subsequent Events

The Group completed the acquisition of Taylor Maxwell (2017)
Limited in June 2021, for consideration of up to £63 million.
Leadcraft Limited was also acquired in July 2021, for consideration
initially expected to be up to £5.5 million. Further investment has
also been made in opening a new branch, within the U Plastics
business, with a new property purchased for £2.4 million. Full details
of events occurring since the year end are disclosed in note 39 to the
financial statements.

Going Concern

The directors are confident, having made appropriate enquiries,
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements. Further details concerning the
assessment of going concern are outlined within the Going Concern
and Outlook section on pages 26 and 27.
Mike Gant
Chief Financial Officer
4 August 2021
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Corporate and Social Responsibility
We are committed to fairness, integrity and doing the right thing. We believe in treating our people well and giving back to the
communities where our people work.

Safety and Well-being

Our People

The safety and well-being of colleagues is the Group’s first
priority. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken all
extra precautions to keep our sites clean and sanitised and
have put in procedures to keep our workforce safe. Some sites
were initially closed and then gradually reopened under secure
and socially distanced conditions. Those employees who could
work from home did so.

Growing our business generates opportunities for our
employees and creates value for our shareholders and
stakeholders. Our focus is to create a high-performance
entrepreneurial culture through effective employee engagement,
people development plans and effective resource management.
Our people are our key asset. The Group’s performance
and its success within our marketplace are directly related to
the effectiveness of our people, who deliver the high-quality
products and provide exceptional services. The Group aims to
attract, retain and motivate the highest calibre of employees.

The Group promotes a positive health and safety culture
throughout the business to ensure that all our people consider
health, safety and welfare issues while at work. A workforce that
is safe and physically & mentally healthy is key to the success
of the Group. All new employees receive in-house health and
safety training with further training undertaken as the employee
role or need requires. All our processes and procedures are
reviewed regularly by an external agency.

Diversity and Gender
Building a diverse workforce and maintaining an inclusive
workplace is vitally important to the Group. This ensures
everyone feels welcome and valued. As a Group we strive to
eliminate any gender bias in our pay and employment policies
and practices. We have a robust recruitment policy that
the Group will recruit, train and reward based on merit and
provide opportunities for our employees to fulfil their ambitions
regardless of gender.

We recognise highly competent and engaged staff is key for
customers. Our customers are central to our success and the
day to day relationships staff have with customers is key. Many
of these relationships have been built over many years so it is
important that we maintain a high employee retention rate.
A variety of methods are used to engage with employees.
Under normal circumstances, this includes office and team
meetings and an annual in-house conference. During the
COVID-19 pandemic, we have primarily engaged through
online communications and virtual meetings. We use one or
more of these channels to brief employees about our business
performance and financial and economic factors affecting us.
The Group has policies for dealing with gifts, hospitality, bribery,
corruption, modern slavery, whistle-blowing and inside information.

Training and Development
Developing talent and supporting diversity across our Group
helps to ensure that we have the best teams motivated to
deliver our goals. In an industry that is keen to attract young
talent, development schemes allow the Group to retain and
nurture new staff. The Group has need-focused on recruiting
younger staff to ensure the skills are transferred but also to help
with succession planning. A number of the acquisitions recently
made have had young management teams who we hope will
develop over time to provide the talent the Group needs as
growth continues.
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Reward and Recognition

Ethics and Relationships

Key to the retention of our employees is recognising and
rewarding their hard work. Our reward strategy aims to align
the interests of the employees and the Company. As a sales
organisation, the rewards are based on bonus/commission
based on sales achieved for our sales representatives. As part
of the IPO, staff that had been with the Group for more than 2
years received options over shares to ensure staff interests are
aligned with the Group. LTIP awards were also granted during
the year.

Our vision to be a leading specialist supplier in the housebuilding sector will only be maintained through a culture of
honesty, integrity and openness and by respecting human rights
and the interests of our employees, customers and third parties.

Community and Social
The communities where our offices and premises are based
are important to us and we try to encourage our employees
to make a difference within our local communities by being
involved in local charities. Most of our financial contributions to
charities come from the efforts and personal involvement of our
employees. During the year ended 31 March 2021 the Company
made donations of £4,899 to charities (2020: £14,283). In
addition, we have set up the Brickability Group Foundation
which will raise funds to support charities close to the Group’s
areas of operation.

Relations with Customers
The Group is committed to putting its customers at the heart of
everything it does by providing high quality products and service.
All employees are expected to behave respectfully and honestly
in all their dealings with customers and the general public.

Relations with Suppliers
The Group expects its suppliers to adhere to business principles
consistent with the Group’s own. Suppliers are expected
to adopt and implement acceptable health and safety,
environmental, product quality, labour, human rights, social and
legal standards. Conformance to these standards is assessed
by on-site supplier visits on a regular basis.

Environmental

The Group is dedicated to being environmentally responsible through our commitment to eliminate waste and wasteful practices.
We strive for operational excellence whilst reducing environmental impact. Policies are designed and implemented to reduce
damage that might be caused by the Group’s activities. Initiatives to reduce the Group’s impact on the environment include the
recycling of waste, reducing carbon emissions and utilisation of recyclable packaging materials.

Carbon Dioxide Equivalent (CO2e) Tonnes

2021

2020

Scope 1

94.8

25.8

Scope 2

22.3

29.6

2.00

0.79

Intensity
Tonnes of CO2e from scope 1 and 2 sources per £m of turnover

Brick-ability Limited, being the largest subsidiary, has reported
on all the emissions’ sources required under the Companies Act
2006 (Strategic Report and Directors Reports) Regulation 2013.
Other parts of the Group are outside the reporting requirement.
Scope 1 and 2 emissions are calculated using the UK Government
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2021 on an operational
control basis. 35% (2020: 86%) of Scope 1 and 2 data is from
measured sources, with the remainder extrapolated from distance
travelled. The increase in Scope 1 in 2021 follows the addition of two
lorries used for distribution from the Alfiam warehouse.

The Strategic Report on pages 4 to 29 was reviewed and approved by the Board on 4 August 2021.

Alan Simpson
Chief Executive Officer
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N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

MMGant
Gant(CFO)*
(CFO)*

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

GGBeale
Beale(Non-Executive)
(Non-Executive)

1212

44

44

11

CCNorman
Norman(Non-Executive)
(Non-Executive)

1212

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

11

DDSimpson
Simpson(Non-Executive)**
(Non-Executive)**

11 11

44

44

11

* Mike
* MikeGant
Gantjoined
joinedthe
theBoard
BoardininApril
April2021
2021and
andtherefore
thereforeattended
attendedmeetings
meetingsprior
priortotothat
thatdate
dateasasa aguest.
guest.
****David
DavidSimpson
Simpsonwas
wasunable
unabletotomake
makeone
onemeeting
meetingdue
duetotoa adiary
diaryconflict.
conflict.

CCOOR RP POOR RA A
T TE EGGOOV VE ER RNNA ANNCCE E

3131

Group Management Board

32

JOHN RICHARDS

ALAN SIMPSON

MIKE GANT

Non-Executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

John Richards joined the building
materials industry after serving
a graduate traineeship with the
Delta Engineering Group. He
served at Ibstock Brick for 31 years
as Sales and Marketing Director,
Director and General Manager
and as Managing Director of
several of the group’s subsidiaries.
He now serves as Chairman of
ADF, a leading supplier of trailers
and logistics to the TV and film
industry, Chairman of JR and M
Investments, a supplier of finance
to contractors, and is a Director of
Birmingham Moseley Rugby Club.
John joined the Board in March
2018 as Chairman.

Alan Simpson joined Building
Materials Distribution with Taylor
Maxwell in 1983 and five years
later moved to Brick-ability. He
became Sales Director and a
shareholder, graduating to the
position of Managing Director.
He founded Towelrads, Frazer
Simpson and FSN Doors, all of
which are now part of the Group.
Alan became a Director in
1996 before stepping up to
Chief Executive Officer of the
Group following the successful
management buyout of
Peter Milton, the founder of
the Brickability business, in
September 2016.

Mike is a Chartered Management
Accountant with an MBA from
Nottingham Business School. Prior
to joining, he served as Group
CFO at Walker Greenbank PLC.
Mike is a highly experienced CFO
and brings a breadth of financial,
strategic and M&A experience to
the Group from his previous roles at
Bass plc, Marstons plc, Geest plc,
Constellation Brands Inc, Britvic plc
and Walker Greenbank plc. Mike
joined the Board in April 2021.

SIMON MELLOR

Managing Director
within Bricks and
Building Materials
Division

Simon Mellor has over 30 years’
experience in the brick market
having joined the industry in
1985. He first gained experience
in brick manufacturing at
Steetley Brick & Redland Brick as
a Regional Sales Manager. He
joined Brickability in 1995 as
Wales Sales Manager and was
appointed Managing Director of
The Matching Brick Company in
2007 and of Brickability Limited
in 2009. During his career with
Brickability, Simon has been
responsible for overseeing a
number of acquisitions and
developing relationships and
trading agreements with
European suppliers including
ongoing product development
to satisfy opportunities and
product shortages in the UK.

PAUL HAMILTON
Managing Director
of Heating, Plumbing
and Joinery Division

Simon Pearson has over 35
years of construction and
roofing sector experience,
having first joining the
industry in 1981 and setting
up his first roofing business
in 1984. He formed Crest
Building Products in 1989 and
Crest Roofing in 1993, which
became part of the Group in
2018 and has been Managing
Director of the Roofing
Division since.

Arnold Van Huet has over 35
years’ experience in the brick
and tile market across Europe,
having been heavily involved in
import and export markets and
the development of many brick
and roofing products in Europe.
He was the founder of the Crest
Group of companies over 30
years ago which became part
of the Group in 2018. He has
also held senior and board
positions in Desimpel Brick plc,
Hanson Brick and Enhobel plc.

SIMON PEARSON

ARNOLD VAN HUET

Managing Director of
Roofing Services Division

Managing Director
of Crest Group

The Management Board
is responsible for the
day to day operations
of the Group. The
members are drawn from
key managers within
individual Brickability
Group businesses.

Paul Hamilton has 17 years’
experience in the heating
and building supplier market.
He joined the Towelrads
business in 2004 and became
a shareholder and Director
in 2008. Paul has overseen
the growth of the Towelrads
business from sales of less
than £1 million to over £18
million a year. He led a
management buyout of the
Towelrads business in 2016
and was a founder of DSH
Flooring. Paul is currently
Divisional Managing Director
of the Heating Plumbing and
Joinery Group which includes
Towelrads, DSH Flooring,
Frazer Simpson, FSN Doors,
Forum Tiles, Radiators Valves
UK and Radiators Online.

ANDY WILSON

Managing Director of
The Bespoke Brick Co.

Andy joined the brick industry
in 2004 after graduating with
2:1 BA Hons from Nottingham
Trent University. Andy served
as Regional Sales Manager for
Traditional Brick & Stone Ltd
before joining Wienerberger
as Southern Specification
Manager. In 2014 Andy
founded The Bespoke Brick
Company Limited, followed by
The Brick Slip Business Limited
in 2016. He later co- founded
William Wilson Properties
Ltd in April 2019. Andy joined
the Management Board of
Brickability Group in May 2019.
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Corporate Governance
QCA CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND AIM RULE 26

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate governance and since our
flotation on AIM in August 2019 we have chosen to adopt the Quoted Companies
Alliance Corporate Governance Code (QCA Code) which we believe is the
appropriate recognised corporate governance code for the Company, consistent with
the majority of AIM companies, given its size, structure and stage of development.

DELIVER GROWTH
1. Establish a strategy and business model which
promote long-term value for shareholders.
2. Seek to understand and meet shareholder
needs and expectations.
W
 e have ensured that presentations have
been made to both shareholders and
potential investors. Both have been able
to make comment to and question the
directors. We also regularly get questions
from private shareholders by email, all of
which are dealt with.

3. Take into account wider stakeholder and social

responsibilities and their implications for longterm success.
4. E mbed effective risk management, considering
both opportunities and threats, throughout
the organisation.

MAINTAIN A DYNAMIC
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
5. Maintain the Board as a well-functioning,

balanced team led by the Chairman.
6. Ensure that between them the Directors have
the necessary up-to-date experience, skills
and capabilities.
All our Directors have expertise in the relevant
areas and we use our professional advisers to
ensure that their knowledge and skill sets are
kept up to date.

7. E valuate Board performance based on clear and

relevant objectives, seeking continuous improvement.
We evaluate the Board’s performance against
the Company’s objectives laid out at the
time of IPO. This evaluation also extends
to performance in areas of compliance,
risk management, remuneration and
communication amongst others.

8. Promote a corporate culture that is based on

ethical values and behaviours.
The Board’s assessment is that the corporate
culture is consistent with ethical values
and behaviours.

9. M
 aintain governance structures and processes

that are fit for purpose and support good decisionmaking by the Board.

34

BUILD TRUST
10. Communicate how the

Company is governed
and is performing by
maintaining a dialogue
with shareholders and other
relevant stakeholders.

The Group’s corporate governance culture will be
measured against the QCA Code fundamentals and
regularly reviewed with developments and changes
communicated to shareholders. The QCA Code is
built on the three fundamentals of delivering growth,
maintaining a dynamic management framework and
building trust. The Group’s Board is committed to
each one of the fundamentals, as it believes these will
support the Company’s medium to long-term success.
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COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
John Richards
OTHER MEMBERS
Giles Beale
Clive Norman
David Simpson

All members of the
Committee are non-executive
Directors of the Company
whose biographies are set out
on pages 30 to 31.

Report of the Nomination Committee
As Chairman of the Nomination Committee
(“the Committee”) and on behalf of the Board
I am pleased to present the report of the Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Meetings and Attendance
Member

Meetings
Attended

John Richards (Chairman)

1/1

Giles Beale

1/1

Clive Norman

1/1

David Simpson

1/1

The Committee meets as and
when required, but at least once a
year. The Chief Executive attends
as invited.

Duties

The Duties of the Committee are set out in terms of reference which are available
for inspection on the Company’s website at www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.
The terms of reference will be subject to an annual review by the Committee.
As well as considering succession planning for the Board, the Committee also
considers succession planning for senior executive positions. The Committee
is aware of gender and diversity issues and these are considered, amongst
other factors, when reviewing potential candidates for Board and other senior
management positions and determining their suitability for such positions.

Committee Activity During the Year

Following the sudden death of Stuart Overend in November 2020, the Committee
appointed an external search agency to identify suitable candidates for the
Chief Financial Officer’s role (CFO). A short list of candidates was prepared for
consideration and, following interviews, the Committee recommended to the
Board that Mike Gant should be appointed as interim CFO with the possibility of
this appointment becoming permanent in due course. The recommendation of the
Committee was approved by the Board in December 2020 with the appointment
being effective as from January 2021. An appropriate induction programme was
prepared by myself as Chairman in consultation with Mike Gant. Following a
recommendation made by the Committee, at a meeting in April 2021, Mike Gant
was appointed to the role permanently.
By order of the Board
John Richards
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
4 August 2021
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Report of the Audit Committee
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present my report to you as Chair of the Audit
Committee for the financial year to 31 March 2021. This report provides shareholders
with an overview of the activities carried out by the Committee during the year.

Current Committee Members

David Simpson and Giles Beale are considered independent by the Board within the
meaning of the QCA Code. John Richards, Chairman and the Chairman of the Group
Management Board, is regarded by the Board as independent for the purposes of
membership of the Committee; his experience and role in liaising with shareholders
assists the Committee as his membership is considered both appropriate and beneficial.

Duties

The Duties of the Committee are set out in terms of reference which are available for
inspection on the Company’s website at www.brickabilitygroupplc.com. The terms of
reference will be subject to an annual review by the Committee.
Areas of focus for the year:
• Review of the interim results
• Developing and implementing policy
on non-audit services provided by the
• Consideration of key audit matters and
external Auditor
how they are addressed
• Review of risk management and internal
• Reviewing significant accounting and
control systems
reporting judgements
• Reviewing the Group’s procedures for
• Going concern review
• Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness detecting and preventing fraud, bribery
and the governance of anti-money
of the Group’s external audit
laundering systems and controls
• Monitoring Auditor independence
•
Financial Calendar/Audit timetable
• Meeting the external Auditor without
•
Review of ESG policies
management present
•
Delegated Authority Schedule
• Considering the external audit report
•
Related Party Transactions Register
• Reviewing the financial statements and
Annual Report

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee, is responsible for regularly reviewing the
operation and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. The internal control system is
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
The Group’s key internal control procedures include a review of the Group’s strategy and the
performance of subsidiaries. This involves a comprehensive system of reporting based on
variances to annual budgets, key performance indicators and regular forecasting.
The Audit Committee in partnership with the Board is responsible for reviewing the risk
management and internal control framework and ensuring that it operates effectively. The
Committee is satisfied that the internal control systems in place were operating effectively
during the period.

External Auditor

The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the external Auditor, BDO LLP, to
ensure that Auditor independence and objectivity is maintained. As part of its review,
the Committee monitors the provision of non-audit services by the external Auditor. The
breakdown of fees between audit and non-audit services is provided on page 80 in note 9
to the financial statements. The non-audit fees for the year were £6,500 (2020: £333,649)
which was in relation to a review of the Company’s interim financial statements.
Management and the Chair of the Audit Committee liaise with the Auditor throughout the
year to ensure that if there are areas of significant risk, or other matters of audit relevance,
they are regularly communicated. The external Auditor prepares a plan for its audit of the
financial statements. The audit plan sets out the scope of the audit, areas to be targeted
and the audit timetable. The plan is reviewed and by the Committee. Following the audit, the
Auditor presents their findings to Audit Committee for discussion. No major areas of concern
were highlighted by the Auditor during the year.
BDO LLP has been the Group Auditor since the Company’s IPO on 20 August 2019; the
Company is not proposing to tender for external audit services in the near future. Having
reviewed the Auditor’s independence and performance to date, the Committee has
recommended to the Board that BDO LLP be re-appointed as the Group’s Auditor and a
resolution to this effect will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
David Simpson
OTHER MEMBERS
Giles Beale
John Richards

Meetings and Attendance
Member

Meetings
Attended

David Simpson (Chairman)

4/4

Giles Beale

4/4

John Richards

4/4

The Committee meets at least twice a
year and during the year met four times.
The Chief Executive, Chief Financial
Officer and external Auditor attend
meetings as invited.

Going Concern

The Group is required to assess its
ability to trade as a going concern for a
period of 12 months from the period of
signing the annual financial statements.
The Committee reviewed the Board’s
assessment on pages 26 and 27 and
concluded that it remained appropriate to
continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements.

Whistleblowing

The Group has in place a whistleblowing
policy which sets out the formal process
by which an employee of the Group
may, in confidence raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial
reporting or other matters. No concerns
were raised during the period.

Anti-Bribery

The Group has in place an anti-bribery
and corruption policy which sets out a
zero-tolerance position and provides
information and guidance to those
working for the Group on how to
recognise and deal with bribery and
corruption matters. The Committee
relies upon assurances from senior
management in satisfying itself that the
current policy is operating effectively.
The Committee is satisfied that the policy
in place has been operating effectively
during the period.
By order of the Board
David Simpson
Chair of Audit Committee
4 August 2021
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Report
Reportof
ofthe
theRemuneration
RemunerationCommittee
Committee
On
Onbehalf
behalfofofthe
theBoard,
Board,I Iam
ampleased
pleasedtotopresent
presentmy
my
report
reporttotoyou
youasasChair
Chairofofthe
theRemuneration
RemunerationCommittee
Committee
for
forthe
thefinancial
financialyear
yeartoto3131March
March2021.
2021.The
Thepurpose
purpose
ofofthis
thisreport
reportisistotoprovide
provideshareholders
shareholderswith
withthe
the
information
informationnecessary
necessarytotounderstand
understandour
ourremuneration
remuneration
policy,
policy,itsitslinkage
linkagetotothe
theGroup’s
Group’sperformance,
performance,strategy
strategy
and
andcore
corevalues
valuesasaswell
wellasasproviding
providingaaclear
clearexplanation
explanation
ofofhow
howour
ourDirectors
Directorshave
havebeen
beenrewarded
rewardedover
overthe
theperiod.
period.
Remuneration
Remunerationforforexecutive
executiveand
andother
other
senior
seniormanagement
managementinclude,
include,where
where
appropriate,
appropriate,pensions,
pensions,bonuses,
bonuses,incentive
incentive
arrangements,
arrangements,share
shareoptions
optionsand
andother
other
share-based
share-basedawards.
awards.The
TheRemuneration
Remuneration
Committee’s
Committee’sfocus
focusisistotoreward
rewardfairly
fairlyand
and
responsibly
responsiblywith
witha aremuneration
remunerationpolicy
policythat
that
supports
supportsand
andencourages
encouragessenior
seniormanagers
managers
and
andGroup
Groupemployees
employeesgenerally
generallywith
witha a
clear
clearlink
linktotoindividual
individualperformance
performanceasaswell
well
asasthe
thefinancial
financialhealth
healthofofthe
theCompany
Companyand
and
the
theinterests
interestsofofitsitsshareholders
shareholdersasasa awhole.
whole.
The
TheGroup
Grouphas
hashistorically
historicallygrown
grown
bybyacquisition
acquisitionthrough
throughwhich
whichit ithas
has
inherited
inheritedseveral
severaldiffering
differingremuneration
remuneration
arrangements
arrangementsoften
oftenembedded
embeddedbyby
contract.
contract.Growth
Growthbybyacquisition
acquisitionremains
remainsanan
important
importantpart
partofofthe
theCompany’s
Company’sstrategy.
strategy.
The
TheCommittee
Committeeconsiders
considersit itimportant,
important,
subject
subjecttotolegal
legalconstraints,
constraints,totoestablish
establisha a
consistent
consistentremuneration
remunerationpolicy
policythroughout
throughout
the
theGroup.
Group.
AAmember
memberofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’ssenior
senior
management
managementteam
teamisisparty
partytotoananon-going
on-going
earn-out
earn-outarrangement.
arrangement.AAnumber
numberare
arealso
also
significant
significantshareholders
shareholdersofofthe
theCompany
Company
and
andsome
someare
areparty
partytotoa aconcert
concertparty
party
identified
identifiedbybythe
thePanel
PanelononTakeovers
Takeoversand
and

Mergers,
Mergers,details
detailsofofwhich
whichare
aresetsetout
outininthe
the
Company’s
Company’sadmission
admissiondocument
document(available
(available
atatwww.brickabilitygroupplc.com).
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com).
The
TheDirectors
Directorsbelieve
believethat
thatthe
thesuccess
successofofthe
the
Group
Groupdepends
dependstotoa asignificant
significantdegree
degreeononthe
the
future
futureperformance
performanceofofitsitssenior
seniormanagement
management
team.
team.The
TheBoard
Boardand
andthe
theCommittee
Committeealso
also
recognise
recognisethe
theimportance
importanceofofensuring
ensuringthat
that
allallGroup
Groupemployees
employeesremain
remainwell
wellmotivated
motivated
and
andidentify
identifyclosely
closelywith
withitsitssuccess.
success.The
The
Committee
Committeereviews
reviewsinformation
informationregarding
regarding
the
theremuneration
remunerationand
andreward
rewardlevels
levelsofofother
other
Group
Groupemployees
employeestotoprovide
providecontext
contextwhen
when
considering
consideringremuneration
remunerationpolicy
policyand
andthe
the
remuneration
remunerationofofthe
theexecutive
executivedirectors.
directors.
The
TheBoard
Boardhas
hasadopted
adoptedthe
theQuoted
Quoted
Companies
CompaniesAlliance
AllianceCorporate
CorporateGovernance
Governance
Code
Code(QCA
(QCACode)
Code)and
andconsider
considerthat
thatthe
the
QCA
QCACode
Codeisismost
mostappropriate
appropriateforforthe
thesize,
size,
scale
scaleand
andcomplexity
complexityofofthe
theCompany.
Company.Where
Where
the
theBoard
Boardbelieves
believesthat
thata adeparture
departurefrom
fromthe
the
QCA
QCACode
Codeisiswarranted,
warranted,ananexplanation
explanation
isisprovided.
provided.
We
Werecognise
recognisethe
theimportance
importanceofofshareholder
shareholder
views
viewsand
andtheir
theirfeedback
feedbackononremuneration
remuneration
policy
policyand
andwewewelcome
welcomefeedback
feedbackfrom
fromour
our
shareholders
shareholdersononthe
thecontent
contentofofthis
thisreport.
report.
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Reportof
ofthe
the
Report
Remuneration
Remuneration
Committee
Committee
COMMITTEECHAIRMAN
CHAIRMAN
COMMITTEE
GilesBeale
Beale
Giles
OTHER
OTHERMEMBERS
MEMBERS
DavidSimpson
Simpson
David
JohnRichards
Richards
John

Duties
Duties

GilesBeale
Bealeand
andDavid
DavidSimpson
Simpsonare
are
Giles
consideredindependent
independentbybythe
theBoard
Board
considered
withinthe
themeaning
meaningofofthe
theQCA
QCACode.
Code.
within
JohnRichards,
Richards,Chairman
Chairmanand
andthe
the
John
Chairmanofofthe
theGroup
GroupManagement
Management
Chairman
Board,isisregarded
regardedbybythe
theBoard
Boardasas
Board,
independentforforthe
thepurposes
purposesofof
independent
membershipofofthe
theCommittee;
Committee;hishis
membership
experienceand
androle
roleininliaising
liaisingwith
with
experience
shareholdersassists
assiststhe
theCommittee
Committee
shareholders
membershipisisconsidered
consideredboth
both
asashishismembership
appropriateand
andbeneficial.
beneficial.Giles
GilesBeale
Beale
appropriate
haschaired
chairedthe
theCommittee
Committeesince
since
has
establishment.
itsitsestablishment.

Meetingsand
andAttendance
Attendance
Meetings
Member
Member

Meetings
Meetings
Attended
Attended

GilesBeale
Beale(Chairman)
(Chairman)
Giles

4/4
4/4

DavidSimpson
Simpson
David

4/4
4/4

JohnRichards
Richards
John

4/4
4/4

TheCommittee
Committeemeets
meetsatatleast
leasttwice
twicea ayear
year
The
andfurther
furtherasasnecessary
necessarytotofulfil
fulfilitsitsrole.
role.
and
Overthe
thereporting
reportingperiod
periodthe
theCommittee
Committee
Over
metfour
fourtimes.
times.Additional
Additionaldecisions
decisionswere
were
met
takenbybycommon
commonconsent
consentfollowing
followinga adue
due
taken
exchangeofofinformation
informationand
andviews.
views.Where
Where
exchange
required,the
theChief
ChiefExecutive
Executiveand
andChief
Chief
required,
FinancialOfficer
Officerattended
attendedororcontributed
contributed
Financial
theCommittee’
Committee’
s deliberations,inineach
each
totothe
s deliberations,
casebybyinvitation.
invitation.
case
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Theduties
dutiesofofthe
theCommittee
Committeeare
aresetsetout
outininitsitsterms
termsofof
The
referencewhich
whichare
areavailable
availableononthe
theCompany’s
Company’swebsite
websiteatat
reference
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.The
Theterms
termsofofreference
referenceare
arereviewed
reviewedannually.
annually.
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.
TheCommittee’s
Committee’sprincipal
principalrole
roleisistotoassist
assistthe
theBoard
Boardininensuring
ensuringthat
thatthe
theGroup’s
Group’s
The
remunerationpolicy
policyrewards
rewardsfairly
fairlyand
andresponsibly
responsiblywith
witha aclear
clearlink
linktotoindividual
individualand
and
remuneration
corporateperformance.
performance.
corporate
Keyitems
itemsofofbusiness
businessconsidered
consideredbybythe
the
Key
Committeeduring
duringthe
theyear
yearinclude:
include:
Committee
• d eterminingthe
theremuneration
remunerationofof
• determining
executiveDirectors;
Directors;
executive
•m
 onitoringand
andrecommending,
recommending,where
where
• monitoring
relevant,the
theremuneration
remunerationofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’s
relevant,
widersenior
seniormanagement
managementteam;
team;and
and
wider
• t heoversight
oversightand
andadministration
administrationofofthe
the
• the
Group’sshare
shareplans.
plans.
Group’s
memberofofthe
theCommittee
Committeehas
hasa a
NoNomember
personalinterest
interest(save
(saveasasa ashareholder
shareholder
personal
theCompany)
Company)ininthe
theoutcome
outcomeofofitsits
ofofthe
decisionsand
andnonoDirector
Directoris isparty
partytotoa a
decisions
decisionororrecommendation
recommendationregarding
regardingtheir
their
decision
ownremuneration.
remuneration.The
TheCommittee
Committeegives
gives
own
dueregard
regardtotothe
theinterest
interestofofshareholders
shareholders
due
andthe
thefinancial
financialand
andcommercial
commercialhealth
health
and
theCompany.
Company.Addleshaw
AddleshawGoddard
GoddardLLP
LLP
ofofthe
providedadvice
adviceduring
duringthe
theperiod.
period.
provided
Thedetermination
determinationofofexecutive
executiveDirectors’
Directors’
The
annualremuneration,
remuneration,including
includingbonus
bonusand
and
annual
relatedperformance
performancecriteria,
criteria,is isundertaken
undertakenbyby
related
theCommittee.
Committee.The
Theremuneration
remunerationpackages
packages
the
oursenior
seniormanagement
managementteam
teamare
aredesigned
designed
ofofour
attract,motivate
motivateand
andretain
retainexecutives
executivesofof
totoattract,
thehighest
highestcalibre
calibreand
andtotoreward
rewardthem
themforfor
the
enhancingshareholder
shareholdervalue.
value.
enhancing

eachcase
casethese
theseinclude
includesome
someororallallofof
InIneach
thefollowing
followingelements:
elements:
the
• basicsalary
salaryand
andbenefits;
benefits;
• basic
• a nnualbonus
bonusand/or
and/orcommission
commission
• annual
arrangements;
arrangements;
• s hareplans
plansincluding
includingawards
awardsunder
underthe
the
• share
Group’sLTIP;
LTIP;and
and
Group’s
• pension
• p ensionarrangements
arrangements(all
(allofofwhich
whichare
are
defined
definedcontribution
contributionororcash
cashininlieu).
lieu).
We
Weconsider
considerit itimportant
importantthat
thata asignificant
significant
proportion
proportionofofthe
theexecutive
executiveand
andsenior
senior
management
managementteams’
teams’remuneration
remuneration
should
shouldbebeperformance
performancerelated
relatedwith
with
the
theobjective
objectiveofofenhancing
enhancingshareholder
shareholder
returns
returnsasaswell
wellasasthe
thelong-term
long-termfinancial
financial
health
healthand
andstability
stabilityofofthe
theCompany.
Company.This
This
includes,
includes,asasappropriate,
appropriate,the
theexploitation
exploitation
ofofGroup
Groupsynergies,
synergies,the
thedevelopment
developmentand
and
enhancement
enhancementofofour
ourpotential
potentialand
andexisting
existing
senior
seniormanagement
managementteam,
team,specific
specificunit
unit
performance
performanceand
andthe
theupholding
upholdingofofour
our
values
valuesand
andculture.
culture.Objectives
Objectivesforforindividuals
individuals
will
willvary
varydepending
dependingupon
upontheir
theirrole
rolewithin
within
the
theGroup
Groupbut
butweweconsider
considerthat
thata aconsistent,
consistent,
transparent
transparentremuneration
remunerationprogram
programbased
based
upon
uponcommon
commonprinciples
principlesis isimportant
importanttoto
ensure
ensurethat
thatoverall
overallGroup
Groupperformance
performanceand
and
shareholder
shareholdervalue
valueis isenhanced.
enhanced.

Share
SharePlans
Plans
The
TheCommittee
Committeeis isresponsible
responsibleforforthe
theadministration
administrationofofthe
the
Company’s
Company’sshare
shareplans,
plans,being
beingthe
theCompany’s
Company’semployee
employeeshare
share
option
optionplan
plan(CSOP)
(CSOP)and
anda along-term
long-termincentive
incentiveplan
plan(LTIP).
(LTIP).Where
Where
appropriate
appropriategrants
grantsunder
underthe
theCSOP
CSOPmight
mightalso
alsobebeutilised
utilisedalthough
althoughnone
none
have
havebeen
beenmade
madesince
sincethe
theCommittee’s
Committee’sestablishment
establishmentand
andnone
noneare
arecurrently
currently
envisaged.
envisaged.Policy
Policyregarding
regardingthe
theadministration
administrationofofgrants
grantsunder
underthese
theseplans
plansmay
maydevelop
develop
totoaccommodate
accommodatechanging
changingneeds
needsofofthe
theGroup.
Group.

Bonus
Bonus
During
Duringthe
theperiod
periodananannual
annualbonus
bonusplan
planwas
wasadopted
adoptedwhich
whichrecognises
recognisesthe
theemphasis
emphasisononrewarding
rewardingkey
keyGroup
Groupemployees
employeeswith
withcompetitive
competitive
performance
performancerelated
relatedremuneration.
remuneration.AAmaximum
maximumofof125%
125%ofofbase
basesalary
salarycan
canbebepaid
paidasasa abonus.
bonus.The
Theimplementation
implementationofofthis
thisplan
planremains
remainsunder
under
review
reviewand
andparticipation
participationis isbybyinvitation
invitationonly,
only,reflecting
reflectingboth
boththe
theinherited
inheritedcontractual
contractualterms
termsofofemployees
employeeswhere
whererelevant
relevantand
andour
ouremphasis
emphasisonon
performance.
performance.ItsItspurpose
purposeis istotoenable
enablethe
thesenior
seniormanagement
managementteam
teamtotoattract
attractand
andretain
retainkey
keyemployees
employeestotothe
theGroup
Groupinina acompetitive
competitivemarket
marketforfor
talent
talentwhilst
whilstensuring
ensuringthat
thatparticipants
participantsare
aresubject
subjecttotodemanding
demandingcriteria
criteriathat
thatbest
bestreflect
reflectthe
theinterests
interestsofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andthe
theCompany’s
Company’sshareholders.
shareholders.

Pensions
Pensions
Members
Membersofofthe
theGroup
Groupoperate
operateseveral
severaldefined
definedcontribution
contributionpension
pensionschemes.
schemes.InInaddition,
addition,there
thereis isananauto
autoenrolment
enrolmentGroup
Groupwide
widedefined
defined
contribution
contributionpension
pensionscheme.
scheme.Under
Underthese
theseschemes
schemescontributions
contributionsare
arebased
basedupon
uponbase
basesalary
salarywith
witha acontribution
contributionofof5%
5%per
peremployee
employeeand
and
3%
3%bybythe
theemployer.
employer.InIncertain
certaincases,
cases,the
theemployer’s
employer’sproportion
proportion(or(orcash
cashininlieu
lieuwhere
whereapplicable)
applicable)rise
risetoto7.5%
7.5%oror10%.
10%.
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Reportof
ofthe
the
Report
Remuneration
Remuneration
Committee
Committee

AnnualRemuneration
RemunerationReport
Report
Annual
Theinformation
informationononpages
pages4242and
and4343has
hasbeen
beenaudited.
audited.
The

Directors’Total
TotalRemuneration
Remuneration
Directors’
ExecutiveDirectors’
Directors’Remuneration
Remuneration
Executive
Eachindividual
individualexecutive
executiveDirectors’
Directors’total
totalremuneration
remunerationpaid
paidover
overthe
the
Each
periodbybyGroup
Groupmembers
membersisissummarised
summarisedbelow
belowtogether
togetherwith
withaatotal
total
period
comparisonforforthe
thefinancial
financialyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2020.
2020.
comparison

Bonus
Bonus
£’000
£’000

Pension
Pension
contributions
contributions
£’000
£’000

TotalYear
Year
Total
ended3131March
March
ended
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

TotalYear
Year
Total
ended3131March
March
ended
2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Executive
Executive
Director
Director

Salaryororfee
fee
Salary
£’000
£’000

Taxable
Taxable
benefits
benefits
£’000
£’000

AlanSimpson
Simpson
Alan

432
432

44

200
200

--

636
636

463
463

StuartOverend*
Overend*
Stuart

201
201

--

--

2121

222
222

341
341

StuartOverend
Overendpassed
passedaway
awayininNovember
November2020.
2020.
* *Stuart

Non-executiveDirectors’
Directors’Remuneration
Remuneration
Non-executive
Eachindividual
individualnon-executive
non-executiveDirectors’
Directors’total
totalremuneration
remunerationpaid
paidover
overthe
theperiod
periodbybyGroup
Groupmembers
membersisissummarised
summarisedbelow
belowtogether
togetherwith
witha a
Each
totalcomparison
comparisonforforthe
thefinancial
financialyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2020.
2020.No
Nosuch
suchchange
changeoccurred
occurredininthe
theperiod
periodsave
savethat
thatMrMrJohn
JohnRichards’
Richards’annual
annual
total
feewas
wasincreased
increasedduring
duringthe
theyear
yeartoto£100,000
£100,000from
from£75,000
£75,000ininrecognition
recognitionofofhishissignificant
significanton-going
on-goingtime
timecontribution
contributiontotothe
theGroup.
Group.
fee

Bonus
Bonus
£’000
£’000

Pension
Pension
contributions
contributions
£’000
£’000

TotalYear
Year
Total
ended3131March
March
ended
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

TotalYear
Year
Total
ended3131March
March
ended
2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Non-executive
Non-executive
Director
Director

Salaryororfee
fee
Salary
£’000
£’000

Taxable
Taxable
benefits
benefits
£’000
£’000

JohnRichards
Richards
John

8383

--

--

--

8383

5959

DavidSimpson
Simpson
David

5555

--

--

--

5555

3232

GilesBeale
Beale
Giles

5555

--

--

--

5555

3232

CliveNorman
Norman
Clive

5050

--

--

--

5050

2929

Directors’Loans
Loans
Directors’
Priortotothe
theCompany’s
Company’sIPO,
IPO,aaGroup
Groupcompany
companyprovided
providedaaloan
loantotoMrMrOverend
Overendofof£838,584
£838,584and
andtotoMrMrRichards
Richardsofof£139,764
£139,764toto
Prior
purchaseshares
sharesininthe
theGroup
Groupasasdisclosed
disclosedininthe
theCompany’s
Company’sadmission
admissiondocument.
document.Each
Eachloan
loanisisunsecured
unsecuredand
andinterest
interestfree
freeand
and
purchase
repayableononthe
thesale
saleofofthe
therelevant
relevantshares
sharesininthe
theCompany.
Company.
repayable

Directors’Interest
InterestininShares
Shares
Directors’
Thebeneficial
beneficialinterests
interestsofofDirectors,
Directors,and
andpersons
personsconnected
connectedwith
withthem,
them,asasatat3131March
March2021
2021ininthe
theordinary
ordinaryshares
sharesofofthe
theCompany
Company
The
(excludingshare
shareoptions)
options)were
wereare
arefollows:
follows:
(excluding
Heldatat3131March
March2020
2020
Held

Acquiredininthe
theyear
year
Acquired

Heldatat3131March
March2021
2021
Held

AlanSimpson
Simpson
Alan

50,453,504
50,453,504

--

50,453,504
50,453,504

JohnRichards
Richards
John

5,919,733
5,919,733

--

5,919,733
5,919,733

CliveNorman
Norman
Clive

5,567,871
5,567,871

--

5,567,871
5,567,871

DavidSimpson
Simpson
David

151,500
151,500

--

151,500
151,500

4242

Since
Since3131March
March2021,
2021,the
thefollowing
followingdirectors,
directors,and
andpersons
personsconnected
connectedwith
withthem,
them,have
havesold
soldshares
sharesininthe
therecent
recentoversubscribed
oversubscribed
fundraise
fundraiseand
andshare
shareplacement.
placement.Their
Theirholdings
holdingsasasatat44August
August2021
2021are
areasasfollows:
follows:
Held
Heldatat3131March
March2021
2021

Sold
Sold

Held
Heldatat44August
August2021
2021

Alan
AlanSimpson
Simpson

50,453,504
50,453,504

17,007,146
17,007,146

33,446,358
33,446,358

John
JohnRichards
Richards

5,919,733
5,919,733

1,872,048
1,872,048

4,047,685
4,047,685

Clive
CliveNorman
Norman

5,567,871
5,567,871

1,760,775
1,760,775

3,807,096
3,807,096

Share
SharePlans
Plans- -LTIP
LTIP
Stuart
StuartOverend
Overend

Date
DateofofAward
Award

Number
NumberofofShares
Shares

Face
Facevalue
valueatatgrant
grant
(£000)
(£000)

%%ofofsalary
salary

End
Endofofthree-year
three-year
performance
performanceperiod
period

16/11/20
16/11/20

747,283
747,283

560
560

125
125

01/10/23
01/10/23

Face
Facevalue
valueofofawards
awardsatatthe
thedate
dateofofgrant
grantisiscalculated
calculatedbased
basedononthe
theclosing
closingshare
shareprice
priceofof75p
75pper
perordinary
ordinaryshare.
share.
The
Theoptions
optionsare
areexercisable
exercisableatatthe
thenominal
nominalprice
priceofof£0.01
£0.01and
andhave
havevesting
vestingconditions
conditionstied
tiedtotoadjusted
adjustedEBITDA
EBITDAand
andtotal
totalshareholder
shareholder
return,
return,with
witheach
eachaward
awardsplit
splitequally
equallybetween
betweenthe
thetwo
twoperformance
performanceconditions.
conditions.Vesting
Vestingwill
willoccur
occurononaastraight-line
straight-linebasis
basisonon
achieving
achieving18%
18%(equivalent
(equivalenttoto6%
6%annually)
annually)toto30%
30%(equivalent
(equivalenttoto10%
10%annually)
annually)ofofthe
therelevant
relevantperformance
performancecondition
conditionover
overthe
the
performance
performanceperiod.
period.There
Thereisisnonovesting
vestingif ifthe
therelevant
relevanttarget
targetisisnot
notmet
metbut
butaa50%
50%vesting
vestingif ifthe
theinitial
initial18%
18%hurdle
hurdleisismet
metwith
withaa
proportionate
proportionateadditional
additionalvesting
vestingupuptoto100%
100%atatthe
the30%
30%threshold
thresholdbeing
beingmet.
met.
Following
FollowingMrMrOverend’s
Overend’sdeath
deathininNovember
November2020,
2020,the
theCommittee
Committeeagreed
agreedthat
thatupuptotoaathird
thirdofofhishisshares
shareswould
wouldvest,
vest,should
shouldthe
the
performance
performanceconditions
conditionsbebemet
metover
overaa1212month
monthperformance
performanceperiod
periodtoto1 October
1 October2021.
2021.
Grants
Grantsunder
underthe
theLTIP
LTIPare
arethe
thesubject
subjectofofdiscretionary
discretionarygood/bad
good/badleaver
leaverprovisions
provisionsand
andmalus
malusand
andclawback
clawbackarrangements.
arrangements.

Share
SharePlans
Plans- -CSOP
CSOP
Stuart
StuartOverend*
Overend*

Date
DateofofAward
Award

Number
NumberofofShares
Shares

Forfeited
Forfeitedduring
during
the
theyear
year

Exercised
Exercised

Balance
Balanceatat
3131March
March2021
2021

02/08/19
02/08/19

72,443
72,443

(41,283)
(41,283)

--

31,160
31,160

*Stuart
*StuartOverend
Overendpassed
passedaway
awayininNovember
November2020
2020and
andhishisawards
awardswere
werepro-rated
pro-ratedaccordingly
accordinglyduring
duringthe
theyear.
year.
The
TheCSOP
CSOPwas
wasadopted
adoptedonon2 2August
August2019.
2019.Options
Optionsare
areexercisable
exercisableatatananexercise
exercise
price
priceofof41p
41pbetween
betweenthe
thethird
thirdand
andtenth
tenthanniversary
anniversaryofofthe
thegrant
grantsubject
subjecttotothe
the
participant
participantremaining
remainingananemployee
employeebut
butare
arenot
notsubject
subjecttotoperformance
performance
conditions.
conditions.Under
Underthe
theterms
termsofofthe
thescheme,
scheme,MrMrOverend’s
Overend’s
pro-rated
pro-ratedoptions
optionsare
areexercisable
exercisableforforaaperiod
periodofofupuptoto
1212months
monthsfollowing
followinghishisdeath.
death.
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Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy was created and approved at the Company’s IPO in August 2019 and has been carried through
to this financial year. The tables below summarise the key elements of the policy.

Purpose and link to
strategy

44

Operation

Maximum potential value

Performance conditions

Base salary
The provision of a
competitive, fixed salary
that attracts and retains
key individuals reflecting
their experience and role.

To be reviewed on an annual basis having
regard to our competitors, industry and needs
as well as pay levels elsewhere within the
Group, its size and complexity.

Total salaries paid during the
period are set out on page
42. Changes in the scope
of responsibilities or role may
require an adjustment to
salary levels.

Assessment of personal and
corporate performance.

Benefits
To provide market benefits
on a cost-effective basis.

A car allowance, private medical insurance,
death in service insurance and reimbursement
for reasonable business expenses. Other
benefits may be offered in line with market
practice if it is considered appropriate to do so.

The maximum potential value
is the cost to the Company in
providing these benefits.

Not applicable.

Pension
To assist executive
Directors in providing
for retirement where this
is considered an aid in
attracting and retaining
the individual.

Our policy is to provide a contribution (or cash
allowance in lieu) to a personal pension plan
as a capped proportion of basic salary if it is
considered appropriate to do so.

The Chief Executive Officer
does not receive a pension
contribution or allowance.
The Chief Financial Officer
receives a cash allowance
in lieu equal to 7.5% of his
basic salary.

Not applicable.

Annual bonus
To recognise an executive’s
achievement of annual
objectives that support
the Group’s strategy and
financial well-being.

The current performance targets were
adopted during the period but the current
financial year will be the first year of the current
plan’s implementation.

Each executive Director is
entitled to receive a cash
bonus of up to 125% of basic
salary on the attainment of
performance objectives.

The Remuneration Committee
reviews performance
measures annually.

Share plans
To encourage value
creation by way of share
price growth through the
delivery of shares.
The purpose of the LTIP
is to provide meaningful
awards based upon
demanding performance
criteria that provide a
significant incentive to
grantees that is aligned
with our shareholders’
interests.

Grants may not normally exceed 200% of the
grantee’s base salary.

Subject to exercise or vesting,
the market value of the shares
that are the subject of the
grant less any cost payable
by the grantee on exercise
or vesting. Under the LTIP,
a grantee maybe entitled to
a dividend equivalent to the
value of dividends paid on
a vested share had it been
in issue from the date of
the grant.

Options granted under the Company
share plans may be subject to
performance conditions. Options
granted under the LTIP during the
period are all subject to performance
conditions detailed below. No options
under the CSOP were granted during
the period.

Grants are the subject of discretionary good
leaver/bad leaver provisions and, in the case of
the LTIP, malus and clawback provisions.
Further details of the share plans and their
operation are set out on page 43 and in note 36
of the financial statements.

Our policy for grants under the
LTIP is that they are the subject
of performance conditions which
will be measured over a three-year
period. Performance conditions are
divided equally between two metrics;
compound annual growth in adjusted
EBITDA and compound annual
growth in total shareholder return.

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration
The table below summarises the key elements for the period of our non-executive Directors’ remuneration.
Maximum potential
value

Performance
conditions

Non-executive fees are reviewed on a periodic basis. Fees
payable to non-executives are a matter for the Chairman
(save in respect of his own fee) and executive members of
the Board.

Fees paid during the
period are set out on
page 42.

Assessment of
personal and
corporate
performance.

Reimbursement for reasonable business expenses.

The maximum potential
value is the cost to the
Company in providing
these benefits.

Not applicable.

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Base fee
To provide competitive fixed fees
so as to (a) procure and retain the
appropriate skills and experience
required and (b) expected time
commitment. Additional fees are
incorporated for those performing
duties in a Committee Chair role.
Benefits and incentives
The provision of market benefits
on a cost-effective basis.

John Richards and Giles Beale are covered under the
Group’s death in service insurance plan.
Save as noted above, non-executives do not receive any
benefits provided to Group employees or otherwise. No
non-executive Director participates in any bonus, incentive
or share plan provided by the Group.

By order of the Board
Giles Beale
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
4 August 2021
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Reportof
ofthe
theDirectors
Directors
Report
TheDirectors
Directorshave
havepleasure
pleasureininpresenting
presentingtheir
theirAnnual
AnnualReport,
Report,together
togetherwith
withthe
theaudited
auditedfinancial
financialstatements
statementsofofthe
theCompany,
Company,forforthe
the
The
yearended
ended3131March
March2021.
2021.The
TheCorporate
CorporateGovernance
GovernanceStatement
Statementsetsetout
outononpages
pages3434and
and3535forms
formspart
partofofthis
thisreport.
report.
year
TheCompany
Companyisisa apublic
publiclimited
limitedcompany,
company,registered
registeredininEngland
Englandand
andWales,
Wales,with
withregistered
registerednumber
number11123804
11123804and
andisislisted
listedononthe
the
The
AlternateInvestment
InvestmentMarket
Marketsegment
segmentofofthe
theLondon
LondonStock
StockExchange.
Exchange.The
TheCompany
Companyhas
hasbeen
beenpermanently
permanentlydomiciled
domiciledininthe
theUK
UKsince
since
Alternate
incorporationand
andisisthe
theultimate
ultimateparent
parentcompany
companyofofthe
theBrickability
BrickabilityGroup.
Group.
incorporation
TheDirectors’
Directors’Report
Reportcomprises
comprisespages
pages4646toto4949and
andthe
thefollowing
followingcross-referenced
cross-referencedmaterial
materialisisincorporated
incorporatedinto
intothis
thisDirectors’
Directors’Report:
Report:
The
FutureDevelopment
Developmentofofthe
theBusiness
Business– –pages
pages66toto1515
Future
GoingConcern
ConcernStatement
Statement– –pages
pages2626and
and2727
Going
People,culture,
culture,and
andemployee
employeeengagement
engagement– –pages
pages2828and
and2929
People,
Healthand
andSafety
Safety– –pages
pages99and
and2828
Health
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Environmentalpolicy,
policy,including
includingGreenhouse
GreenhouseGas
Gas
Environmental
Emissions– –page
page2929
Emissions
StakeholderEngagement
Engagement– –pages
pages22,
22,2323and
and2929
Stakeholder
GovernanceReport
Report– –pages
pages3434and
and3535
Governance
StatementofofDirectors’
Directors’Responsibilities
Responsibilities– –page
page5050
Statement

Directors
Directors

Review
Reviewofofthe
theBusiness
Business
The
TheStrategic
Strategicreport
reportononpages
pages44toto2929provides
providesanan
operating
operatingand
andfinancial
financialreview
reviewofofthe
thebusiness
businessand
andthe
the
Group’
s strading
Group’
tradingforforthe
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021
2021asas
well
wellasasrisk
riskmanagement.
management.

Dividends
Dividends
The
TheDirectors
Directorsrecommend
recommenda afinal
finaldividend
dividendforforthe
theyear
year
ofof1.0850p
1.0850pper
pershare
sharepayable
payableonon2323September
September2021
2021
(2020:
(2020:1.0850p).
1.0850p).AnAninterim
interimdividend
dividendofof0.8678p
0.8678pper
pershares
shares
was
waspaid
paidduring
duringonon2525February
February2021
2021(2020:
(2020:0.8678p).
0.8678p).

The
Thecurrent
currentDirectors
Directorsofofthe
theCompany
Companyare
arelisted
listedononpages
pages3030and
and3131
together
togetherwith
withtheir
theirbiographical
biographicaland
andCommittee
Committeemembership
membershipdetails.
details.
AllAllofofthe
theDirectors
Directorsserved
servedthroughout
throughoutthe
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021
2021
with
withthe
theexception
exceptionofofMike
MikeGant
Gantwho
whowas
wasappointed
appointedtotothe
theBoard
Boardafter
after
the
theyear
yearend
endonon3030April
April2021.
2021.Stuart
StuartOverend
Overendserved
servedasasa aDirector
Directorofof
the
theCompany
Companyfrom
from1 April
1 April2020
2020until
untilhishisdeath
deathonon1616November
November2020.
2020.
Directors’
Directors’remuneration,
remuneration,share
shareoptions,
options,long-term
long-termexecutive
executiveplans,
plans,
pension
pensioncontributions,
contributions,benefits
benefitsand
andinterests
interestsare
aresetsetout
outininthe
the
Directors’
Directors’remuneration
remunerationreport
reportononpages
pages3939toto45.
45.
InInaccordance
accordancewith
withour
ourcommitment
commitmenttotogood
goodcorporate
corporate
governance
governancepractice
practicethat
thatisisrelevant
relevanttotoour
ourbusiness,
business,the
theBoard
Board
has
hasvoluntarily
voluntarilyadopted
adoptedthe
thepolicy
policythat
thatallallcontinuing
continuingDirectors
Directorswill
will
stand
standforforre-election
re-electionononananannual
annualbasis
basisininline
linewith
withbest
bestpractice
practice
recommendations.
recommendations.
The
s articles
TheCompany’
Company’
s articlesofofassociation
associationallow
allowthe
theindemnification
indemnificationofof
Directors
Directorsout
outofofthe
theassets
assetsofofthe
theCompany
Companytotothe
theextent
extentpermitted
permittedbyby
law.
law.These
Theseindemnities
indemnitiescame
cameinto
intoforce
forceonon2929August
August2019
2019and
andremain
remain
ininforce
forceasasatatthe
thedate
dateofofthis
thisAnnual
AnnualReport
Reportand
andAccounts.
Accounts.
The
TheCompany
Companymaintains
maintainsliability
liabilityinsurance
insuranceforforitsitsDirectors
Directorsand
andOfficers.
Officers.

Share
ShareCapital
Capitaland
andSubstantial
SubstantialShareholdings
Shareholdings
Full
Fulldetails
detailsofofthe
theissued
issuedshare
sharecapital
capitalofofthe
theCompany
Companyare
aresetsetout
outininnote
note3434totothe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsononpage
page105.
105.AtAt2727July
July2021,
2021,
the
thelatest
latestpracticable
practicabledate
dateprior
priortotothe
theapproval
approvalofofthis
thisreport,
report,the
theCompany
Companyhad
hadbeen
beennotified
notifiedofofthe
thefollowing
followinginterests
interestsamounting
amounting
toto3%
3%orormore
moreofofthe
thevoting
votingrights
rightsattaching
attachingtotothe
theCompany’s
Company’sissued
issuedshare
sharecapital:
capital:

9.96%
9.96% 8.04%
8.04% 6.71%
6.71% 4.22%
4.22%
29.694,391
29.694,391

30,798,898
30,798,898

20,007,298
20,007,298

12,602,900
12,602,900

Liontrust
LiontrustAsset
AssetManagement
Management

Alan
AlanJonathan
JonathanSimpson
Simpson

Paul
PaulMichael
MichaelHamilton
Hamilton

Otus
OtusCapital
CapitalManagement
Management

4.11%
4.11% 3.35%
3.35% 3.
3.118%
8%
12,261,560
12,261,560

10,000,000
10,000,000

9,475,902
9,475,902

Octopus
OctopusInvestments
Investments
Nominees
Nominees

Arnold
ArnoldBernard
Bernard
Geradus
Geradusvan
vanHuet
Huet

Sarah
SarahSimpson
Simpson
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SignificantAgreements
Agreements
Significant
(ChangeofofControl)
Control)
(Change
TheCompany
Companyisisrequired
requiredtotodisclose
discloseany
any
The
significantagreements
agreementsthat
thattake
takeeffect,
effect,alter
alteroror
significant
terminateononaachange
changeofofcontrol
controlofofthe
theCompany
Company
terminate
followingaatakeover
takeoverbid.
bid.
following
TheCompany
Companyhas
hascommitted
committeddebt
debtfacilities
facilitiesallallofof
The
whichare
aredirectly
directlyororindirectly
indirectlysubject
subjecttotochange
change
which
controlprovisions,
provisions,albeit
albeitthat
thatthe
thefacilities
facilitiesdodo
ofofcontrol
notnecessarily
necessarilyrequire
requiremandatory
mandatoryrepayment
repaymentonon
not
changeofofcontrol.
control.InInthe
theevent
eventofofaatakeover
takeoveroror
aachange
otherchange
changeofofcontrol
controloutstanding
outstandingawards
awardsunder
under
other
theGroup
Groupshare
shareplans
planswill
willbecome
becomeexercisable.
exercisable.
the

EqualOpportunities
Opportunities
Equal
TheGroup
Groupisiscommitted
committedtotoeliminating
eliminating
The
discriminationand
andencouraging
encouragingdiversity.
diversity.ItsIts
discrimination
aimisisthat
thateach
eachemployee
employeeisisable
abletotoperform
performtoto
aim
thebest
bestofoftheir
theirability.
ability.The
TheGroup
Groupwill
willnot
notmake
make
the
assumptionsabout
aboutaaperson’
person’
abilitytotocarry
carry
assumptions
s sability
outtheir
theirwork,
work,forforexample
exampleonontheir
theirethnic
ethnicorigin,
origin,
out
gender,sexual
sexualorientation,
orientation,marital
maritalstatus,
status,religion
religion
gender,
beliefs,age
ageorordisability.
disability.
ororbeliefs,

DisabledEmployees
Employees
Disabled
theevent
eventofofananemployee
employeebecoming
becomingdisabled,
disabled,
InInthe
everyeffort
effortisismade
madetotoretain
retainthem
themininorder
orderthat
that
every
theiremployment
employmentwith
withthe
theGroup
Groupmay
maycontinue.
continue.
their
thepolicy
policyofofthe
theGroup
Groupthat
thattraining,
training,career
career
It Itisisthe
developmentand
andpromotion
promotionopportunities
opportunitiesshould
should
development
availabletotoallallemployees.
employees.
bebeavailable

Politicaland
andCharitable
CharitableDonations
Donations
Political
Donationsofof£4,899
£4,899were
weremade
madebybythe
the
Donations
Groupforforcharitable
charitablepurposes
purposesduring
duringthe
theyear
year
Group
(2020:£14,283).
£14,283).The
TheGroup
Groupdoes
doesnot
notmake
make
(2020:
politicaldonations.
donations.Further
Furtherdetails
detailsononour
our
political
charitableinitiatives
initiativesare
aregiven
givenononpage
page29.
29.
charitable

Researchand
andDevelopment
Development
Research
TheGroup
Groupcarries
carriesout
outresearch
researchand
anddevelopment
development
The
relationtotothe
thedesign
designand
anddevelopment
developmentofof
ininrelation
technologiesand
andprocesses
processesininconnection
connectionwith
with
technologies
productsand
andservices.
services.
itsitsproducts
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Financial
FinancialRisk
RiskManagement
Management
Information
Informationininrespect
respectofofthe
thefinancial
financialrisk
riskmanagement
managementofofthe
theGroup,
Group,
isiscontained
containedononpage
page9595ininnote
note2828ononborrowings
borrowingsand
andononpages
pages100
100toto
105
105ininnote
note3333ononfinancial
financialinstruments
instrumentsofofthe
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.

Related
RelatedParty
PartyTransactions
Transactions
Any
Anyrelated
relatedparty
partytransactions
transactionsrequired
requiredtotobebedisclosed
disclosedunder
underthe
the
AIM
AIMrules
rulesare
aredisclosed
disclosedononpages
pages109
109toto111111ininnote
note3838totothe
the
Financial
FinancialStatements.
Statements.

Modern
ModernSlavery
SlaveryAct
Act
Our
Ouranti-slavery
anti-slaverypolicy,
policy,which
whichsets
setsout
outour
ourcommitment
commitmenttoto
preventing
preventingmodern
modernslavery
slaveryand
andhuman
humantrafficking
traffickingfrom
fromoccurring
occurringwithin
within
any
anypart
partofofour
ourbusiness
businessand
andsupply
supplychain,
chain,isisavailable
availableononour
ourwebsite
website
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.

Statement,
Statement,asastotoDisclosure
DisclosureofofInformation
InformationtotoAuditors
Auditors
The
TheDirectors
Directorsininoffice
officeonon44August
August2021
2021have
haveconfirmed
confirmedthat,
that,asasfarfarasas
they
theyare
areaware,
aware,there
thereisisnonorelevant
relevantaudit
auditinformation
informationofofwhich
whichthe
theauditor
auditor
isisunaware.
unaware.Each
Eachofofthe
theDirectors
Directorshave
haveconfirmed
confirmedthat
thatthey
theyhave
havetaken
taken
allallsteps
stepsthat
thatthey
theyought
oughttotohave
havetaken
takenasasDirectors
Directorsininorder
ordertotomake
make
themselves
themselvesaware
awareofofany
anyrelevant
relevantaudit
auditinformation
informationand
andtotoestablish
establish
that
thatit ithas
hasbeen
beencommunicated
communicatedtotothe
theauditor.
auditor.

Post
PostBalance
BalanceSheet
SheetEvents
Events
Particulars
Particularsofofevents
eventsafter
afterthe
thereporting
reportingperiod
periodare
aredetailed
detailedinin
note
note3939totothe
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.

Annual
AnnualGeneral
GeneralMeeting
Meeting
The
TheAGM
AGMwill
willbebeheld
heldonon7 7September
September2021
2021atat11am
11amatatQueensgate
Queensgate
House,
House,Cookham
CookhamRoad,
Road,Bracknell,
Bracknell,Berkshire,
Berkshire,RG12
RG121RB.
1RB.The
The2021
2021
Notice
NoticeofofAGM
AGMwill
willbebeavailable
availableononthe
theCompany’s
Company’swebsite,
website,
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.
www.brickabilitygroupplc.com.
This
ThisDirectors’
Directors’report
reportwas
wasapproved
approvedbybythe
theBoard
BoardofofDirectors
Directorsonon
44August
August2021.
2021.
ByByorder
orderofofthe
theBoard
Board

Prism
PrismCosec
CosecLimited
Limited
Company
CompanySecretary
Secretary
44August
August2021
2021
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Statementof
ofDirectors’
Directors’Responsibilities
Responsibilities
Statement
TheDirectors
Directorsare
areresponsible
responsiblefor
forpreparing
preparingthe
theAnnual
AnnualReport
Reportand
andthe
the
The
Groupand
andParent
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements
statementsininaccordance
accordancewith
with
Group
applicablelaw
lawand
andregulations.
regulations.
applicable
Companylaw
lawrequires
requiresthe
theDirectors
Directorstotoprepare
prepareGroup
Groupand
and
Company
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements
statementsforforeach
eachfinancial
financialyear.
year.
Parent
requiredbybythe
theAIM
AIMRules
Rulesofofthe
theLondon
LondonStock
StockExchange,
Exchange,
AsAsrequired
theyare
arerequired
requiredtotoprepare
preparethe
theGroup
Groupfinancial
financialstatements
statements
they
accordancewith
withinternational
internationalaccounting
accountingstandards
standardsinin
ininaccordance

conformitywith
withthe
therequirements
requirementsofofthe
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006
2006
conformity
andapplicable
applicablelaw.
law.The
TheDirectors
Directorshave
haveelected
electedtotoprepare
prepare
and
theParent
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements
statementsunder
underthe
theFRS
FRS101
101
the
ReducedDisclosure
DisclosureFramework.
Framework.
Reduced

UnderCompany
Companylaw,
law,the
theDirectors
Directorsmust
mustnot
notapprove
approvethe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsunless
unlessthey
theyare
aresatisfied
satisfiedthat
thatthey
theygive
giveaatrue
true
Under
andfair
fairview
viewofofthe
thestate
stateofofaffairs
affairsofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andParent
ParentCompany
Companyand
andofoftheir
theirprofit
profitororloss
lossfor
forthat
thatperiod.
period.
and
preparingeach
eachofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andParent
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements,
statements,the
theDirectors
Directorsare
arerequired
requiredto:
to:
InInpreparing
• select
• selectsuitable
suitableaccounting
accountingpolicies
policiesand
andthen
thenapply
applythem
themconsistently;
consistently;
• make
• makejudgements
judgementsand
andestimates
estimatesthat
thatare
arereasonable,
reasonable,relevant
relevantand
andreliable;
reliable;
• state
• statewhether
whetherthey
theyhave
havebeen
beenprepared
preparedininaccordance
accordancewith
withinternational
internationaland
andUK
UKaccounting
accountingstandards;
standards;
• assess
• assessthe
theGroup
Groupand
andParent
ParentCompany’s
Company’sability
abilitytotocontinue
continueasasaagoing
goingconcern,
concern,disclosing,
disclosing,asasapplicable,
applicable,
matters
mattersrelated
relatedtotogoing
goingconcern;
concern;and
and
• usethe
thegoing
goingconcern
concernbasis
basisofofaccounting
accountingunless
unlessthey
theyeither
eitherintend
intendtotoliquidate
liquidatethe
theGroup
Groupororthe
theParent
Parent
• use
Companyorortotocease
ceaseoperations
operationsororhave
havenonorealistic
realisticalternative
alternativebut
buttotododoso.
so.
Company
TheDirectors
Directorsare
areresponsible
responsibleforforkeeping
keepingadequate
adequateaccounting
accounting
The
recordsthat
thatare
aresufficient
sufficienttotoshow
showand
andexplain
explainthe
theParent
Parent
records
Company’stransactions
transactionsand
anddisclose
disclosewith
withreasonable
reasonableaccuracy
accuracy
Company’s
anytime
timethe
thefinancial
financialposition
positionofofthe
theParent
ParentCompany
Companyand
and
atatany
enablethem
themtotoensure
ensurethat
thatitsitsfinancial
financialstatements
statementscomply
complywith
with
enable
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006.
2006.They
Theyare
areresponsible
responsibleforforsuch
suchinternal
internal
the
controlasasthey
theydetermine
determineisisnecessary
necessarytotoenable
enablethe
thepreparation
preparation
control
financialstatements
statementsthat
thatare
arefree
freefrom
frommaterial
materialmisstatement,
misstatement,
ofoffinancial
whetherdue
duetotofraud
fraudororerror,
error,and
andhave
havegeneral
generalresponsibility
responsibilityforfor
whether
takingsuch
suchsteps
stepsasasare
arereasonably
reasonablyopen
opentotothem
themtotosafeguard
safeguard
taking
orderofofthe
theBoard
Board
ByByorder

AlanSimpson
Simpson
Alan
ChiefExecutive
Executive
Chief

August2021
2021
44August
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MikeGant
Gant
Mike
ChiefFinancial
FinancialOfficer
Officer
Chief

theassets
assetsofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andtotoprevent
preventand
anddetect
detectfraud
fraudand
and
the
otherirregularities.
irregularities.
other
Underapplicable
applicablelaw
lawand
andregulations,
regulations,the
theDirectors
Directorsare
arealso
also
Under
responsibleforforpreparing
preparingaaStrategic
StrategicReport
Reportand
andaaDirectors’
Directors’
responsible
Reportthat
thatcomplies
complieswith
withthat
thatlaw
lawand
andthose
thoseregulations.
regulations.
Report
TheDirectors
Directorsare
areresponsible
responsibleforforthe
themaintenance
maintenanceand
andintegrity
integrity
The
thecorporate
corporateand
andfinancial
financialinformation
informationincluded
includedononthe
the
ofofthe
Company’swebsite.
website.Legislation
Legislationininthe
theUK
UKgoverning
governingthe
the
Company’s
preparationand
anddissemination
disseminationofoffinancial
financialstatements
statementsmay
maydiffer
differ
preparation
fromlegislation
legislationininother
otherjurisdictions.
jurisdictions.
from

Independent
IndependentAuditor’s
Auditor’sReport
Report
to
tothe
themembers
membersof
ofBrickability
BrickabilityGroup
GroupPLC
PLC
Opinion
Opinionononthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statements
InInour
ouropinion:
opinion:
• t•he
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsgive
givea atrue
trueand
andfair
fairview
viewofofthe
thestate
state
ofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’sand
andofofthe
theParent
ParentCompany’s
Company’saffairs
affairsasasatat3131
March
March2021
2021and
andofofthe
theGroup’s
Group’sprofit
profitforforthe
theyear
yearthen
thenended;
ended;
• t•he
theGroup
Groupfinancial
financialstatements
statementshave
havebeen
beenproperly
properly
prepared
preparedininaccordance
accordancewith
withinternational
internationalaccounting
accounting
standards
standardsininconformity
conformitywith
withthe
therequirements
requirementsofofthe
the
Companies
CompaniesAct
Act2006;
2006;

• t•he
theParent
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements
statementshave
havebeen
been
properly
properlyprepared
preparedininaccordance
accordancewith
withUnited
UnitedKingdom
Kingdom
Generally
GenerallyAccepted
AcceptedAccounting
AccountingPractice;
Practice;and
and
• t•he
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementshave
havebeen
beenprepared
preparedininaccordance
accordance
with
withthe
therequirements
requirementsofofthe
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006.
2006.

We
Wehave
haveaudited
auditedthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsofofBrickability
BrickabilityGroup
GroupPlcPlc(the
(the‘Parent
‘ParentCompany’)
Company’)and
anditsitssubsidiaries
subsidiaries(the
(the‘Group’)
‘Group’)forfor
the
theyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021
2021which
whichcomprise
comprisethe
theConsolidated
ConsolidatedStatement
StatementofofProfit
ProfitororLoss
Lossand
andOther
OtherComprehensive
ComprehensiveIncome,
Income,
the
theConsolidated
ConsolidatedBalance
BalanceSheet,
Sheet,the
theCompany
CompanyBalance
BalanceSheet,
Sheet,the
theConsolidated
ConsolidatedStatement
StatementofofChanges
ChangesininEquity,
Equity,the
theCompany
Company
Statement
StatementofofChanges
ChangesininEquity,
Equity,the
theConsolidated
ConsolidatedStatement
StatementofofCash
CashFlows
Flowsand
andnotes
notestotothe
thefinancial
financialstatements,
statements,including
includingaa
summary
summaryofofsignificant
significantaccounting
accountingpolicies.
policies.
The
Thefinancial
financialreporting
reportingframework
frameworkthat
thathas
hasbeen
beenapplied
appliedininthe
thepreparation
preparationofofthe
theGroup
Groupfinancial
financialstatements
statementsisisapplicable
applicablelaw
law
and
andinternational
internationalaccounting
accountingstandards
standardsininconformity
conformitywith
withthe
therequirements
requirementsofofthe
theCompanies
CompaniesAct
Act2006.
2006.The
Thefinancial
financialreporting
reporting
framework
frameworkthat
thathas
hasbeen
beenapplied
appliedininthe
thepreparation
preparationofofthe
theParent
ParentCompany
Companyfinancial
financialstatements
statementsisisapplicable
applicablelaw
lawand
andUnited
United
Kingdom
KingdomAccounting
AccountingStandards,
Standards,including
includingFinancial
FinancialReporting
ReportingStandard
Standard101
101Reduced
ReducedDisclosure
DisclosureFramework
Framework(United
(UnitedKingdom
Kingdom
Generally
GenerallyAccepted
AcceptedAccounting
AccountingPractice).
Practice).
Basis
Basisfor
foropinion
opinion
We
Weconducted
conductedour
ouraudit
auditininaccordance
accordancewith
withInternational
InternationalStandards
StandardsononAuditing
Auditing(UK)
(UK)(ISAs
(ISAs(UK))
(UK))and
andapplicable
applicablelaw.
law.Our
Our
responsibilities
s responsibilities
responsibilitiesunder
underthose
thosestandards
standardsare
arefurther
furtherdescribed
describedininthe
theAuditor’
Auditor’
s responsibilitiesforforthe
theaudit
auditofofthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementssection
section
ofofour
ourreport.
report.We
Webelieve
believethat
thatthe
theaudit
auditevidence
evidencewewehave
haveobtained
obtainedisissufficient
sufficientand
andappropriate
appropriatetotoprovide
provideaabasis
basisforforour
ouropinion.
opinion.

Independence
Independence
We
Weremain
remainindependent
independentofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andthe
theParent
ParentCompany
Companyininaccordance
accordance
with
withthe
theethical
ethicalrequirements
requirementsthat
thatare
arerelevant
relevanttotoour
ouraudit
auditofofthe
thefinancial
financial
statements
s sEthical
statementsininthe
theUK,
UK,including
includingthe
theFRC’
FRC’
EthicalStandard
Standardasas
applied
appliedtotolisted
listedentities,
entities,and
andwewehave
havefulfilled
fulfilledour
ourother
otherethical
ethical
responsibilities
responsibilitiesininaccordance
accordancewith
withthese
theserequirements.
requirements.
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Independent
IndependentAuditor’s
Auditor’sReport
Report
to
tothe
themembers
membersof
ofBrickability
BrickabilityGroup
GroupPLC
PLC
Conclusionsrelating
relatingtotogoing
goingconcern
concern
Conclusions
auditingthe
thefinancial
financialstatements,
statements,wewehave
haveconcluded
concludedthat
thatthe
theDirectors’
Directors’use
useofofthe
thegoing
goingconcern
concernbasis
basisofofaccounting
accountingininthe
the
InInauditing
preparationofofthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsisisappropriate.
appropriate.Our
Ourevaluation
evaluationofofthe
theDirectors’
Directors’assessment
assessmentofofthe
theGroup
Groupand
andthe
theParent
Parent
preparation
Company’sability
abilitytotocontinue
continuetotoadopt
adoptthe
thegoing
goingconcern
concernbasis
basisofofaccounting
accountingincluded:
included:
Company’s
Weobtained
obtainedthe
thegoing
goingconcern
concernassessment,
assessment,approved
approvedbyby
We
theDirectors,
Directors,including
includingdetailed
detailedcash
cashflow
flowforecasts
forecastsupuptoto
the
least1212months
monthsafter
afterthe
thedate
dateofofapproval
approvalofofthese
these
atatleast
financialstatements.
statements.
financial
Weassessed
assessedthe
theDirectors’
Directors’assumptions
assumptionsininthe
thegoing
goingconcern
concern
We
forecastincluding
includingrevenue
revenueand
andgrowth
growthprofiles,
profiles,profit
profit
forecast
margin,Coronavirus
Coronavirusrisk
riskassessment
assessmentand
andfunding
fundingheadroom
headroom
margin,
availability.We
Weperformed
performedthis
thiswith
withreference
referencetotoavailable
available
availability.
marketdata,
data,reviewed
reviewedthe
theforecasts
forecastsforforany
anyanomalies
anomaliesand
and
market
investigatedunusual
unusuallarge
largecash
cashpayments
paymentsthat
thatwould
wouldaffect
affect
investigated
profitmargins
marginsand
andassessed
assessedactual
actualtrading
tradingperformance
performance
profit
duringthe
theCoronavirus
Coronaviruspandemic
pandemicand
andhow
howthis
thiswas
was
during
incorporatedinto
intofuture
futureprojections.
projections.
incorporated
Weassessed
assessedthe
thehistorical
historicalaccuracy
accuracyofofthe
theDirectors
Directorsforecasts,
forecasts,
We
includingcomparing
comparingthe
thecurrent
currentforecasts
forecastsagainst
againstpost
postyear
year
including
endactual
actualresults.
results.
end
Weinspected
inspectedthe
theGroup’s
Group’ssigned
signedrevolving
revolvingfacility
facilityagreements
agreements
We
checkthat
thatthe
theGroup
Grouphas
hassufficient
sufficientfunds
fundsto:to:settle
settle
totocheck
thedeferred
deferredconsideration
considerationdue
dueofof£4.5m
£4.5m(note
(note27)
27)forfor
the
acquisitionsmade
madeininthe
theprior
prioryear
yearasaswell
wellasasthe
thetwo
twonew
new
acquisitions
acquisitionsininthe
thecurrent
currentyear
yearand
andtwo
twonew
newacquisitions
acquisitionspost
post
acquisitions
yearend;
end;and
andmaintain
maintainsufficient
sufficientworking
workingcapital
capitaltotocontinue
continue
year
dailyoperations
operationsasasnormal.
normal.
daily
Weobtained
obtainedthe
thedocumentation
documentationcovering
coveringthe
theavailability
availabilityofofaa
We
yearextension
extensiontotothe
thefacility
facilityfrom
from33March
March2023.
2023.
33year
Weassessed
assessedthe
theimpact
impactononbanking
bankingcovenants
covenantstotodetermine
determine
We
theywould
wouldbebebreached
breachedif ifthe
thedrawn
drawndown
downofofallall
if ifthey
facilitieswere
weretotooccur.
occur.
facilities
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Weassessed
assessedthe
theappropriateness
appropriatenessofofsensitivity
sensitivityanalyses
analyses
We
preparedbybymanagement
managementover
overthe
theGroup’s
Group’scash
cashflow
flow
prepared
forecastsincluding
includingthe
theeffects
effectsofofadverse
adversemovements
movementsinin
forecasts
revenuetotodetermine
determinethe
thesufficiency
sufficiencyofofavailable
availablecash
cash
revenue
resourcestotosettle
settleshort
shortterm
termliabilities
liabilitiesasasthey
theyfall
falldue
dueover
overthe
the
resources
next1212months.
months.
next
Wereviewed
reviewedthe
thereverse
reversestress
stresstesting
testingand
andchallenged
challengedthe
the
We
Directors’assessment
assessmentofofthe
thequantification
quantificationofofthe
therevenue
revenue
Directors’
shortfallrequired
requiredforforcovenants
covenantstotobebebreached
breachedininthe
theforecast
forecast
shortfall
period.We
Weconsidered
consideredthe
thelikelihood
likelihoodand
andreasonableness
reasonablenessofof
period.
theshortfall
shortfallwith
withreference
referencetotothe
theDirectors’
Directors’historical
historicaldata
dataofof
the
revenueand
andEBITDA
EBITDAduring
duringthe
theCoronavirus
Coronaviruspandemic
pandemicand
and
revenue
lockdowns,and
andrecent
recentmanagement
managementaccounts.
accounts.
lockdowns,
Wereviewed
reviewedthe
theadequacy
adequacyofofdisclosures
disclosuresininnote
note2 2totothe
the
We
financialstatements
statementsregarding
regardinggoing
goingconcern.
concern.
financial
Basedononthe
thework
workwewehave
haveperformed,
performed,wewehave
havenot
notidentified
identified
Based
anymaterial
materialuncertainties
uncertaintiesrelating
relatingtotoevents
eventsororconditions
conditions
any
that,individually
individuallyororcollectively,
collectively,may
maycast
castsignificant
significantdoubt
doubt
that,
theGroup
Groupand
andparent
parentcompany’s
company’sability
abilitytotocontinue
continueasas
ononthe
goingconcern
concernforforaaperiod
periodofofatatleast
leasttwelve
twelvemonths
monthsfrom
from
aagoing
whenthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsare
areauthorised
authorisedforforissue.
issue.
when

Our
Ourresponsibilities
responsibilitiesand
andthe
theresponsibilities
responsibilitiesofofthe
theDirectors
Directorswith
withrespect
respecttotogoing
goingconcern
concernare
aredescribed
describedininthe
therelevant
relevant
sections
sectionsofofthis
thisreport.
report.
Overview
Overview
Coverage:
Coverage:from
from
Significant
Significantcomponents
components
and
andspecific
specificprocedures
procedures

91%
91%(2020:
(2020:74%)
74%)ofofGroup
Groupprofit
profitbefore
beforetaxtax
89%
89%(2020:
(2020:81%)
81%)ofofGroup
Grouprevenue
revenue
94%
94%(2020:
(2020:64%)
64%)ofofGroup
Grouptotal
totalnetnetassets
assets
2021
2021

Key
Keyaudit
auditmatters
matters

2020
2020

KAM
KAM1 –1 Revenue
– Revenuecut-off
cut-offofofdirect
directsales
sales
KAM
KAM2 2- Existence
- ExistenceofofInventory
Inventory

		

KAM3 3– Acquisition
– Acquisitionaccounting
accounting
KAM

		

KAM4 4– Carrying
– Carryingvalue
valueofofgoodwill
goodwilland
andintangibles
intangibles
KAM
KAM5 5– Going
– Goingconcern
concern
KAM

		

KAM1 for
1 forthethecurrent
currentyear
yearwewehave
havefocussed
focussedour
ouraudit
auditwork
workononthethecut-off
cut-offofofdirect
directsales.
sales.Our
Ourassessment
assessmentofof
KAM
manualadjustments
adjustmentstotorevenue
revenueininthetheprior
prioryear
yeardiddidnot
notbear
bearsignificance
significanceininthethecurrent
currentyear.
year.
manual
KAM2 2is isnonolonger
longerconsidered
consideredtotobebea akeykeyaudit
auditmatter
matterbecause
becauseininthethecurrent
currentyear
yearwewewere
wereable
abletotoattend
attend
KAM
stockcounts
countswithout
withoutany
anyrestrictions
restrictionsasasa aresult
resultofofCovid
Covid1919and
andasasa aresult
resultexistence
existenceofofinventory
inventoryhas
hasnot
notbeen
been
stock
deemeda arisk
riskbybythetheaudit
auditteam
teamininthethecurrent
currentyear.
year.
deemed
KAM3 3is isnonolonger
longerconsidered
consideredtotobebea akeykeyaudit
auditmatter
matterbecause
becausethethecurrent
currentyear
yearthere
therewere
wereonly
only2 2immaterial
immaterial
KAM
acquisitionsand
andininconsideration
considerationofofthethescope
scopeofofour
ouraudit
auditwewehave
havenot
notconsidered
consideredthis
thisasasa aKAM
KAMforforthethe
acquisitions
currentyear.
year.
current
KAM5 5is isnonolonger
longerconsidered
consideredtotobebea akeykeyaudit
auditmatter
matterbecause
becauseofofthethelimited
limitedimpact
impactofofthetheCoronavirus
Coronavirusonon
KAM
Groupand
andthetheresulting
resultingimpact
impactononour
ourrisk
riskassessment.
assessment.
thetheGroup
Materiality
Materiality

Group
Groupfinancial
financialstatements
statementsasasa awhole
whole
£720,000
£720,000(2020:
(2020:£600,000)
£600,000)based
basedonon5%5%(2020:
(2020:4.9%)
4.9%)ofofadjusted
adjustedprofit
profitbefore
beforetaxtax(2020:
(2020:profit
profitbefore
beforetax).
tax).
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IndependentAuditor’s
Auditor’sReport
Report
Independent
tothe
themembers
membersof
ofBrickability
BrickabilityGroup
GroupPLC
PLC
to
Anoverview
overviewofofthe
thescope
scopeofofour
ouraudit
audit
An
OurGroup
Groupaudit
auditwas
wasscoped
scopedbybyobtaining
obtainingananunderstanding
understandingofof
Our
theGroup
Groupand
anditsitsenvironment,
environment,including
includingthe
theGroup’
Group’
systemofof
the
s ssystem
internalcontrol,
control,and
andassessing
assessingthe
therisks
risksofofmaterial
materialmisstatement
misstatement
internal
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.We
Wealso
alsoaddressed
addressedthe
therisk
riskofof
ininthe
managementoverride
overrideofofinternal
internalcontrols,
controls,including
includingassessing
assessing
management
whetherthere
therewas
wasevidence
evidenceofofbias
biasbybythe
theDirectors
Directorsthat
thatmay
may
whether
haverepresented
representedaarisk
riskofofmaterial
materialmisstatement.
misstatement.
have

Towelrads.comLimited).
Limited).Full
Fullscope
scopeaudits
auditswere
wereundertaken
undertakenbyby
Towelrads.com
theGroup
Groupaudit
auditteam.
team.
the

Thereare
are1616other
othercomponents
componentswithin
withinthe
theGroup
Groupthat
that
There
werenot
notconsidered
consideredtotobebesignificant
significantcomponents.
components.For
For
were
thesecomponents,
components,the
theGroup
Groupaudit
auditteam
teamperformed
performedother
other
these
procedures,including
includinganalytical
analyticalreview
reviewwhere
wherewewecorroborated
corroborated
procedures,
anyunusual
unusualtrends
trendsand
andmaterial
materialmovements
movementsbybyfurther
furthertesting
testing
any
sampleofofthose
thosematerial
materialitems
itemstotosupporting
supportingdocumentation
documentation
aasample
determiningthe
thescope
scopeofofour
ouraudit
auditweweconsidered
consideredthe
thesize
sizeand
and with
InIndetermining
withreference
referencetotothe
theGroup
Groupmateriality
materialitythreshold.
threshold.These
Thesespecific
specific
natureofofeach
eachcomponent
componentwithin
withinthe
theGroup
Grouptotodetermine
determinethe
the
nature
auditprocedures
proceduresperformed
performedincreased
increasedthe
thelevel
levelofofcoverage
coverage
audit
levelofofwork
worktotobebeperformed
performedatateach
eachininorder
ordertotoensure
ensuresufficient
sufficient obtained
level
obtainedfrom
fromour
ouraudit
auditover
overrevenue,
revenue,profit
profitbefore
beforetaxation
taxationand
and
assurancewas
wasgained
gainedtotoallow
allowusustotoexpress
expressananopinion
opinionononthe
the net
assurance
netassets.
assets.
financialstatements
statementsasasaawhole.
whole.
financial
Weobtained
obtainedananunderstanding
understandingofofthe
theinternal
internalcontrol
control
We
Wehave
haveidentified
identified1212components
componentstotobebesignificant
significanttotothe
the
We
environmentrelated
relatedtotothe
thefinancial
financialreporting
reportingprocess
processand
and
environment
Group(Brick-ability
(Brick-abilityLtd,
Ltd,Brick
BrickServices
ServicesLimited,
Limited,Bespoke
BespokeBrick
Brick
Group
assessedthe
theappropriateness,
appropriateness,completeness
completenessand
andaccuracy
accuracy
assessed
CompanyLimited,
Limited,Brick-link
Brick-linkLimited,
Limited,LBT
LBTBrick
Brick&&Facades
Facades
Company
theGroup
Groupjournals
journalsand
andother
otheradjustments
adjustmentsperformed
performedonon
ofofthe
Limited,Crest
CrestBrick
BrickSlate
Slate&&Tile
TileLimited,
Limited,Crest
CrestRoofing
RoofingLimited,
Limited, consolidation.
Limited,
consolidation.AllAllprocedures
procedureswere
wereundertaken
undertakenbybythe
theGroup
Group
PlasticsLimited,
Limited,Excel
ExcelRoofing
RoofingServices
ServicesLimited,
Limited,Crown
Crown
UUPlastics
auditteam.
team.
audit
Roofing(Centres)
(Centres)Limited,
Limited,McCann
McCannRoofing
RoofingProducts
ProductsLimited,
Limited,
Roofing

Keyaudit
auditmatters
matters
Key
Keyaudit
auditmatters
mattersare
arethose
thosematters
mattersthat,
that,ininour
ourprofessional
professionaljudgement,
judgement,were
wereofofmost
mostsignificance
significanceininour
ouraudit
auditofofthe
thefinancial
financial
Key
statementsofofthe
thecurrent
currentperiod
periodand
andinclude
includethe
themost
mostsignificant
significantassessed
assessedrisks
risksofofmaterial
materialmisstatement
misstatement(whether
(whetherorornot
notdue
duetoto
statements
fraud)that
thatweweidentified,
identified,including
includingthose
thosewhich
whichhad
hadthe
thegreatest
greatesteffect
effecton:
on:the
theoverall
overallaudit
auditstrategy,
strategy,the
theallocation
allocationofofresources
resourcesininthe
the
fraud)
audit,and
anddirecting
directingthe
theefforts
effortsofofthe
theengagement
engagementteam.
team.These
Thesematters
matterswere
wereaddressed
addressedininthe
thecontext
contextofofour
ouraudit
auditofofthe
thefinancial
financial
audit,
statementsasasaawhole,
whole,and
andininforming
formingour
ouropinion
opinionthereon,
thereon,and
andwewedodonot
notprovide
provideaaseparate
separateopinion
opinionononthese
thesematters.
matters.
statements
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Key
Keyaudit
auditmatter
matter
Revenue
Revenuecut-off
cut-off
ofofdirect
directsales
sales
See
Seenote
note3.4
3.4totothethe
financial
financialstatements
statements
forforthetheDirectors’
Directors’
disclosures
disclosuresofofthethe
related
relatedrevenue
revenue
recognition
recognition
accounting
accountingpolicies.
policies.

How
Howthe
thescope
scopeofofour
ouraudit
auditaddressed
addressedthe
thekey
keyaudit
auditmatter
matter
Trade
TradeininthetheBricks
Bricksdivision
divisionpredominantly
predominantly
comprises
comprisesdirect
directsales
saleswhere
wheregoods
goodsareare
delivered
delivereddirectly
directlyfrom
fromthethesupplier
suppliertotothethe
customer.
customer.Transfer
Transferofofriskriskand
andrewards
rewards
areareatata apoint
pointinintime
timewhen
whenthethegoods
goodsareare
delivered
deliveredatatthetheclient
clientsitesiteforforallalldirect
directsales.
sales.
We
Weconsidered
consideredthat
thatthere
thereis isa ariskriskofof
inappropriate
inappropriaterevenue
revenuerecognition
recognitionarising
arising
from
fromcut-off
cut-offofofdirect
directsales,
sales,where
whererevenue
revenue
is isincorrectly
incorrectlyrecorded
recordedand
andriskriskand
and
rewards
rewardstransfer
transferis isincorrectly
incorrectlyapplied
applied
totogoods
goodsdelivered
deliveredaround
aroundyear
yearend.
end.
This
Thiscould
couldlead
leadtotothetheoverstatement
overstatementofof
revenue
revenueasasa aresult
resultofofthetherecognition
recognitionofof
revenue
revenueininthetheincorrect
incorrectperiod.
period.

We
Wechallenged
challengedmanagement
managementononthetheapplication
applicationofofthetheaccounting
accountingpolicies
policieswith
with
reference
referencetotothethecut-off
cut-offofofdirect
directsales
salesand
andthetheapplication
applicationofofthethetiming
timingofofthethe
transfer
transferofofriskriskand
andrewards
rewardsininaccordance
accordancewith
withthetheaccounting
accountingstandards
standardsand
and
terms
termsand
andconditions
conditionsofofthethedirect
directsales.
sales.
We
Weagreed
agreeda asample
sampleofofsales
salesinvoices
invoicesrecognised
recognisedcovering
coveringa ariskriskperiod
period
before
beforeand
andafter
afterthetheyear
yearend
endthrough
throughtotosupporting
supportingthird
thirdparty
partydelivery
delivery
documentation
documentationand
andcustomer
customerconfirmation,
confirmation,totoconfirm
confirmthat
thatthetheGroup
Grouphas
has
satisfied
satisfieditsitsperformance
performanceobligations
obligationsand
andrevenue
revenuewas
wasappropriately
appropriatelyrecorded
recorded
ininthethecorrect
correctperiod.
period.

Key
Keyobservations:
observations:
From
Fromour
ourtesting
testingperformed
performedweweconsider
considerthe
thecut
cut–off
–offofofrevenue
revenuetotobebeappropriate.
appropriate.
Carrying
Carryingvalue
value
ofofgoodwill
goodwilland
and
intangibles
intangibles
Refer
Refertotonote
note
3.113.11and
and4 4totothethe
financial
financialstatements
statements
forforthethe
Directors’
Directors’disclosures
disclosures
ononthethecritical
critical
accounting
accounting
estimates
estimatesand
and
judgements
judgementsrelated
related
totoimpairment.
impairment.

AsAsa aconsequence
s growth
consequenceofofthetheGroup’
Group’
s growth
strategy
strategya asignificant
significantvalue
valueofofgoodwill
goodwill
and
andintangible
intangibleassets
assetshas
hasarisen
arisenfrom
from
acquisitions.
acquisitions.
The
ss
Thecarrying
carryingamounts
amountsofofthetheGroup’
Group’
goodwill,
goodwill,which
whichis isassessed
assessedannually
annually
and
andother
otheracquired
acquiredintangible
intangibleassets,
assets,
forforwhich
whichthere
thereareareananindicator
indicatorforfor
impairment,
impairment,areareassessed
assessedagainst
against
potential
potentialfuture
futurecash
cashflows.
flows.There
Thereis isa a
riskriskthat
thatthetheyear
yearend
endvalues
valuesassigned
assigned
totogoodwill
goodwilland
andintangible
intangibleassets
assetsareare
materially
materiallymisstated.
misstated.AsAsthis
thisis issubjective
subjective
and
andjudgemental,
judgemental,this
thisincreases
increasesthetheriskrisk
ofofmisstatement.
misstatement.
This
Thisriskriskhas
hasbeen
beenheightened
heightenedbyby
uncertainty
uncertaintyover
overfuture
futuretrading
trading
prospects
prospectsand
andcash
cashflows
flowscaused
causedbybythethe
Covid-19
Covid-19pandemic,
pandemic,Brexit
Brexitand
andother
other
macro-economic
macro-economicfactors
factorsaffecting
affectingthethe
construction
constructionindustry
industrywhich
whichmay
maylead
leadtoto
ananimpairment
impairmentcharge
chargethat
thathas
hasnot
notbeen
been
recognised
recognisedbybymanagement.
management.

ForForallallintangible
intangibleassets
assetswhere
whereananindicator
indicatorforforimpairment
impairmentexist
existand
andforfor
goodwill
s methodology
goodwillononananannual
annualbasis,
basis,wewereviewed
reviewedmanagement’
management’
s methodologyand
and
assumptions
assumptionsused
usedinintheir
theirimpairment
impairmentassessment.
assessment.Our
Ourdetailed
detailedprocedures
procedures
included
includedthethefollowing:
following:
We
Wecompared
comparedthetheassessment
assessmentofofthetheindicators
indicatorsidentified
identifiedbybythetheDirectors
Directors
against
againstour
ourown
ownexpectation
expectationofofthethemarket.
market.
We
s models
Wechallenged
challengedmanagement’
management’
s modelsforforassessing
assessingthethevaluation
valuationofof
significant
significantgoodwill
goodwilland
andintangible
intangiblebalances
balancestotounderstand
understandthethecomposition
composition
ofofmanagement’
s future
management’
s futurecash
cashflow
flowforecasts,
forecasts,and
andthetheprocess
processundertaken
undertaken
totoprepare
preparethem
themtotoconclude
concludeononthetheappropriateness
appropriatenessofofthethemodels
modelsand
and
assumptions
assumptionsused
usedbybymanagement.
management.
WeWeconfirmed
confirmedthetheunderlying
underlyingcash
cashflows
flowswere
wereconsistent
consistentwith
withthetheBoard
Boardapproved
approved
budgets,
budgets,which
whichreflected
reflectedthetheforecasted
forecastedimpact
impactofofCOVID-19,
COVID-19,Brexit
Brexitand
andother
other
macro-economic
macro-economicfactors
factorsononthetheconstruction
constructionindustry
industryand
andthethebusiness.
business.
We
Weassessed
assessedthethereasonableness
reasonablenessofofthethekeykeyassumptions,
assumptions,including
includinggrowth
growthrate,
rate,
discount
discountrate
rateused,
used,and
andother
otherkeykeyassumptions
assumptionsbybytesting
testingthis
thistotosupporting
supporting
documentation
documentationwhich
whichinclude
includehistorical
historicalinformation,
information,budget
budgetverses
versesactual
actual
results,
results,recent
recentacquisitions
acquisitionsand
andindustry
industrypublished
publishedinformation
informationand
andtrends.
trends.
We
Wechecked
checkedthethemathematical
mathematicalintegrity
integrityofofthethemodel.
model.
ForForallallcash
cashgenerating
generatingunit
unit(“CGUs”),
(“CGUs”),wewescrutinised
scrutinisedthetheDirectors’
Directors’assessment
assessment
ofofthethedegree
degreetotowhich
whichthethekeykeyassumptions
assumptionswould
wouldneed
needtotofluctuate
fluctuatebefore
beforeanan
impairment
impairmentwas
wastriggered.
triggered.This
Thisincludes
includestesting
testingsensitivities
sensitivitiestotoensure
ensuresufficient
sufficient
headroom
headroomexist
existforforeach
eachCGU.
CGU.
InInrespect
respectofofthetheCGUs
CGUsidentified
identifiedasashaving
havingimpairment
impairmentindicators
indicatorsororlower
lower
levels
levelsofofheadroom
headroomweweperformed
performeddetailed
detailedtesting
testingwith
withsupport
supportfrom
fromour
our
internal
internalBDO
BDOvaluations
valuationsexperts
expertstotocritically
criticallyassess
assessand
andcorroborate
corroboratethethekeykey
inputs
inputsofofthetheforecast
forecastcash
cashflows
flowsincluding:
including:
AnAnassessment
assessmentofofthethediscount
discountrate
rateused
usedbybyobtaining
obtainingthetheunderlying
underlyingdata
dataused
used
ininthethecalculation
calculationand
andbenchmarking
benchmarkingit against
it againstcomparable
comparableorganisations
organisationsand
and
market
marketdata;
data;
AAconsideration
considerationofofthethelength
lengthofofthetheperiod
periodforforwhich
whichcash
cashflows
flowswere
weremodelled
modelled
and
andthethegrowth
growthrates
ratesassumed
assumedininthethecash
cashflows
flowsasaswell
wellasasthetheterminal
terminalvalue,
value,
bybycomparing
comparingthem
themtotoeconomic
economicand
andindustry
industryforecasts;
forecasts;and
and
AnAnanalysis
analysisofofthethehistorical
historicalaccuracy
accuracyofofbudgets
budgetstotoactual
actualresults
resultsforforpreviously
previously
acquired
acquiredcomponents,
components,totodetermine
determinewhether
whetherforecast
forecastcash
cashflows
flowsarearereliable
reliable
based
basedononpast
pastexperience
experienceand
andchecking
checkingthat
thatsensitivities
sensitivitiesapplied
appliedtotothethemodels
models
areareininexcess
excessofofany
anyforecasting
forecastinginaccuracy
inaccuracyidentified
identifiedour
ourassessment
assessmentofof
budgets
budgetsvsvsactual
actualresults.
results.

Key
Keyobservations:
observations:
Based
Basedononour
ourprocedures
proceduresperformed
performedweweconsider
considermanagements
managementsjudgements
judgementsand
andestimates
estimatestotobebeappropriate.
appropriate.
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IndependentAuditor’s
Auditor’sReport
Report
Independent
tothe
themembers
membersof
ofBrickability
BrickabilityGroup
GroupPLC
PLC
to
Ourapplication
applicationofofmateriality
materiality
Our
Weapply
applythe
theconcept
conceptofofmateriality
materialityboth
bothininplanning
planning
We
andperforming
performingour
ouraudit,
audit,and
andininevaluating
evaluatingthe
theeffect
effect
and
misstatements.We
Weconsider
considermateriality
materialitytotobebethe
the
ofofmisstatements.
magnitudebybywhich
whichmisstatements,
misstatements,including
includingomissions,
omissions,
magnitude
couldinfluence
influencethe
theeconomic
economicdecisions
decisionsofofreasonable
reasonable
could
usersthat
thatare
aretaken
takenononthe
thebasis
basisofofthe
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
users

determinethe
theextent
extentofoftesting
testingneeded.
needed.Importantly,
Importantly,
totodetermine
misstatementsbelow
belowthese
theselevels
levelswill
willnot
notnecessarily
necessarilybebe
misstatements
evaluatedasasimmaterial
immaterialasaswewealso
alsotake
takeaccount
accountofofthe
the
evaluated
natureofofidentified
identifiedmisstatements,
misstatements,and
andthe
theparticular
particular
nature
circumstancesofoftheir
theiroccurrence,
occurrence,when
whenevaluating
evaluatingtheir
their
circumstances
effectononthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsasasaawhole.
whole.
effect

ordertotoreduce
reducetotoananappropriately
appropriatelylow
lowlevel
levelthe
the
InInorder
probabilitythat
thatany
anymisstatements
misstatementsexceed
exceedmateriality,
materiality,
probability
useaalower
lowermateriality
materialitylevel,
level,performance
performancemateriality,
materiality,
weweuse

Basedononour
ourprofessional
professionaljudgement,
judgement,wewedetermined
determined
Based
materialityforforthe
thefinancial
financialstatements
statementsasasaawhole
wholeand
and
materiality
performancemateriality
materialityasasfollows:
follows:
performance

Groupfinancial
financialstatements
statements
Group
2021
2021
££

2020
2020
££

Parentcompany
companyfinancial
financialstatements
statements
Parent
2021
2021
££

2020
2020
££

Materiality
Materiality

720,000
720,000

600,000
600,000

472,000
472,000

495,000
495,000

Basisforfor
Basis
determining
determining
materiality
materiality

5%ofofAdjusted
AdjustedProfit
Profit
5%
beforeTaxation
Taxation
before

4.9%ofofProfit
Profit
4.9%
beforeTaxation
Taxation
before

66%ofofGroup
Group
66%
materiality
materiality

82.5%ofofgroup
group
82.5%
materiality
materiality

Rationale
Rationaleforfor
the
thebenchmark
benchmark
applied
applied

We
Weconsidered
consideredthat
that
adjusted
adjustedprofit
profitbefore
before
taxtaxis isa akeykeyperformance
performance
measure
measuretotothethe
stakeholders
stakeholdersofofthethe
entity
entityand
andtherefore
thereforeanan
appropriate
appropriatebenchmark.
benchmark.
This
Thishas
hasbeen
beenchanged
changed
ononthethebasis
basisthat
thatthethe
Group
Groupis isacquisitive,
acquisitive,with
with
large
largeintangible
intangibleasset
asset
balances
balancesand
andthetheentity’s
entity’s
performance
performanceis ismore
more
accurately
accuratelyreflected
reflectedwhen
when
adjusted
adjustedforforamortisation,
amortisation,
fair
fairvalue
valuechanges
changesinin
contingent
contingentconsideration,
consideration,
and
andacquisition
acquisitionand
andother
other
exceptional
exceptionalcosts.
costs.

We
Weconsidered
considered
that
thatprofit
profitbefore
before
taxtaxis isa akeykey
performance
performance
measure
measuretotothethe
stakeholders
stakeholdersofof
thetheentity
entityand
and
therefore
thereforeanan
appropriate
appropriate
benchmark.
benchmark.

Capped
Cappedatat66%
66%ofofGroup
Groupmateriality
materiality
(2020:
(2020:82.5%
82.5%ofofGroup
Groupmateriality)
materiality)
given
giventhetheassessment
assessmentofofthethesignificant
significant
components
componentsaggregation
aggregationrisk.
risk.

Performance
Performance
materiality
materiality

508,000
508,000

400,000
400,000

354,000
354,000

Basisforfor
Basis
determining
determining
performance
performance
materiality
materiality

70%(65%)
(65%)ofofGroup
Groupmateriality
materialitytaking
takinginto
into
70%
considerationofofthetheoverall
overallrisk
riskassessment,
assessment,including
including
consideration
factorssuch
suchasasareas
areasofofestimation
estimationwithin
withinthethefinancial
financial
factors
statements,thethetype
typeofofaudit
audittesting
testingtotobebecompleted
completed
statements,
andhistory
historyofofmisstatement.
misstatement.
and

326,000
326,000

70%(65%)
(65%)ofofParent
ParentCompany
Companymateriality
materiality
70%
takinginto
intoconsideration
considerationfactors
factorssuch
suchasas
taking
areasofofestimation
estimationwithin
withinthethefinancial
financial
areas
statementsand
andthethetype
typeofofaudit
audittesting
testingtoto
statements
completed.
bebecompleted.

Componentmateriality
materiality
Component
Wesetsetmateriality
materialityforforeach
eachcomponent
componentofofthe
theGroup
Groupbased
basedononaapercentage
percentageofofbetween
between3%
3%and
and66%
66%ofofGroup
Group
We
materialitydependent
dependentononthe
thesize
sizeand
andour
ourassessment
assessmentofofthe
therisk
riskofofmaterial
materialmisstatement
misstatementofofthat
thatcomponent.
component.
materiality
Componentmateriality
materialityranged
rangedfrom
from£20,700
£20,700toto£472,000.
£472,000.InInthe
theaudit
auditofofeach
eachcomponent,
component,wewefurther
furtherapplied
applied
Component
performancemateriality
materialitylevels
levelsofof75%
75%ofofthe
thecomponent
componentmateriality
materialitytotoour
ourtesting
testingtotoensure
ensurethat
thatthe
therisk
riskofoferrors
errors
performance
exceedingcomponent
componentmateriality
materialitywas
wasappropriately
appropriatelymitigated.
mitigated.Because
Becauseeach
eachofofthese
thesecomponents
componentswere
werealso
alsosubject
subject
exceeding
standalonestatutory
statutoryaudits,
audits,weweused
usedthe
themateriality
materialityapplicable
applicabletotothose
thoseaudits
auditsforforGroup
Grouppurposes.
purposes.
totostandalone
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Brickability Group PLC
Reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £14,500 (2020:
£14,000). We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report and accounts other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the
Companies Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below.
Strategic report and
Directors’ report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
• the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

Matters on which we
are required to report
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect
material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
frameworks that are applicable to the Group and
determined that the most significant are the companies
Act 2006, accounting standards, AIM Rules and the
Corporation Tax Act 2010. We identified these areas of laws
and regulations as those that could reasonably be expected
to have a material effect on the financial statements from
sector experience and through discussion with the Directors
and other management.
We assessed compliance with the these laws and
regulations through enquiry with management and the
Audit Committee, review of reporting to Directors with
respect to compliance with laws and regulations, review of
board meeting minutes and review of legal correspondence.
We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial
statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur. In addressing the risk of fraud including
management override of controls, we have performed
journals testing based on a set of fraud risk criteria and
tested to supporting documentation also verifying the
business rationale. This criteria included round sum
posted journals, material journals, unexpected account
combinations, unusual journal descriptions and authorised
users testing. Other procedures in response to management
override included checking discretionary bonus payments
to approval from the remuneration committee, challenging
management on the rationale for the defects provision and
potential senior management influence on adequacy of
the provision by corroborating management’s assumptions
and further challenging retention provisions on similar
projects. We also incorporated unpredictability procedures
as part of our response to the risk of management override
of controls. We addressed the risk of fraud in revenue
recognition through testing of manual entries impacting
reported revenue as well as cut-off. We analysed the journal
entries made to revenue account codes across the Group
and investigated the reason for journal entries made that

appeared unusual and not in line with our expected transaction
flows. We agreed management’s explanations back through to
supporting documentation. For cut-off, please refer to the key audit
matter section above.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations
and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members and
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the audit.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the risk
of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery,
misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent
limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the
less likely we are to become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities is available on
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company
and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Sarah Applegate (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Bristol, UK
4 August 2021
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and
Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Notes

Adjusted
£’000

2021
Other items
(Note 14)
£’000

5

181,084

-

181,084

187,126

-

187,126

Cost of sales

(143,112)

-

(143,112)

(149,442)

-

(149,442)

Gross profit

37,972

-

37,972

37,684

-

37,684

92

-

92

26

-

26

(20,181)

(443)

(20,624)

(17,710)

(56)

(17,766)

(341)

-

(341)

(433)

-

(433)

(1,837)

(3,619)

(5,456)

(1,312)

(3,075)

(4,387)

Revenue

Other operating income

7

Administrative expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets

25

Depreciation and amortisation

Total
£’000

Adjusted
£’000

2020
Other items
(Note 14)
£’000

Total
£’000

Finance income

11

13

-

13

71

-

71

Finance expense

12

(718)

(127)

(845)

(1,310)

(1,217)

(2,527)

Share of post-tax loss of equity
accounted associates

22

-

(6)

(6)

-

(32)

(32)

Fair value gains/ (losses)

13

-

360

360

-

(45)

(45)

Exceptional income

14

-

-

-

-

2,000

2,000

Exceptional expenses

14

-

-

-

-

(2,407)

(2,407)

Profit before tax

8

15,000

(3,835)

11,165

17,016

(4,832)

12,184

Tax expense

15

(2,193)

687

(1,506)

(2,905)

12

(2,893)

12,807

(3,148)

9,659

14,111

(4,820)

9,291

12,813

(3,148)

9,665

14,111

(4,820)

9,291

(6)

-

(6)

-

-

-

12,807

(3,148)

9,659

14,111

(4,820)

9,291

Profit for the year and total
comprehensive income
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

17

4.19 p

4.79 p

Diluted earnings per share

17

4.18 p

4.77 p

Adjusted basic earnings per share

17

5.56 p

7.27 p

Adjusted diluted earnings per share

17

5.54 p

7.25 p

All results relate to continuing operations.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

Notes

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

18

9,125

4,173

Right of use assets

29

7,945

6,375

Intangible assets

19

76,848

78,050

Investments in equity accounted associates

22

221

352

Investments in financial assets

23

125

-

Deferred tax assets

31

98

205

Trade and other receivables

25

460

391

94,822

89,546

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

24

12,127

9,791

Trade and other receivables

25

42,832

36,560

Cash and cash equivalents

26

8,592

27,269

Total current assets

63,551

73,620

Total assets

158,373

163,166

27

(38,769)

(41,912)

(426)

(277)

29

(1,497)

(776)

(40,692)

(42,965)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

27

(3,153)

(2,402)

Loans and borrowings

28

(15,750)

(24,912)

Lease liabilities

29

(6,796)

(5,802)

Provisions

30

(1,247)

(1,389)

Deferred tax liabilities

31

(5,301)

(5,631)

Total non-current liabilities

(32,247)

(40,136)

Total liabilities

(72,939)

(83,101)

Net assets

85,434

80,065

Equity
Called up share capital

34

2,305

2,305

Share premium account

35

49,999

49,999

Capital redemption reserve

35

2

2

Share-based payment reserve

35

266

56

Merger reserve

35

1,245

1,245

Retained earnings

35

31,623

26,458

85,440

80,065

(6)

-

85,434

80,065

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 4 August 2021. They are signed on behalf of
the Board by:

Alan Simpson Director			

Mike Gant Director

Company registration number: 11123804
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COMPANYBALANCE
BALANCESHEET
SHEET
COMPANY
ASAT
AT3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021
AS

Notes
Notes

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Investmentininsubsidiaries
subsidiaries
Investment

2020

6,542
6,542

6,542
6,542

Tradeand
andother
otherreceivables
receivables
Trade

2525

9,343
9,343

9,343
9,343

15,885
15,885

15,885
15,885

Non-currentassets
assets
Non-current

Totalnon-current
non-currentassets
assets
Total
Currentassets
assets
Current
Tradeand
andother
otherreceivables
receivables
Trade

2525

75,482
75,482

79,819
79,819

Cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalents
Cash

2626

2222

--

Totalcurrent
currentassets
assets
Total

75,504
75,504

79,819
79,819

Totalassets
assets
Total

91,389
91,389

95,704
95,704

(10,084)
(10,084)

(166)
(166)

--

(15)
(15)

(10,084)
(10,084)

(181)
(181)

(15,750)
(15,750)

(24,912)
(24,912)

Totalnon-current
non-currentliabilities
liabilities
Total

(15,750)
(15,750)

(24,912)
(24,912)

Totalliabilities
liabilities
Total

(25,834)
(25,834)

(25,093)
(25,093)

65,555
65,555

70,611
70,611

Currentliabilities
liabilities
Current
Tradeand
andother
otherpayables
payables
Trade

2727

Currentincome
incometaxtaxliabilities
liabilities
Current
Totalcurrent
currentliabilities
liabilities
Total
Non-currentliabilities
liabilities
Non-current
Loansand
andborrowings
borrowings
Loans

2828

Netassets
assets
Net
Equity
Equity
Calledupupshare
sharecapital
capital
Called

3434

2,305
2,305

2,305
2,305

Sharepremium
premiumaccount
account
Share

3535

49,999
49,999

49,999
49,999

Capitalredemption
redemptionreserve
reserve
Capital

3535

22

22

Share-basedpayment
paymentreserve
reserve
Share-based

3535

266
266

5656

Mergerreserve
reserve
Merger

3535

6,506
6,506

6,506
6,506

Retainedearnings
earnings
Retained

3535

6,477
6,477

11,743
11,743

65,555
65,555

70,611
70,611

Totalequity
equity
Total

Theloss
lossofofthe
theCompany
Companyforforthe
thefinancial
financialyear
yearwas
was£766,000
£766,000(2020:
(2020:£175,000
£175,000profit).
profit).
The
Thesefinancial
financialstatements
statementswere
wereapproved
approvedbybythe
theBoard
BoardofofDirectors
Directorsand
andauthorised
authorisedforfor
These
issueonon44August
August2021.
2021.They
Theyare
aresigned
signedononbehalf
behalfofofthe
theboard
boardby:by:
issue

AlanSimpson
SimpsonDirector
Alan
Director		
Companyregistration
registrationnumber:
number:11123804
11123804
Company

6262

Mike
MikeGant
GantDirector
Director

CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENT
STATEMENTOF
OFCHANGES
CHANGESININEQUITY
EQUITY
FORTHE
THEYEAR
YEARENDED
ENDED3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021
FOR
Total
Total
attributable
attributable
Share
totoequity
NonShare
equity
NonShare
Share premium
premium Capital
Capital Share-based
Share-based Merger
Merger Retained
Retained holders
holdersofof controlling
controlling
capital
interest
Total
capital account
account redemption
redemption payments
payments reserve
reserve Earnings
Earnings the
theparent
parent
interest
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000 £’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000 £’000
£’000
£’000
£’000 £’000
£’000
AtAt1 April
1 April2019
2019

44

8,970
8,970

--

--

1,245
1,245

6,167
6,167

16,386
16,386

--

16,386
16,386

Profit
Profitforforthetheyear
year

--

--

--

--

--

9,291
9,291

9,291
9,291

--

9,291
9,291

Total
Totalcomprehensive
comprehensive
income
incomeforforthetheyear
year

--

--

--

--

--

9,291
9,291

9,291
9,291

--

9,291
9,291

Dividends
Dividendspaid
paid

--

--

--

--

--

(2,000)
(2,000)

(2,000)
(2,000)

--

(2,000)
(2,000)

Issue
Issueofofpaid
paidshares
shares(note
(note37)
37)

678
678

44,223
44,223

--

--

--

--

44,901
44,901

--

44,901
44,901

Bonus
Bonusissue
issueofofshares
shares

1,429
1,429

(1,429)
(1,429)

--

--

--

--

--

--

--

Conversion
Conversionofofdebt
debttoto
equity
equity(note
(note37)
37)

196
196

13,736
13,736

--

--

--

--

13,932
13,932

--

13,932
13,932

Purchase
Purchaseofofown
ownshares
shares

(2)(2)

--

22

--

--

--

--

--

--

Increase
Increaseininshare-based
share-based
payment
paymentreserve
reserve

--

--

--

5656

--

--

5656

--

5656

Share
Shareissue
issuecosts
costs

--

(2,501)
(2,501)

--

--

--

--

(2,501)
(2,501)

--

(2,501)
(2,501)

Share
Sharepremium
premiumreduction
reduction

--

(13,000)
(13,000)

--

--

--

13,000
13,000

--

--

--

Total
Totalcontributions
contributionsbybyand
and
distributions
distributionstotoowners
owners

2,301
2,301

41,029
41,029

22

5656

--

11,000
11,000

54,388
54,388

--

54,388
54,388

AtAt3131March
March2020
2020

2,305
2,305

49,999
49,999

22

5656

1,245
1,245

26,458
26,458

80,065
80,065

--

80,065
80,065

Profit
Profitoror(loss)
(loss)forforthetheyear
year

--

--

--

--

--

9,665
9,665

9,665
9,665

(6)(6)

9,659
9,659

Total
Totalcomprehensive
comprehensive
income
incomeforforthetheyear
year

--

--

--

--

--

9,665
9,665

9,665
9,665

(6)(6)

9,659
9,659

Dividends
Dividendspaid
paid

--

--

--

--

--

(4,500)
(4,500)

(4,500)
(4,500)

--

(4,500)
(4,500)

Increase
Increaseininshare-based
share-based
payment
paymentreserve
reserve

--

--

--

210
210

--

--

210
210

--

210
210

Total
Totalcontributions
contributionsbybyand
and
distributions
distributionstotoowners
owners

--

--

--

210
210

--

(4,500)
(4,500)

(4,290)
(4,290)

--

(4,290)
(4,290)

2,305
2,305

49,999
49,999

22

266
266

1,245
1,245

31,623
31,623

85,440
85,440

(6)
(6)

85,434
85,434

AtAt3131March
March2021
2021
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COMPANYSTATEMENT
STATEMENTOF
OF
COMPANY
CHANGES
CHANGESININEQUITY
EQUITYFOR
FORTHE
THE
YEAR
YEARENDED
ENDED3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021

Share
Share
capital
capital
£’000
£’000

Share
Share
Share
Share
premium
Capital
based
premium
Capital
based
account redemption
redemption payments
payments
account
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

Merger
Merger
Reserve
Reserve
£’000
£’000

Retained
Retained
Earnings
Earnings
£’000
£’000

Total
Total
£’000
£’000

1 April2019
2019
AtAt1 April

44

8,970
8,970

--

--

6,506
6,506

568
568

16,048
16,048

Profitforforthetheyear
year
Profit

--

--

--

--

--

175
175

175
175

Totalcomprehensive
comprehensiveincome
incomeforforthetheyear
year
Total

--

--

--

--

--

175
175

175
175

Dividendspaid
paid
Dividends

--

--

--

--

--

(2,000)
(2,000)

(2,000)
(2,000)

Issueofofpaid
paidshares
shares(note
(note37)
37)
Issue

678
678

44,223
44,223

--

--

--

--

44,901
44,901

Bonusissue
issueofofshares
shares
Bonus

1,429
1,429

(1,429)
(1,429)

--

--

--

--

--

Conversionofofdebt
debttotoequity
equity(note
(note37)
37)
Conversion

196
196

13,736
13,736

--

--

--

--

13,932
13,932

Purchaseofofown
ownshares
shares
Purchase

(2)(2)

--

22

--

--

--

--

Increaseininshare-based
share-basedpayment
paymentreserve
reserve
Increase

--

--

--

5656

--

--

5656

Shareissue
issuecosts
costs
Share

--

(2,501)
(2,501)

--

--

--

--

(2,501)
(2,501)

Sharepremium
premiumreduction
reduction
Share

--

(13,000)
(13,000)

--

--

--

13,000
13,000

--

Totalcontributions
contributionsbybyand
anddistributions
distributionstotoowners
owners
Total

2,301
2,301

41,029
41,029

22

5656

--

11,000
11,000

54,388
54,388

March2020
2020
AtAt3131March

2,305
2,305

49,999
49,999

22

5656

6,506
6,506

11,743
11,743

70,611
70,611

Lossforforthetheyear
year
Loss

--

--

--

--

--

(766)
(766)

(766)
(766)

Total
Totalcomprehensive
comprehensiveincome
incomeforforthetheyear
year

--

--

--

--

--

(766)
(766)

(766)
(766)

Dividends
Dividendspaid
paid

--

--

--

--

--

(4,500)
(4,500)

(4,500)
(4,500)

Increase
Increaseininshare-based
share-basedpayment
paymentreserve
reserve

--

--

--

210
210

--

--

210
210

Totalcontributions
contributionsbybyand
anddistributions
distributionstotoowners
owners
Total

--

--

--

210
210

--

(4,500)
(4,500)

(4,290)
(4,290)

2,305
2,305

49,999
49,999

22

266
266

6,506
6,506

6,477
6,477

65,555
65,555

March2021
2021
AtAt3131March

64
64

CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENT
STATEMENTOF
OFCASH
CASHFLOWS
FLOWS
FORTHE
THEYEAR
YEARENDED
ENDED3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021
FOR

Notes
Notes

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

9,659
9,659

9,291
9,291

Operating
Operatingactivities
activities
Profit
Profitforforthetheyear
year
Adjustments
Adjustmentsfor:
for:
Depreciation
Depreciationofofproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipment

1818

726
726

595
595

Depreciation
Depreciationofofright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets

2929

1,111
1,111

717
717

Amortisation
Amortisationofofintangible
intangibleassetss
assetss

1919

3,619
3,619

3,059
3,059

Loss/
Loss/(Gain)
(Gain)onondisposal
disposalofofproperty,
property,plant
plant&&equipment
equipmentand
andright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets

88

44

(8)
(8)

(19)
(19)

44

Foreign
Foreignexchange
exchange(gains)/
(gains)/losses
losses
Share-based
Share-basedpayments
paymentsexpense
expense

3636

338
338

5656

Share
Shareofofpost-tax
post-taxloss
lossininequity
equityaccounted
accountedassociates
associates

2222

66

3232

Impairment
Impairmentofofgoodwill
goodwill

1919

--

1616

Fair
Fairvalue
valuechanges
changesinincontingent
contingentconsideration
consideration

1313

(360)
(360)

4545

Movements
Movementsininprovisions
provisions

3030

(142)
(142)

(586)
(586)

Finance
Financeincome
income

11 11

(13)
(13)

(71)
(71)

Finance
Financeexpense
expense

1212

845
845

2,527
2,527

Acquisition/
Acquisition/exceptional
exceptionalexpenses
expenses

1414

105
105

2,407
2,407

Income
Incometaxtaxexpense
expense

1515

1,506
1,506

2,893
2,893

--

22

17,385
17,385

20,979
20,979

Increase
Increaseinininventories
inventories

(2,011)
(2,011)

(1,890)
(1,890)

(Increase)/
(Increase)/Decrease
Decreaseinintrade
tradeand
andother
otherreceivables
receivables

(4,077)
(4,077)

6,862
6,862

1,792
1,792

(5,024)
(5,024)

13,089
13,089

20,927
20,927

(105)
(105)

(320)
(320)

1313

7070

(367)
(367)

(6,049)
(6,049)

Income
Incometaxes
taxespaid
paid

(2,435)
(2,435)

(4,710)
(4,710)

Net
Netcash
cashgenerated
generatedfrom
fromoperating
operatingactivities
activities

10,195
10,195

9,918
9,918

(5,669)
(5,669)

(941)
(941)

5959

2525

--

(32)
(32)

99

--

Amortisation
Amortisationofofloan
loannote
noteissue
issuecosts
costs
Operating
Operatingcash
cashflows
flowsbefore
beforemovements
movementsininworking
workingcapital
capital
Changes
Changesininworking
workingcapital:
capital:

Increase/
Increase/(Decrease)
(Decrease)inintrade
tradeand
andother
otherpayables
payables
Cash
Cashgenerated
generatedfrom
fromoperations
operations
Payment
Paymentofofexceptional
exceptionalacquisition
acquisitionexpenses
expenses
Interest
Interestreceived
received
Interest
Interestpaid
paid

Investing
Investingactivities
activities
Purchase
Purchaseofofproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipment

1818

Proceeds
Proceedsfrom
fromsale
saleofofproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipment
Purchase
Purchaseofofright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets

2929

Proceeds
Proceedsfrom
fromsale
saleofofright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets
Acquisition
Acquisitionofofsubsidiaries
subsidiaries

2121

(2,548)
(2,548)

(11,426)
(11,426)

Net
Netcash
cashacquired
acquiredwith
withsubsidiary
subsidiaryundertakings
undertakings

2121

2,274
2,274

5,146
5,146

Dividends
Dividendsreceived
receivedfrom
fromassociates
associates

2222

--

3333

(5,875)
(5,875)

(7,195)
(7,195)

Net
Netcash
cashused
usedinininvesting
investingactivities
activities
The
TheConsolidated
ConsolidatedStatement
StatementofofCash
CashFlows
Flowscontinues
continuesononthethefollowing
followingpage.
page.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
Financing activities
Equity dividends paid
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Payment of share issue costs
Payment of exceptional financing costs
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Repayment of loan notes
Payment of lease liabilities
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration
Payment of transaction costs relating to loans and borrowings
Settlement of derivative financial instruments
Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes
16

29
37
37

26

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

(4,500)
3,400
(12,500)
(1,398)
(7,883)
(90)
(22,971)
(18,651)
27,269
(26)
8,592

(2,000)
43,923
(414)
(490)
13,015
(25,000)
(14,562)
(871)
(5,885)
(70)
(105)
7,541
10,264
17,001
4
27,269

The notes on pages 66 to 113 form part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
1. General information
Brickability Group plc is a company incorporated in England and
Wales. The address of the registered office is shown on page 114.
The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are
set out in the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 29.
2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
The Company, as the ultimate parent of the Group, has elected
prepare its individual financial statements in accordance with FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework. The Company’s individual financial
statements are presented within these Group financial statements.
The Company has adopted the following disclosure exemptions:
i. the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
ii. 	the requirement to present a cash flow statement under IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows;
iii. the requirement to disclose key management personnel
compensation; and
iv. the requirement to disclose related party transactions with wholly
owned members of the Group.
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is
the functional currency of the Group. Amounts are rounded to the
nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis,
with the exception of certain financial assets and liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments) which are stated at fair value.
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
for at least twelve months from the date of signing these financial
statements. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Group’s
going concern basis has been considered further on pages 26 and
27 of the Strategic Report.
New standards, interpretations and amendments effective
from 1 January 2020
The following new standards and amendments have been
adopted by the Group for the first time in the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021:
• Definition of material (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8);
• Definition of a business (amendments to IFRS 3);
• Interest rate benchmark reform (amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39
and IFRS 7);
• COVID-19 related rent concessions (amendments to IFRS 16); and
• Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting.
The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

Amendments to IFRS 16: COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
Effective 1 June 2020, IFRS 16 was amended to provide a
practical expedient for lessees accounting for rent concessions
that arise as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and satisfy the following criteria:
i. The change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;
ii. T he reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and
iii. T here is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.
Rent concessions that satisfy the above criteria may be accounted for
in accordance with the practical expedient, which means lessees do
not need to assess whether the rent concession meets the definition of
a lease modification. Lessees apply other requirements in IFRS 16 in
accounting for the concession.
The Group has elected to utilise the practical expedient for all eligible
rent concessions. The practical expedient has also been applied
retrospectively to those rent concessions meeting the criteria from 1
April 2020 to 31 May 2020.
Accounting for the rent concessions as lease modifications would
have resulted in the Group remeasuring the lease liability to reflect the
revised consideration using a revised discount rate, with the effect of
the change in the lease liability being recorded against the right of use
asset. By applying the practical expedient, the Group is not required
to determine a revised discount rate and the effect of the change in
the lease liability is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the concession occurs. The impact of
applying the practical expedient is disclosed in note 29.
New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective
Certain new standards and amendments have been issued by
the IASB and will be effective in future accounting periods. The
standards and amendments that are not yet effective, are likely
to impact the Group and have not been adopted early by the
Group include:
• References to the Conceptual Framework (amendments to IFRS 3);
• Proceeds before intended use (amendments to IAS 16);
•O
 nerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract (amendments to IAS 37);
• Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 cycle
(amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41); and
• Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
(amendments to IAS 1).
The above amendments are not expected to have a significant impact
on the period of initial application or in subsequent reporting periods.

3. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which
were applied in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
3.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of Brickability Group plc and its subsidiary
undertakings. Control is achieved when the Group:
• has power over the investee;
• is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included from or to the date that control passes.

Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated fully on
consolidation and the consolidated financial statements reflect
external transactions only. Subsidiaries’ accounting policies are
amended where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
All accounts for subsidiary undertakings have been prepared
for the year ended 31 March 2021, except Forum Tiles Limited
which was incorporated in January 2021. Its first set of financial
statements will be prepared for the period ending 31 March
2022. The Group accounts therefore include interim financial
information to 31 March 2021 for this entity.
In the prior year, all subsidiary undertakings prepared accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2020, except for McCann Roofing
Products Limited and U Plastics Limited, which both had a year
end of 31 December 2019. The comparative figures therefore
include interim financial information to 31 March 2020 for each of
these entities, following their acquisition.
The Company has applied the exemption under section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006 and not presented its individual income statement.
3.2 Investments
Non-current asset investments by the Company in subsidiaries
and associates are initially recorded at cost and subsequently
stated at cost less any accumulated provision for impairment.
3.3 Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments are
initially recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted to reflect
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate or
joint venture since the acquisition date.
Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the
Group, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the relevant entity.
3.4 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the Group has satisfied its performance
obligations to the customer. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and Value Added Tax.
The Group generates revenue primarily through the
following activities:
• the sale of superior quality building materials to all sectors of
the construction industry including national house builders,
developers, contractors, general builders and retail to members
of the public;
• the transportation and distribution of building materials from
Europe to the UK;
• the supply of roofing construction services, primarily within the
residential construction sector; and
• the sale of high-performance joinery materials and the
distribution of radiators and associated parts and accessories.
The Group considers itself to be the principal in its revenue
arrangements as it typically controls the goods or services
before transferring them to the customer; the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling its promise to provide the goods or services
and for those goods or services meeting customer specifications,
it assumes the inventory risk prior to delivery to the customer and it
has complete discretion in setting its prices for the required goods
or services.
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3.4 Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred to the buyer. This is usually when the
goods are delivered to the customer. Revenue from the provision
of transportation and distribution services is also recognised on
delivery of the materials being transported as this is the point at
which the service is complete. There is limited judgement required
in identifying the point at which the service is complete or control
passes as, once physical delivery has taken place, the Group no
longer has possession of the goods, does not retain the significant
risks and rewards of those goods and has an unconditional right
to consideration. A receivable is therefore recognised on delivery
and payment expected according to the specific credit terms
agreed with each customer.
Revenue from contracts for the provision of services, in relation to
roof installations, is recognised over time by reference to the stage
of completion. Jobs in progress are reviewed and invoiced at the
end of each month to reflect the value of work carried out in the
period. This is considered an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the Group’s performance
obligations and reflects the Group’s right to consideration for
services performed to date. Payment is due throughout the
duration of the contract, based on the amounts invoiced and
according to the credit terms agreed.
Certain roofing products and services provided by the Group are
subject to warranty, requiring the Group to rectify defects during the
warranty period should those goods and services not comply with
agreed-upon specifications. Such warranties cannot be purchased
separately and are therefore accounted for in accordance with IAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Further
details are disclosed in notes 3.17 and 30.
The majority of the Group’s revenue is derived from fixed price
contracts with stand-alone selling prices. There is therefore no
judgement involved in allocating the contract price to the goods or
services provided.
The Group has applied the practical expedients within IFRS
15 in respect of the following:
• not accounting for significant financing components where the
time difference between receiving consideration and transferring
control of the goods or services to its customers is one year or
less; and
• expensing the incremental costs of obtaining a contract when the
amortisation period of the asset otherwise recognised is one year
or less.
Customer rebates
The Group offers customer rebates in respect of volume discounts.
These customer rebates give rise to variable consideration. Where
the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled in exchange for transferring its goods to the customer.
The Group applies the most likely amount method to estimate the
variable consideration in the contract.
Where the Group has rebate agreements with its customers,
rebates payable are deducted from revenue in the period that the
associated revenue is recognised. The value of rebates payable
is based on the terms of the individual contracts in place, to the
extent that it is highly probable that the variable consideration
estimated will not result in a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised when the uncertainty associated
with the variable contract is subsequently resolved.
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3.5 Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates (its functional currency). The results and financial
position of each Group company are expressed in pounds sterling,
which is also the functional currency of the Company and the
presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the
functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate on the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities, that
are denominated in foreign currencies, are retranslated at the
exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit
or loss for the year.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction and not retranslated at the reporting date.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date at
which the fair value is determined.
3.6 Group pension schemes
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service
is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that the prepayment will lead to a reduction in future
payments or a cash refund.
3.7 Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with. Grants relating to expense items
are recognised as income on a systemic basis over the period that
the related costs, for which the grant is intended to compensate,
are expensed. Grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred
income and transferred to income in the profit or loss on a systemic
basis over the expected useful life of the related assets. Further
details regarding grants received during the year are outlined in
note 8.
3.8 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement of Profit or
Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, tax
is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or recoverable based on
taxable profit for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of prior years. Current tax is calculated using tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. It is accounted for using the
liability method.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the
carrying value of an asset or liability in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:
• the initial recognition of goodwill;
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit; and
• investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are also re-assessed at each reporting date and
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable group company or different taxable group
companies which intend either to settle current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be
recovered or settled.
3.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost and
subsequently stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation
of an asset, less its residual value, over the estimated useful
life of that asset, using the straight-line or reducing balance
method, as follows:
Freehold property

2% – 25% per annum

Leasehold property

Over the term of the lease

Plant and machinery

20% to 33% per annum

Fixtures, fittings and equipment

10% to 33% per annum

Motor vehicles

10% to 25% per annum

Freehold land is not depreciated.

3.10 Leases
The Group assesses, at the inception of a contract, whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
when the Group has both the right to direct the identified asset’s use
and to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from that use.
For contracts that both convey a right to the Group to use an
identified asset and require services to be provided to the Group
by the lessor, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and thus account for the entire contract as a lease.
Lessee accounting
All leases are accounted for by recognising a right of use asset
and a lease liability except for:
• leases of low value assets; and
• leases with a term of 12 months or less.
Lease payments for short-term (those with a term of 12 months
or less) and low value asset leases are recognised as an expense,
in the Statement of Profit or Loss, on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Right of use assets
At the lease commencement date, right of use assets are
measured at the amount of the corresponding lease liability, less
any lease incentives received, plus the following:
• lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date;
• initial direct costs incurred; and
• the amount of any provision recognised where the Group is
contractually obliged to dismantle, remove or restore the leased
asset or site on which the leased asset is located.
Right of use assets are presented as a separate line in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Right of use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right of use assets are depreciated, on a straight-line basis,
over the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset, or the cost reflects that the Group expects to exercise a
purchase option, the related right of use asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the asset.
Lease liabilities
At the lease commencement date, lease liabilities are measured
at the present value of the lease payments due to the lessor over
the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease, where
this can be readily determined. Where the rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
include:
• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate;
• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of any purchase option, if it is reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and
• any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense, in the Statement of Profit or Loss,
in the period to which they relate.
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3.10 Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities are presented as a separate line in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.
Lease liabilities are subsequently increased to reflect interest
charged on the lease liability, using the effective interest method,
and reduced for lease payments made.
Lease liabilities are remeasured if there is a modification (and the
lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease), a
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments due to
changes in an index or rate, a change in the expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value or a change in the assessment
to exercise a purchase option.
In the event of a lease modification, change in lease term or
change in the assessment of a purchase option, the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.
In the event of a change in the lease payments, the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
an unchanged discount rate, unless the lease payment change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used.
When a lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right of use asset, with the revised
asset value being depreciated over the remaining lease term.
Lessor accounting
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor in respect of
sub-leasing some of its leasehold property. Where the Group is an
intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is classified as an
operating lease by reference to the right of use asset arising from
the head lease.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
3.11 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired as part of a business
combination is their fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets are subsequently stated at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged so as to write off the cost of the asset, less
its residual value, over the estimated useful life of that asset, using
the straight-line method, as follows:
Brands

10% – 12% per annum

Customer and supplier relationships
and other intangibles

10% – 25% per annum
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If there is an indication that there has been a change in the
amortisation rate, useful life or residual value of an intangible
asset, the amortisation charge is revised prospectively to reflect
the new estimates.
3.12 Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Development costs are only
recognised as an intangible asset if, and only if, the Group can
demonstrate all of the following:
• the technical feasibility to complete the development so that
the asset will be available for use or sale;
• its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
asset; and
• its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.
3.13 Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and
included in profit or loss.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, any
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Contingent consideration is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity
is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability that is a financial instrument, and within
the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at
fair value at the reporting date with changes in fair value
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss in accordance
with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration, that is not within
the scope of IFRS 9, is measured at fair value at each reporting
date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous
interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired
is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the
Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of
the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be
recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still
results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is remeasured based on the relative values of
the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.
3.14 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is
an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
asset. The recoverable amount is the higher of the value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal.
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups

of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is estimated
for the smallest group of assets to which it belongs and for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (its cash
generating unit (CGU)).
When the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit or
Loss, except to the extent that they reverse gains previously
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the
impairment loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previous gain.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
For assets, excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each
reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or
have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. When an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised recoverable amount
but only to the extent that the carrying value does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of amortisation or depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. The reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss.
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at
least annually. CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated,
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying value,
an impairment loss is recognised. It is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset of the unit. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
3.15 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and costs that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion
and sale.
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3.16 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. Financial assets and liabilities
are recognised in the Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

income. Where this election is made, there is no subsequent
re-classification of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments are recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

Financial assets
Financial assets, on initial recognition, are classified as those
to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or those
to be subsequently measured at fair value (either through
profit or loss or through other comprehensive income). The
classification depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities, on initial recognition, are classified as those
to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or those to be
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets held at amortised cost comprise trade and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the
Balance Sheet. They are assets held for the collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of the principal and interest.
They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. They
are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised
based on the simplified approach within IFRS 9, using lifetime
expected credit losses. During this process, the probability
of the non-payment of the trade receivables is assessed and
multiplied by the amount of the expected loss arising from
default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the
trade receivables. For trade receivables that are reported net,
such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account
with the loss being recognised within in the Statement of Profit
or Loss. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
reduced when the Group has no reasonable expectation of
recovering the financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently remeasured at fair value, with gains and losses
being recognised in profit or loss. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading and fall within the scope of IFRS 9, the Group may (on
an instrument-by-instrument basis) irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value within other comprehensive
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All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include trade
and other payables and loans and other borrowings, including
bank overdrafts. These are subsequently stated at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method. The interest
expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium
payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon
payable while the liability is outstanding.
Financial liabilities measured at fair value are subsequently
remeasured at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in
profit or loss.
Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk and interest
risk. The Group does not enter into speculative financial
instruments.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is
entered into and subsequently remeasured at fair value, with
gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.
Derivatives are held as financial assets when their fair value
is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is
negative.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Fair value measurement
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, based on the degree to which the fair
value is observable, as follows:
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs). Details of significant unobservable
inputs used in determining fair values within level 3 are
disclosed in note 33.
3.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to transfer
economic benefits to settle that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are recognised as a liability in the Balance Sheet
with a corresponding expense recognised in profit or loss.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When the effect of
the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
finance expense.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Warranties
The Group provides for the expected cost of warranty
obligations for defects that existed at the time of sale, as
required by law. Provision is based on historical experience
and management’s best estimate of the amount required to
settle the Group’s obligation. Further details are outlined in
note 30.
Dilapidations
The Group provides for the expected cost of restoring its
operating premises to their original state in accordance with
its lease terms. Provision is based on management’s best
estimate of the work and cost involved in completing this
restoration. The cost is recognised as part of the right of use
asset and is depreciated over the remaining term of the lease.
3.18 Share-based payments
Equity-settled share option schemes and long-term incentive
plans are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of nonmarket-based vesting conditions. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 36.
The fair value, determined at the grant date of the equitysettled share-based payments, is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each
reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect
of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves.
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3.19 Statement of cash flows
Deferred and contingent consideration arrangements
contain an implicit financing element. As such, the Group’s
policy is to include the payment of deferred and contingent
consideration within cash flows from financing activities.
The cash outflow is presented on a gross basis and thus
the associated interest is also included in the total paid
within cash flows from financing activities.
Cash flows in respect of the payment of lease liabilities
are also presented on a gross basis, with both the
interest and principal amounts included within cash
flows from financing activities.
Payments in respect of short-term or low value leases that are
not included within the measurement of the lease liabilities
are presented within cash flows from operating activities.
3.20 Alternative performance measures
Alternative performance measures (APMs) are
disclosed within the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts
where management believes it is necessary to do
so to provide further understanding of the financial
performance of the Group.
Underlying results are used in the day to day management
of the Group. They represent statutory measures adjusted
for items which could distort the understanding of
performance and comparability year on year.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is the primary non-statutory measure
used by the Group. This is represented by earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and
other items considered non-operational in nature,
including acquisition and share based payment related
expenses. A reconciliation between adjusted EBITDA
and statutory IFRS measures is included in note 6.
Exceptional items are those which the Group considers
to be significant in nature and quantum but not in the
normal course of business. Details of exceptional items
are disclosed in note 14.
Adjusted basic EPS
Adjusted basic EPS is defined as the adjusted profit
after tax divided by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the year.
Adjusted diluted EPS is defined as the adjusted profit
after tax divided by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted
average number of shares that would be issued on
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares
into ordinary shares.
An adjusted basic and diluted EPS is also determined
by dividing the profit after tax for the year by the total
number of shares in issue at the year end and following
the Initial Public Offering (IPO).
Adjusted basic and diluted EPS are outlined in note 17.
Net debt/ cash
Net debt is defined as bank borrowings (excluding
the impact of arrangement fees) less cash and cash
equivalents. Net cash arises when the cash and cash
equivalents exceed bank borrowings and is defined as
cash and cash equivalents less bank borrowings.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the
revision affects both current and future years.
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements that the Directors
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.
Associates
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, whereby the investment is initially
recognised at the transaction price and subsequently
adjusted to reflect the Group’s share of the profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and equity of the associate. Judgements
are made as to whether the Group has significant influence (but
not control or joint control), being the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the associate or not.
Provisions
Provisions are a key area of the financial statements and are
subject to both judgement and estimation uncertainty. Provisions
are recognised on product defect warranties when claims are
made in relation to the products and services supplied. This
requires judgement as to whether a claim would likely give rise
to a provision based on the Group’s knowledge of its products,
services and customers. The provision would then need to be
estimated based on management’s assessment of the likely work
and cost required to rectify any defect. This estimate is subjective
and based on management’s knowledge of the products,
services and past customer experience (see note 30).
Lease term
Judgement is required in determining the lease term where
a lease includes periods covered by an option to extend the
lease or an option to terminate the lease. The Directors apply
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain or not
that an option will be exercised. When recognising the lease, all
relevant factors are taken into account, including the Group’s
intentions and any factors that create an economic incentive
to exercise an option. After the commencement date, the lease
term will be re-assessed if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within the Group’s control and affects its
ability to exercise an option.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful
life. The annual amortisation charge and carrying value of
the asset is therefore sensitive to the estimated useful life. The
useful life is based on the period over which management
expects to benefit from the intangible assets, based on past
experience and knowledge of the business acquired.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group acquires intangible assets and goodwill during
a business combination. These assets are primarily the
assets subject to an impairment review. They are initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently at cost less
any amortisation (in the case of intangible assets) and
impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment
annually while other assets are assessed when an indication
of impairment is identified. In assessing whether an asset
is impaired, the asset’s or CGU’s value in use is calculated
based on a discounting cash flow model. The cash flows are
derived from forecasts covering the next three years. The
recoverable amount is therefore sensitive to the assumptions
and estimates used in determining the amount and timing
of future cash flows, the discount factor applied and the
growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. Details of the
key assumptions, including consideration of sensitivity, are
disclosed further in note 19.

Provision for expected credit losses (ECLs)
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of customers with similar credit
risk characteristics. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group’s historical observed default rates. However,
the historical rate is adjusted to consider forward looking
information, which may lead to a change in the expected
number of defaults. The assessment of correlation between
the historically observed default rates and forecast economic
conditions is therefore a significant estimate. The ECLs
calculated are sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions as the historical experience and
forecasts may not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. Details of the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets, are disclosed in note 25.

Intangible assets
The Group recognises identifiable intangible assets acquired
through business combinations, such as brands and customer
and supplier relationships, at fair value on acquisition. Any
excess paid over the value of net assets acquired is included
as goodwill. Estimates are required to determine the purchase
price allocation (PPA) between intangible assets and
goodwill, with the fair value of intangibles sensitive to these
estimates. The key estimates involved in establishing the fair
values are the future cash flows forecast for the acquired
entity, inputs into appropriate valuation models and the
expected useful life of the assets.

Share-based payments
Key estimates are used in determining the fair value of sharebased payment transactions, including selecting the most
appropriate valuation model and related inputs into that
model. The Group operates a Company Share Option Plan
(CSOP) and Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP) with equity
settled transactions. Fair value of the CSOP options was
measured using a binomial model at the grant date. Monte
Carlo and Black-Scholes models were used to determine the
fair value of the LTIP awards at the grant date. Estimates
are also required, at each reporting date, in determining the
number of options that are expected to vest. Details of the
assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 36.

Projected cash flows underpin the valuation of all identifiable
intangible assets. These are based on management’s best
estimate of the expected levels of trade and profits following
acquisition, taking into account actual results around the time
of acquisition. Forecasts are prepared for a three year period,
with an inflationary 2% growth rate applied thereafter.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
When fair values cannot be measured based on quoted
prices in an active market, the fair value is measured using
valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow
model. Inputs into this model are taken from observable
markets where possible but a degree of judgement is required
where this is not possible. Expert valuers are engaged by the
Group where appropriate.

The fair value of brands is based on a relief from royalty
method. The royalty rates applied in this model are based on
other business to business operations in the market, reflecting
the size of the entities acquired and that their reach is limited
given the business to business nature. The brand value is
sensitive to the royalty rate incorporated into the model. For
acquisitions during the year, the Group applied a royalty rate
of 1% based upon other business to business brands in the
sector and analysis of the underlying profit margin.

Contingent consideration, resulting from business
combinations, is valued at fair value at the acquisition date
as part of the business combination. When contingent
consideration meets the definition of a financial asset or
liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value at each
reporting date. The fair value is determined using discounted
cash flows. The key estimates are therefore the probability of
the performance target being met and the discount rate used.
Further details are disclosed in note 33.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Lease incremental borrowing rate
Where the interest rate in a lease cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate to measure the
lease liability. The incremental borrowing rate is that which the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right of use asset in a similar economic
environment. This rate therefore requires estimation when no
observable rates are available. The Group estimates the rate
by assessing the rates implied in similar agreements and using
observable inputs, such as market interest rates, when available.

COVID-19
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020 has led
to economic uncertainty over the past 15 months, with significant
government interventions on daily life in the UK. While the
Group has recovered strongly from the initial lockdown in March
and April 2020, that prevented trade, the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 on the consolidated financial statements still requires
judgement and affects certain estimates. The primary estimates
affected are those concerning the testing for impairment of assets
(see note 19), including adjustments made for forward looking
information in determining the Group’s expected ECL (note 25).

5. Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, by type, is as follows:

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Sale of goods

165,471

170,022

Rendering of services

15,613

17,104

181,084

187,126

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, by geographic location, is as follows:

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

United Kingdom

180,122

187,126

962

-

181,084

187,126

Europe

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers.
Revenue in relation to the sale of goods comprises amounts
receivable from the sale of building and joinery materials. Revenue
in connection with the rendering of services relates to amounts
receivable from the provision of roofing construction and
installation services and the transportation and distribution of
building materials. Revenue by segment is included in note 6.
Trade receivables and contract assets arising are disclosed in note
25. The Group does not have a significant level of contract assets.
6. Segmental analysis
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
segments based on its products and services. The Group
generates revenue through three main activities and thus has
three reportable segments, as follows:
• B ricks and Building Materials, which incorporates the sale of
superior quality building materials to all sectors of the construction
industry including national house builders, developers, contractors,
general builders and retail to members of the public;
• Roofing Services, which incorporates the supply of roofing
construction services, primarily within the residential construction
sector; and
• Heating, Plumbing and Joinery, which incorporates the sale
of high-performance joinery materials and the distribution of
radiators and associated parts and accessories.
The Group’s segments are strategic business units that offer
different products and services. Operating segments are reported
in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM, who is
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These arise where bespoke goods are prepared specifically for a
customer, for which the Group has a right to consideration but the
goods have not yet been transferred to the customer.
Included within other payables is an amount of £336,000 (2020:
£202,000) in relation to contract liabilities in respect of amounts
paid or invoiced in advance of goods being transferred to the
customer. Due to the nature of the business and short turnaround
between orders being placed and goods being delivered, liabilities at
the reporting date are recognised within revenue in the following year.
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the steering
committee that makes strategic decisions.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies as described in note 3. Segment
performance is evaluated based on adjusted EBITDA, without
allocation of depreciation and amortisation, finance expenses
and income, impairment losses, fair value movements or the
share of results of associates. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
The Group’s revenue is primarily generated in the United Kingdom.
An analysis by geographic location is included within note 5. All of
the revenue generated in Europe is included within revenue from
the rendering of services within the Bricks and Building Materials
segment below. Right of use assets, in respect of trailers, with a
carrying value of £1,251,000, are either held in the United Kingdom
or Europe at the year end, depending on the timing and location
of goods being transported. All other non-current assets are solely
held within the United Kingdom.

Included within revenue is a total of £19,910,000 (2020: £31,282,000) in respect of a customer accounting for more than 10% of the
Group’s total revenue. Revenue from this customer is included within all three reportable segments.
Inter-segment sales are eliminated from the results reported to the CODM and from the consolidated financial statements.

Bricks and Building
Materials
£’000
Revenue from sale of goods
Revenue from rendering of services
Total revenue
EBITDA
Centralised costs
(Loss)/ profit on disposal of assets
Group adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Acquisition costs
Share-based payment expense
Finance income
Finance expense
Share of results of associates
Fair value gains and losses
Group profit before tax

141,019
3,187
144,206
11,662

2021
Heating, Plumbing
Roofing Services
and Joinery
£’000
£’000
12,426
12,426
2,571

24,452
24,452
5,766

Consolidated
£’000
165,471
15,613
181,084
19,999
(2,453)
(4)
17,542
(1,837)
(3,619)
(105)
(338)
13
(845)
(6)
360
11,165

2020

Revenue from sale of goods
Revenue from rendering of services
Total revenue
EBITDA
Centralised costs
(Loss)/ profit on disposal of assets
Group adjusted EBITDA
Impairment of goodwill

Bricks and Building
Materials
£’000

Roofing Services
£’000

Heating, Plumbing
and Joinery
£’000

Consolidated
£’000

143,954

-

26,068

170,022

-

17,104

-

17,104

143,954

17,104

26,068

187,126

11,469

3,683

6,156

21,308
(1,805)
8
19,511
(16)

Depreciation

(1,312)

Amortisation

(3,059)

Finance income

71

Finance expense

(2,527)

Share of results of associates

(32)

Fair value gains and losses

(45)

Exceptional income

2,000

Exceptional expenses

(2,407)

Group profit before tax

12,184
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2021
YEAR
6.6.Segmental
Segmentalanalysis
analysis(continued)
(continued)
For
Forthe
thepurposes
purposesofofmonitoring
monitoringsegment
segmentperformance
performanceand
andallocating
allocatingresources
resourcesbetween
betweensegments,
segments,the
theCODM
CODMmonitors
monitorsthe
thetotal
total
non-current
non-currentand
andcurrent
currentassets
assetsattributable
attributabletotoeach
eachsegment.
segment.AllAllassets
assetsare
areallocated
allocatedtotoreportable
reportablesegments
segmentswith
withthe
theexception
exceptionofof
those
thoseused
usedprimarily
primarilyforforcorporate
corporatepurposes
purposes(head
(headoffice),
office),investments
investmentsininassociates
associatesand
andfinancial
financialassets
assetsand
anddeferred
deferredtax
taxassets.
assets.
Goodwill
Goodwillhas
hasbeen
beenallocated
allocatedtotoreportable
reportablesegments
segmentsasasdetailed
detailedininnote
note19.19.No
Noother
otherassets
assetsare
areused
usedjointly
jointlybybyreportable
reportablesegments.
segments.
2021
2021
Bricksand
andBuilding
Building
Bricks
Materials
Materials
£’000
£’000

RoofingServices
Services
Roofing
£’000
£’000

Heating,Plumbing
Plumbing
Heating,
andJoinery
Joinery
and
£’000
£’000

Consolidated
Consolidated
£’000
£’000

Non-currentsegment
segmentassets
assets
Non-current

46,276
46,276

18,235
18,235

29,867
29,867

94,378
94,378

Currentsegment
segmentassets
assets
Current

45,635
45,635

3,799
3,799

12,582
12,582

62,016
62,016

Totalsegment
segmentassets
assets
Total

91,911
91,911

22,034
22,034

42,449
42,449

156,394
156,394

Investmentininassociates
associates
Investment

221
221

Investmentsininfinancial
financialassets
assets
Investments

125
125

Deferredtaxtaxassets
assets
Deferred

98
98

Headoffice
office
Head

1,535
1,535

Groupassets
assets
Group
Totalsegment
segmentliabilities
liabilities
Total

158,373
158,373
(37,570)
(37,570)

(2,815)
(2,815)

(7,040)
(7,040)

(47,425)
(47,425)

Loansand
andborrowings
borrowings
Loans
(excludingleases
leasesand
andoverdrafts)
overdrafts)
(excluding

(15,750)
(15,750)

Deferredtaxtaxliabilities
liabilities
Deferred

(5,301)
(5,301)

Otherunallocated
unallocatedcentral
centralliabilities
liabilities
Other

(4,463)
(4,463)

Groupliabilities
liabilities
Group

(72,939)
(72,939)

2020
2020
Bricksand
andBuilding
Building
Bricks
Materials
Materials
£’000
£’000

RoofingServices
Services
Roofing
£’000
£’000

Heating,Plumbing
Plumbingand
and
Heating,
Joinery
Joinery
£’000
£’000

Consolidated
Consolidated
£’000
£’000

Non-currentsegment
segmentassets
assets
Non-current

42,166
42,166

19,684
19,684

27,134
27,134

88,984
88,984

Currentsegment
segmentassets
assets
Current

51,856
51,856

3,798
3,798

10,837
10,837

66,491
66,491

Totalsegment
segmentassets
assets
Total

94,022
94,022

23,482
23,482

37,971
37,971

155,475
155,475

Investmentininassociates
associates
Investment

352
352

Deferredtaxtaxassets
assets
Deferred

205
205

Headoffice
office
Head

7,134
7,134

Groupassets
assets
Group
Totalsegment
segmentliabilities
liabilities
Total

163,166
163,166
(34,205)
(34,205)

(2,265)
(2,265)

(4,744)
(4,744)

(41,214)
(41,214)

Loansand
andborrowings
borrowings
Loans
(excludingleases
leasesand
andoverdrafts)
overdrafts)
(excluding

(24,912)
(24,912)

Deferredtaxtaxliabilities
liabilities
Deferred

(5,631)
(5,631)

Otherunallocated
unallocatedcentral
centralliabilities
liabilities
Other

(11,344)
(11,344)

Groupliabilities
liabilities
Group

(83,101)
(83,101)

7878

7.7.Other
Otheroperating
operatingincome
income
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Rental
Rentalincome
income

46
46

99

Other
Other

46
46

1717

9292

2626

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

3,619
3,619

3,059
3,059

--

1616

Depreciation
Depreciationofofproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipment

726
726

595
595

Depreciation
Depreciationofofright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets

1,111
1,111

717
717

44

(8)
(8)

32,129
32,129

25,424
25,424

Impairment
Impairmentofoftrade
tradereceivables
receivables

341
341

433
433

Net
Netforeign
foreignexchange
exchangegains
gains

(173)
(173)

(170)
(170)

Government
Governmentgrant
grantincome
income

(1,360)
(1,360)

--

8.8.Profit
Profitbefore
beforetax
tax
Profit
Profitbefore
beforetax
taxisisstated
statedafter
aftercharging/
charging/(crediting):
(crediting):

Amortisation
Amortisationofofintangible
intangibleassets
assets
Impairment
Impairmentofofgoodwill
goodwill

Loss/
Loss/(Gain)
(Gain)onondisposal
disposalofofproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipmentand
andright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets
Cost
Costofofinventories
inventoriesrecognised
recognisedasasananexpense
expense

During
Duringthetheyear,
year,thetheGroup
Groupreceived
receivedgovernment
governmentgrants
grantsininresponse
responsetotothetheglobal
globalCOVID-19
COVID-19pandemic.
pandemic.The
TheGroup
Grouphas
haselected
electedtotodeduct
deductthethegrant
grantincome
incomefrom
from
thetheassociated
associatedexpenses.
expenses.The
Thegrant
grantincome
incomeis isincluded
includedwithin
withinadministrative
administrativeexpenses,
expenses,with
with£30,000
£30,000relating
relatingtotobusiness
businessrates
ratessupport,
support,while
whilethetheremainder
remainder
relates
s employees.
relatestotosupport
supportininrespect
respectofofpayroll
payrollcosts
costsofofthetheGroup’
Group’
s employees.The
TheGroup
Groupdoes
doesnot
nothave
haveany
anyunfulfilled
unfulfilledobligations
obligationsororother
othercontingencies
contingenciesrelating
relatingtotothethe
support
supportschemes.
schemes.
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9. Auditor’s remuneration
During the year, the Group incurred the following costs for services provided by the Company’s Auditor:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Audit of the company annual financial statements

37

13

Audit of the company’s subsidiaries

159

169

Total audit related fees

196

182

Reporting accountant

-

292

Other services

6

41

Total non-audit fees

6

333

202

515

Fees payable for audit services:

Fees payable for other services:

Total auditors’ remuneration

10. Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year, including the Directors, amounted to:
2021
Number

2020
Number

Production staff

6

9

Distribution staff

49

24

Administrative staff

64

51

Management staff

44

32

Sales and sales support staff

165

169

328

285

The aggregate remuneration costs incurred during the year, and included within administration expenses, were:
2020
£’000

2020
£’000

Wages and salaries

14,511

10,757

Social security costs

1,642

1,198

Other pension costs (note 32)

586

463

Share-based payments expense (note 36)

338

56

17,077

12,474

Staff costs:
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The Directors’ aggregate remuneration in respect of qualifying services was:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

1,081

1,248

21

42

1,102

1,290

2021
Number

2020
Number

1

1

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

636

463

-

-

636

463

Directors’ emoluments:
Remuneration
Pension contributions

The number of Directors who accrued benefits under company pension plans was as follows:

Defined contribution pension plans

Remuneration of the highest paid Director in respect of qualifying services was:

Remuneration
Pension contributions

Full details of Directors’ remuneration is included within the Report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 39 to 45.

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Interest on cash and cash equivalents

13

70

Gain on fair value adjustment of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

-

1

13

71

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts

360

1,013

Interest on lease liabilities

354

280

Interest payable on loan notes

-

977

Interest payable on deferred consideration

-

13

127

227

4

17

845

2,527

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

360

(45)

11. Finance income

12. Finance expense

Unwinding of discount on contingent consideration
Other interest payable

13. Fair value gains and losses
Gain/ (loss) on re-measurement of contingent consideration (notes 21 & 33)
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14. Other items
In order to assist with the understanding of the Group’s performance, items that management consider to not be directly attributable
to the Group’s underlying trade are presented separately, on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income. This presentation has been adopted for the first time in the current year and thus the prior year figures have
been re-presented on a comparable basis. No changes have been made to the individual line item totals reported in the prior year.
Other items represent those costs that are considered non-operational in nature and are as follows:

Acquisition costs
Share based payment expense
Total administrative expenses
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 19)
Impairment of goodwill (note 19)
Total depreciation and amortisation
Interest payable on loan notes (note 12)
Interest payable on deferred consideration (note 12)
Unwinding of discount on contingent consideration (note 12)
Total finance expense
Share of post-tax loss of equity accounted associates (note 22)
Fair value gains/ (losses) (note 13)
Exceptional income
Exceptional expenses
Total other items before tax
Tax on other items
Total other items after tax

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

(105)
(338)
(443)
(3,619)
(3,619)
(127)
(127)
(6)
360
(3,835)
687
(3,148)

(56)
(56)
(3,059)
(16)
(3,075)
(977)
(13)
(227)
(1,217)
(32)
(45)
2,000
(2,407)
(4,832)
12
(4,820)

Acquisition costs comprise of transaction costs of £22,000, in relation to stamp duty, plus a further £83,000 in respect of legal
and professional fees directly associated with the acquisitions in the year. Acquisition costs in the prior year were included within the
exceptional expenses line (below).
The share-based payment expense represents the share-based payment charge for the year, including associated accrued employer taxes.
Exceptional items were included in the prior year, in respect of those costs that the Group considered to be significant, one-off items
that are not incurred as part of the Group’s normal operations.
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Insurance proceeds in respect of keyman policies

-

2,000

Total exceptional income

-

2,000

Exceptional income

The exceptional income in the prior year relates to a recovery under keyman insurance policies, following a medical diagnosis, in
connection with a member of key management.
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

-

(522)

Exceptional expenses
IPO costs
Re-financing costs

-

(585)

Acquisition costs

-

(425)

Impairment of investments in associates (note 22)

-

(875)

Total exceptional expenses

-

(2,407)
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During the prior year, the Company completed an initial
public offering (IPO). Exceptional legal and professional fees
of £522,000 are included within the 2020 profit or loss in
connection with the IPO. Transactions costs of £2,501,000,
directly attributable to the issue of shares, were included as a
reduction in the share premium account.
The Group also undertook a re-financing exercise in the prior year,
incurring exceptional costs of £585,000 in respect of the release of
loan arrangement fees, following repayment of the previous term
loan on listing, and legal fees associated with the re-financing.

During the prior year, the Group acquired seven subsidiaries,
incurring costs of £425,000. This comprised transaction
costs on acquisition of £103,000, in relation to stamp duty,
and £322,000 in respect of legal and professional fees
directly associated with these acquisitions.
Further details regarding the impairment of investments
in associates is disclosed in note 22.
The tax credit arising on the other items is presented on
the same basis as the cost to which it relates.

15. Tax on profit
The major components of the income tax expense are:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

UK current tax expense

2,851

2,885

Adjustments in respect of prior periods

(720)

(618)

Total current tax

2,131

2,267

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

(625)

626

Total tax on profit

1,506

2,893

Current tax

Deferred tax

Reconciliation of tax expense
The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK is 19% (2020: 19%). The charge for the year can be reconciled, to the standard
rate applied to the profit before tax, as follows:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

11,165

12,184

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard rate

2,121

2,315

Adjustments to current tax charge in respect of prior periods

(720)

(618)

Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of prior periods

35

509

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes

50

94

Effect of capital allowances and depreciation

35

26

Effect of changes in UK tax rates

-

549

Effect of utilisation of tax losses

(15)

2

Changes in unrecognised deferred tax assets

-

(1)

Other tax adjustments

-

17

1,506

2,893

Tax on profit

On 11 March 2021, the UK Government announced that the main rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom would increase to
25%, with effect from April 2023. This change was not substantively enacted at the year end and thus there has been no impact on
the tax liabilities at the reporting date. However, once this rate has been substantively enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities,
currently recognised at 19%, will be remeasured at 25%. This change is expected to result in an increase of £1,384,000 in the
deferred tax liability recognised at 31 March 2022.
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YEARENDED
ENDED3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021
YEAR
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Finaldividend
dividendforforthetheyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2020
2020ofof1.0850p
1.0850pper
pershare
share
Final
(2020:forforthetheyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2019
2019ofofnilnilp pper
pershare)
share)
(2020:

2,500
2,500

--

Interimdividend
dividendforforthetheyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2021
2021ofof0.8678p
0.8678pper
pershare
share
Interim
(2020:forforthetheyear
yearended
ended3131March
March2020
2020ofof0.8678
0.8678p pper
pershare)
share)
(2020:

2,000
2,000

2,000
2,000

Totaldividends
dividendspaid
paidininthe
theyear
year
Total

4,500
4,500

2,000
2,000

16.Dividends
Dividends
16.
Amountsrecognised
recognisedasasdistributions
distributionstotoequity
equityholders
holdersininthe
theyear:
year:
Amounts

TheDirectors
Directorsrecommend
recommendthat
thataafinal
finaldividend
dividendforfor2021
2021ofof1.0850p
1.0850p(2020:
(2020:1.0850p)
1.0850p)per
perordinary
ordinaryshare
sharebebepaid.
paid.
The
Thefinal
finaldividend
dividendwill
willbebepaid,
paid,subject
subjecttotoshareholders’
shareholders’approval
approvalatatthe
theAnnual
AnnualGeneral
GeneralMeeting,
Meeting,totoshareholders
shareholdersononthe
theregister
registeratat
The
theclose
closeofofbusiness
businessonon2727August
August2021.
2021.This
Thisdividend
dividendhas
hasnot
notbeen
beenincluded
includedasasaaliability
liabilityininthese
thesefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
the
Earningsper
pershare
share
17.17.Earnings
Earningsper
pershare
share(EPS)
(EPS)isiscalculated
calculatedbybydividing
dividingthe
theprofit
profitforforthe
theyear,
year,attributable
attributabletotoordinary
ordinaryequity
equityholders
holdersofofthe
theparent,
parent,bybythe
the
Earnings
weightedaverage
averagenumber
numberofofordinary
ordinaryshares
sharesoutstanding
outstandingduring
duringthe
theyear.
year.
weighted
DilutedEPS
EPSisiscalculated
calculatedbybydividing
dividingthe
theprofit
profitforforthe
theyear,
year,attributable
attributabletotoordinary
ordinaryequity
equityholders,
holders,bybythe
theweighted
weightedaverage
averagenumber
number
Diluted
ordinaryshares
sharesoutstanding
outstandingduring
duringthe
theyear
yearplus
plusthe
theweighted
weightedaverage
averagenumber
numberofofordinary
ordinaryshares
sharesthat
thatwould
wouldbebeissued
issuedonon
ofofordinary
conversionofofallallthe
thedilutive
dilutivepotential
potentialordinary
ordinaryshares
sharesinto
intoordinary
ordinaryshares.
shares.
conversion
Thecalculation
calculationofofbasic
basicand
anddiluted
dilutedearnings
earningsper
pershare
shareisisbased
basedononthe
thefollowing
followingdata:
data:
The
2021
2021

Basicearnings
earningsper
pershare
share
Basic
Effectofofdilutive
dilutivesecurities
securities
Effect
Employeeshare
shareoptions
options
Employee
Dilutedearnings
earningsper
pershare
share
Diluted

2020
2020

Earnings
Earnings
£’000
£’000

Weighted
Weighted
average
average
numberofof
number
shares
shares

Earnings
Earnings
pershare
share
per
(p)
(p)

Earnings
Earnings
£’000
£’000

Weighted
Weighted
average
average
numberofof
number
shares
shares

Earnings
Earnings
pershare
share
per
(p)
(p)

9,665
9,665

230,458,821
230,458,821

4.19
4.19

9,291
9,291

194,093,236
194,093,236

4.79
4.79

--

629,983
629,983

--

--

582,220
582,220

--

9,665
9,665

231,088,804
231,088,804

4.18
4.18

9,291
9,291

194,675,456
194,675,456

4.77
4.77

Basedononthethefullfullnumber
numberofofshares
sharesininissue
issueatatthetheyear
yearend,
end,and
andfollowing
followingthetheIPO
IPOininthetheprior
prioryear,
year,thetheadjusted
adjustedbasic
basicand
anddiluted
dilutedEPS
EPSwould
wouldbebeasasfollows:
follows:
Based
Adjustedbasic
basicearnings
earningsper
pershare
share
Adjusted

9,665
9,665

230,458,821
230,458,821

4.19
4.19

9,291
9,291

230,458,821
230,458,821

4.03
4.03

Adjusteddiluted
dilutedearnings
earningsperpershare
share
Adjusted

9,665
9,665

231,088,804
231,088,804

4.18
4.18

9,291
9,291

231,041,041
231,041,041

4.02
4.02

Adjustedearnings
earningsper
pershare
shareand
andadjusted
adjusteddiluted
dilutedearnings
earningsper
pershare
sharebased
basedononthe
theadjusted
adjustedprofit
profitattributable
attributabletotothe
theequity
equityholders
holders
Adjusted
theparent,
parent,asasshown
shownininthe
theAdjusted
Adjustedcolumn
columnofofthe
theConsolidated
ConsolidatedStatement
StatementofofProfit
ProfitororLoss
Lossand
andOther
OtherComprehensive
ComprehensiveIncome.
Income.
ofofthe
Detailsofofthe
theOther
Otheritems
itemsafter
aftertax,
tax,forming
formingthe
thedifference
differencebetween
betweenthe
thestatutory
statutoryearnings
earningsabove
aboveand
andadjusted
adjustedearnings
earningsbelow,
below,are
are
Details
outlinedininnote
note1414ofofthe
thefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
outlined
2021
2021

2020
2020

Earnings
Earnings
£’000
£’000

Weighted
Weighted
average
average
numberofof
number
shares
shares

Earnings
Earnings
pershare
share
per
(p)
(p)

Adjusted
Adjustedbasic
basicearnings
earningsper
pershare
share

12,813
12,813

230,458,821
230,458,821

Effect
Effectofofdilutive
dilutivesecurities
securities
Employee
Employeeshare
shareoptions
options
Adjusteddiluted
dilutedearnings
earningsperpershare
share
Adjusted

-12,813
12,813

84
84

Earnings
Earnings
£’000
£’000

Weighted
Weighted
average
average
numberofof
number
shares
shares

Earnings
Earnings
pershare
share
per
(p)
(p)

5.56
5.56

14,111
14,111

194,093,236
194,093,236

7.27
7.27

629,983
629,983

--

--

582,220
582,220

--

231,088,804
231,088,804

5.54
5.54

14,111
14,111

194,675,456
194,675,456

7.25
7.25

Land
Landand
and
buildings
buildings
£’000
£’000

Plant
Plantand
and
machinery
machinery
£’000
£’000

Fixtures,
Fixtures,
fittings
fittingsand
and
equipment
equipment
£’000
£’000

Motor
Motor
vehicles
vehicles
£’000
£’000

Total
Total
£’000
£’000

3,025
3,025
398
398
6060
-3,483
3,483
5,060
5,060
---8,543
8,543

336
336
299
299
6363
(1)(1)
697
697
102
102
44
-(14)
(14)
789
789

242
242
6767
6262
-371
371
309
309
99
--689
689

466
466
187
187
144
144
(43)
(43)
754
754
198
198
-127
127
(115)
(115)
964
964

4,069
4,069
951
951
329
329
(44)
(44)
5,305
5,305
5,669
5,669
1313
127
127
(129)
(129)
10,985
10,985

AtAt1 April
1 April2019
2019
Charge
Chargeforforthetheyear
year
On
Ondisposals
disposals
AtAt3131March
March2020
2020
Charge
Chargeforforthetheyear
year
Transferred
Transferredfrom
fromright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets
On
Ondisposals
disposals

213
213
247
247
-460
460
305
305
---

123
123
141141
-264
264
135
135
-(4)
(4)

9393
8181
-174
174
9393
--

--

126
126
126
126
(18)
(18)
234
234
193
193
6060
(55)
(55)

555
555
595
595
(18)
(18)
1,132
1,132
726
726
6060
(59)
(59)

AtAt3131March
March2021
2021
Net
Netbook
bookvalue
value

765
765

396
396

267
267

432
432

1,860
1,860

AtAt3131March
March2021
2021
March2020
2020
AtAt3131March

7,778
7,778
3,023
3,023

393
393
433
433

422
422
197
197

532
532
520
520

9,125
9,125
4,173
4,173

18.
18.Property,
Property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipment
Cost
Cost
AtAt1 April
1 April2019
2019
Additions
Additions
Acquisition
Acquisitionthrough
throughbusiness
businesscombinations
combinations
Disposals
Disposals
AtAt3131March
March2020
2020
Additions
Additions
Acquisition
Acquisitionthrough
throughbusiness
businesscombinations
combinations
Transferred
Transferredfrom
fromright
rightofofuse
useassets
assets
Disposals
Disposals
AtAt3131March
March2021
2021
Depreciation
Depreciation

The
TheCompany
Companyhas
hasnonoproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment.
equipment.
Included
Includedwithin
withinland
landand
andbuildings
buildingsisisfreehold
freeholdland
landamounting
amountingtoto£1,113,000
£1,113,000(2020:
(2020:£348,000)
£348,000)which
whichisisnot
notdepreciated.
depreciated.
Property,
s bank
Property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipmentwith
witha acarrying
carryingvalue
valueofof£7,920,000
£7,920,000(2020:
(2020:£2,983,000)
£2,983,000)isispledged
pledgedasassecurity
securityforforthe
theGroup’
Group’
s bankloan.
loan.
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2021
YEAR

19.Intangible
Intangibleassets
assets
19.
Cost
Cost
1 April2019
2019
AtAt1 April
Additions
Additions
Acquisitionthrough
throughbusiness
businesscombinations
combinations
Acquisition
March2020
2020
AtAt3131March
Additions
Additions
Acquisitionthrough
throughbusiness
businesscombinations
combinations
Acquisition
Disposals
Disposals
March2021
2021
AtAt3131March
Amortisationand
andimpairment
impairment
Amortisation
1 April2019
2019
AtAt1 April
Chargeforforthetheyear
year
Charge
Impairment
Impairment
March2020
2020
AtAt3131March
Chargeforforthetheyear
year
Charge
Impairment
Impairment
Ondisposals
disposals
On
March2021
2021
AtAt3131March
Netbook
bookvalue
value
Net
March2021
2021
AtAt3131March
March2020
2020
AtAt3131March

Brands
Brands
£’000
£’000

Customer&&supplier
supplier
Customer
relationshipsand
and
relationships
otherintangibles
intangibles
other
£’000
£’000

Goodwill
Goodwill
£’000
£’000

Total
Total
£’000
£’000

5,351
5,351
-2,564
2,564
7,915
7,915
-421
421
-8,336
8,336

20,801
20,801
-5,734
5,734
26,535
26,535
-1,489
1,489
-28,024
28,024

43,388
43,388
-6,074
6,074
49,462
49,462
-507
507
-49,969
49,969

69,540
69,540
-14,372
14,372
83,912
83,912
-2,417
2,417
-86,329
86,329

566
566
639
639
-1,205
1,205
806
806
--2,011
2,011

2,221
2,221
2,420
2,420
-4,641
4,641
2,813
2,813
--7,454
7,454

--1616
1616
---1616

2,787
2,787
3,059
3,059
1616
5,862
5,862
3,619
3,619
--9,481
9,481

6,325
6,325
6,710
6,710

20,570
20,570
21,894
21,894

49,953
49,953
49,446
49,446

76,848
76,848
78,050
78,050

TheCompany
Companyhas
hasnonointangible
intangibleassets.
assets.
The
Goodwillisisreviewed
reviewedannually
annuallyforforimpairment.
impairment.AsAsoutlined
outlinedwithin
withinthe
thekey
keysources
sourcesofofestimation
estimationuncertainty,
uncertainty,ininnote
note44ofofthe
thefinancial
financial
Goodwill
statements,the
theongoing
ongoingCOVID-19
COVID-19pandemic
pandemicled
ledtotosignificant
significantchanges
changesininthe
themarket
marketininwhich
whichthe
theGroup
Groupoperates.
operates.This
Thishas
hasgiven
given
statements,
risetotoananindication
indicationofofpotential
potentialimpairment.
impairment.AsAssuch,
such,impairment
impairmentreviews
reviewshave
havealso
alsobeen
beencarried
carriedout
outininrespect
respectofofother
otherintangible
intangible
rise
assetsand
andother
othernon
nonfinancial
financialassets,
assets,including
includingproperty,
property,plant
plantand
andequipment
equipmentand
andright
rightofofuse
useassets.
assets.
assets
Impairmentsofofinvestments
investmentsininassociates
associatesare
aredisclosed
disclosedininnote
note22.
22.
Impairments
Thecarrying
carryingamount
amountofofgoodwill
goodwilland
andimpairment
impairmentlosses
lossesbybysegment
segmentare
areasasfollows:
follows:
The

1 April2019
2019
AtAt1 April
Recognisedononacquisitions
acquisitions
Recognised
Impairment
Impairment
March2020
2020
AtAt3131March
Recognisedononacquisitions
acquisitions
Recognised
Impairment
Impairment
March2021
2021
AtAt3131March

Bricksand
andBuilding
Building
Bricks
Materials
Materials
£’000
£’000

RoofingServices
Services
Roofing
£’000
£’000

Heating,Plumbing
Plumbing
Heating,
andJoinery
Joinery
and
£’000
£’000

Consolidated
Consolidated
£’000
£’000

18,399
18,399
5,940
5,940
(16)
(16)
24,323
24,323
388
388
-24,711
24,711

12,299
12,299
--12,299
12,299
--12,299
12,299

12,690
12,690
134
134
-12,824
12,824
119119
-12,943
12,943

43,388
43,388
6,074
6,074
(16)
(16)
49,446
49,446
507
507
-49,953
49,953

Impairmentlosses
lossesregarding
regardinggoodwill
goodwillare
areincluded
includedwithin
withinthe
thedepreciation
depreciationand
andamortisation
amortisationexpense
expenseininthe
theStatement
StatementofofProfit
ProfitororLoss.
Loss.
Impairment

86
86

The
Thecarrying
carryingamount
amountofofgoodwill
goodwillisisallocated
allocatedtotoCGUs
CGUsasasfollows:
follows:

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Brick-ability
Brick-abilitytrading
tradinggroup
group

12,845
12,845

12,845
12,845

PVH
PVHtrading
tradinggroup
group

16,399
16,399

16,399
16,399

HHG
HHGtrading
tradinggroup
group

12,690
12,690

12,690
12,690

Other
OtherCGUs
CGUs

8,019
8,019

7,512
7,512

Total
Total

49,953
49,953

49,446
49,446

The
Thegoodwill
goodwillallocated
allocatedtotothe
theBrick-ability
Brick-abilitytrading
tradinggroup,
group,PVH
PVH
trading
tradinggroup
groupand
andHHG
HHGtrading
tradinggroup
groupCGUs
CGUsisisconsidered
considered
significant
s total
significantinincomparison
comparisonwith
withthe
theGroup’
Group’
s totalcarrying
carryingamount
amount
ofofgoodwill.
goodwill.CGUs
CGUswithin
withinthe
theOther
OtherCGU
CGUcategory
categoryrepresent
represent
between
between0.03%
0.03%and
and6.15%
6.15%ofofthe
thetotal
totalgoodwill
goodwilland
andrelate
relatetotothe
the
business
businessoperations
operationsofofentities
entitiesacquired
acquiredduring
duringthe
thecurrent
currentand
and
previous
previousyears.
years.
The
TheGroup
Groupestimates
estimatesthe
therecoverable
recoverableamount
amountofofeach
eachCGU
CGUusing
using
a avalue
valueininuse
usemodel
modelbybyprojecting
projectingcash
cashflows
flowsforforthe
thenext
nextthree
three
years
yearstogether
togetherwith
witha aterminal
terminalvalue
valueusing
usinga agrowth
growthrate.
rate.The
Thekey
key
assumptions
assumptionsunderpinning
underpinningthe
therecoverable
recoverableamounts
amountsofofthe
theCGUs
CGUs
tested
testedforforimpairment
impairmentare
areforecast
forecastrevenues
revenuesand
andEBITDA
EBITDAand
andthe
the
discount
discountrate
rateapplied.
applied.
Revenue
Revenueand
andEBITDA
EBITDAforecast
forecastininthe
theimpairment
impairmentmodels
modelsare
are
based
s past
basedononmanagement’
management’
s pastexperience
experienceand
andfuture
futureexpectations
expectations
ofofperformance.
performance.The
Theprojections
projectionsalso
alsoconsider
considerthe
theongoing
ongoing
impact
impactofofthe
theCOVID-19
COVID-19pandemic,
pandemic,with
withassumptions
assumptionsforforfuture
future
trade
tradesupported
supportedbybyactual
actualtrends
trendsand
andperformance
performanceduring
duringthe
the
pandemic.
pandemic.For
Foreach
eachCGU,
CGU,a agrowth
growthrate
rateofof2%
2%(2020:
(2020:2%)
2%)isisused
used
totoextrapolate
extrapolatecash
cashflow
flowprojections
projectionsbeyond
beyondthe
thethree
threeyear
yearperiod
period
covered
coveredbybythe
themost
mostrecent
recentforecasts.
forecasts.This
Thisrate
ratedoes
doesnot
notexceed
exceed

the
theaverage
averagelong-term
long-termgrowth
growthrate
rateforforthe
therelevant
relevantmarkets.
markets.The
The
rates
ratesused
usedtotodiscount
discountthe
theforecast
forecastcash
cashflows
flowsare
are10.00%
10.00%– –12.60%
12.60%
(2020:
s weighted
(2020:10.00%)
10.00%)derived
derivedfrom
fromthe
theCGU’
CGU’
s weightedaverage
averagecost
costofof
capital
capital(WACC).
(WACC).
The
Theimpairment
impairmentloss
lossofof£nil
£nil(2020:
(2020:£16,000)
£16,000)ininthe
theperiod
periodrelates
relates
totogoodwill
goodwillheld
heldinina asubsidiary
subsidiaryand
andisisincluded
includedwithin
withinthe
theOther
Other
CGU
CGUtotal
totalabove.
above.This
Thisgoodwill
goodwillarose
arosefollowing
followingincorporation
incorporationofof
that
thatsubsidiary
subsidiaryand
andacquisition
acquisitionofofthe
thebusiness
businesspreviously
previouslyoperating
operating
asasa apartnership.
partnership.Given
Giventhe
theage
ageofofthe
thegoodwill
goodwillasset,
asset,management
management
nonolonger
longerconsidered
consideredthat
thateconomic
economicbenefits
benefitsgenerated
generatedbybythat
that
subsidiary
subsidiarywere
wereattributable
attributabletotothis
thisasset.
asset.ItsItscarrying
carryingamount
amountwas
was
therefore
thereforewritten
writtendown
downtoto£nil,
£nil,based
basedononitsitsvalue
valueininuse.
use.
The
Thetotal
totalrecoverable
recoverableamount
amountininrespect
respectofofgoodwill
goodwillarising
arisingonon
consolidation,
consolidation,other
otherintangibles
intangiblesand
andother
othernon-financial
non-financialassets,
assets,
asasassessed
assessedbybymanagement
managementusing
usingthe
theabove
aboveassumptions,
assumptions,isis
greater
greaterthan
thanthe
thecarrying
carryingamount.
amount.No
Nofurther
furtherimpairment
impairmentloss
losshas
has
therefore
thereforebeen
beenrecorded,
recorded,inineither
eitherthe
thecurrent
currentororprevious
previousyear.
year.
The
Theprojections
projectionsused
usedininthe
theimpairment
impairmentreviews
reviewshave
havealso
alsobeen
been
sensitised.
sensitised.Given
Giventhe
thelevel
levelofofheadroom,
headroom,management
managementcurrently
currently
consider
considerthat
thatit itisisnot
notreasonably
reasonablypossible
possibleforforthe
theassumptions
assumptionstoto
change
changesososignificantly
significantlyasastotoeliminate
eliminatethe
theexcess.
excess.

20.
20.Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries
Company
Company

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

6,542
6,542

6,542
6,542

Shares
Sharesiningroup
groupundertakings
undertakings
Cost
Costand
andcarrying
carryingvalue
value
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
20. Subsidiaries (continued)
At the reporting date, the Company had the following subsidiary undertakings, all of which are included in these consolidated financial statements:
Subsidiary
Brickability Enterprises Holding Limited
Brickability Enterprises Investments Limited
Brickability UK Holdings Limited (1)
Brick-ability Ltd. (2)
Brick Services Limited (2)
The Matching Brick Company Limited (2)
Brick-Link Limited (2)
Plansure Building Products Limited (2)
P V H Holdings Limited (1)
Crest Brick Slate & Tile Limited (3)
Crest Roofing Limited (3)
Crown Roofing (Centres) Limited (5)
Excel Roofing Services Limited (5)
Hamilton Heating Group Limited (1)
Towelrads.com Limited (6)
Radiatorsonline.com Ltd (6)
Frazer Simpson Limited (1)
FSN Doors Limited (1)
DSH Flooring Limited (6)
CPG Building Supplies Limited (1)
Brickwise Ltd (1)
The Bespoke Brick Company Limited (1)
The Brick Slip Business Limited (1)
Brickmongers (Wessex) Ltd (2)
LBT Brick & Facades Limited (2)
McCann Roofing Products Limited (4)
U Plastics Limited (1)
Bathroom Barn Limited (7)
McCann Logistics Ltd (3)
Forum Tiles Limited (8)
(1) Wholly owned by Brickability Enterprises Investments Limited.
(2) Wholly owned by Brickability UK Holdings Limited.
(3) Wholly owned by P V H Holdings Limited.

Country of operation
and incorporation

Class of
share held

Proportion of shares
held 2021

Proportion of shares
held 2020

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
75%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
-

(4) Wholly owned by Crest Brick Slate & Tile Limited.
(5) Wholly owned by Crest Roofing Limited.
(6) Wholly owned by Hamilton Heating Group Limited.

(7) Wholly owned by Towelrads.com Limited.
(8) 75% owned by Towelrads.com Limited.

Brickwise Ltd was a non-trading, dormant subsidiary that was dissolved via voluntary strike-off during the year.
Forum Tiles Limited was incorporated on 14 January 2021, with the Group owning 75% of the issued share capital. The non-controlling interest
is not material to the Group and thus no further disclosure is included in respect of the profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interests.
By virtue of section 479A of the Companies Act 2006, the following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of
individual accounts, with the ultimate parent company, Brickability Group plc, providing a guarantee for these companies under section 479C:
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Subsidiary

Company number

Subsidiary

Company number

Brickability Enterprises Holding Limited
Brickability Enterprises Investments Limited

10332050
10332505

The Brick Slip Business Limited
Brickmongers (Wessex) Ltd

09707800
06944174

Brickability UK Holdings Limited

07805178

Radiatorsonline.com Ltd

10757797

P V H Holdings Limited

02484708

Frazer Simpson Limited

06838234

Hamilton Heating Group Limited

09921801

FSN Doors Limited

07304174

The Matching Brick Company Limited

02530773

DSH Flooring Limited

08209834

Plansure Building Products Limited

06016447

McCann Logistics Ltd

01403830

CPG Building Supplies Limited

02937329

The Directors believe that the likelihood of the guarantee being called upon is remote, based on the above subsidiaries either being
intermediate parents within the Group, with primarily just Group debt balances, or considered low risk.

21. Business combinations
The Group acquired the entire share capital and 100% of the voting rights in the following companies during the year:
Company acquired
Bathroom Barn Limited

Acquisition date

Company acquired

Acquisition date

30 November 2020

McCann Logistics Ltd*

4 December 2020

*Formerly McCann Limited

The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on acquisition are as follows:
Bathroom Barn Limited
£’000

McCann Logistics Ltd
£’000

Property plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Identifiable intangible assets
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax
Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill
Total consideration
Satisfied by:

2
427
309
264
1,499
(180)
(81)
2,240
119
2,359

11
287
1,482
16
1,678
775
(1,657)
(287)
(320)
1,985
405
2,390

Cash paid
Deferred cash consideration
Contingent consideration (note 33)
Total consideration

1,323
805
231
2,359

1,225
276
889
2,390

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following amounts of revenue and profit in respect of the subsidiaries acquired:
Bathroom Barn Limited
£’000

McCann Logistics Ltd
£’000

Revenue

361

2,312

Net profit

96

144

Had the current year business combinations taken place at the beginning of the financial year, the Group’s revenue for the year
would have been £185,840,000 (2020: £206,278,000) and Group profit would have been £10,006,000 (2020: £11,215,000).
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YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
21. Business combinations (continued)
Acquisition related costs, included in administrative expenses (note 14), amounted to £105,000, made up as follows:
Bathroom Barn Limited
£’000

McCann Logistics Ltd
£’000

50

55

Acquisition costs

The Group acquired each of the above subsidiaries in order
to expand its network within the UK and increase the range of
products that can be offered to its customers.

Goodwill principally comprises the value of expected synergies arising
from the acquisitions and the value of the assembled workforce.
None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Contingent consideration
The Group has entered into contingent consideration
arrangements during the purchase of several subsidiaries. Final
amounts payable under these agreements are all subject to future
performance and the acquired business achieving pre-determined
EBITDA targets, over the three years following acquisition.

Summarised below are the fair values of the contingent
consideration at both acquisition and reporting date, the potential
undiscounted amount payable and the discount rates applied
within the discounting cash flow models, for each acquisition
where contingent consideration arrangements remain in place.

The fair value of all contingent consideration is based on a
discounting cash flow model, applying a discount rate of between
1.7% and 4.9% to the expected future cash flows.
Fair value at
reporting date
2021
£’000

Fair value at
reporting date
2020
£’000

Undiscounted
amount payable
2021
£’000

Undiscounted
amount payable
2020
£’000

Company
acquired

Discount
rate

Fair value at
acquisition
£’000

The Bespoke Brick Company Limited

4.9%

-

-

-

-

-

Brickmongers (Wessex)
Ltd

4.8%

138

-

143

-

155

CPG Building Supplies
Limited

4.0%

(201)

-

-

-

-

U Plastics Limited

3.5%

2,208

2,270

2,214

2,400

2,400

Bathroom Barn Limited

1.7%

231

241

-

248

-

McCann Logistics Ltd

1.7%

889

931

-

958

-

The total potential undiscounted amount payable in respect of U Plastics ranges from £246,000 to £2,400,000 (2020: £nil to
£2,400,000). It is not possible to determine a range of outcomes for the other companies acquired as the arrangements do not
contain a maximum payable.
A sensitivity in respect of the inputs into the discounted cash flow model, determining the contingent consideration, is outlined in note 33.

22. Associates
At the reporting date, the Group had the following associated undertaking, which is included in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method:
Associate
Apex Brickcutters Limited
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Country of operation
and incorporation

Class of
share held

Proportion of shares held

England and Wales

Ordinary

50%

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

352

1,292

-

(33)

(6)

(32)

(125)

-

-

(875)

221

352

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

(6)

(32)

Group’s share of other comprehensive income

-

-

Group’s share of total comprehensive income

(6)

(32)

Interest in associates
At 1 April
Dividends received from associates
Share of profit or loss
Disposals
Impairment of investments (note 14)
At 31 March

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material
Group’s share of profit or loss from continuing operations

During the year, the Group reduced its share in Financewell
Limited to a level where the Group is no longer considered to have
significant influence. The investment in associate has therefore
been disposed of and the investment is now classified as an
investment in a financial asset (see note 23).
Investments in associates are not attributed to the Group’s
reportable segments. Impairment losses in the prior year,
in respect of investments in associates, are included within
exceptional expenses within the Statement of Profit or Loss (note
14). No impairment loss has been recognised in the current year.
During the prior year, an impairment loss of £509,000 was
recognised in relation to the investment in Financewell Limited, as
the company was not trading profitably and further losses were
anticipated. The investment was written down to its recoverable
amount of £125,000, based on fair value less costs of disposal.
Costs of disposal were expected to be minimal. The fair value was

based on an agreement in principal to sell the investment.
As the fair value was based on the price agreed in an active
market, but not quoted, it was considered to be at level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy.
During the year, an impairment loss of £nil (2020: £366,000)
was recognised in relation to Apex Brickcutters Limited as the
company had not been trading as profitably as it had been
historically and the carrying value had included an element
of goodwill. The investment in Apex Brickcutters Limited was
written down to its recoverable amount of £227,000, based
on its fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value was based
on an amount equal to the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associate, based on its latest financial statements. As the
associate is unquoted but its net asset value is observable, with its
carrying value of assets and liabilities not expected to be subject
to significant adjustments to reflect fair value, it is considered to
be at level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

23. Investments

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

At 1 April

-

-

Additions

125

-

-

-

125

-

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Non-current

Change in fair value recognised in OCI
At 31 March

During the year, a group re-organisation took place which
resulted in the Group’s 25% share in Financewell Limited being
exchanged for a 12.5% share of Lendwell Holdings Limited, a new
parent company of Financewell Limited.
The Group’s investment is therefore no longer accounted for
as an investment in associate, under the equity method, but
classified as an investment, measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
The equity investments are not held for trading and thus the
Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the equity

instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income as
it is considered more appropriate for this nature of investment.
There has been no significant change in the fair value of the
investment since recognition. The fair value is based on the
Group’s share of the net assets of the entity in which it has the
investment, under a cost approach. The investment is in an
unquoted entity but the fair value of the assets and liabilities are
not expected to be significantly different to the carrying value.
As the net asset value is observable, it is considered to be at level
2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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24. Inventories
Group

Goods for resale

Company

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

12,127

9,791

-

-

25. Trade and other receivables
Group

Company

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Trade receivables

38,553

33,696

-

-

Less allowance for expected credit loss

(358)

(592)

-

-

38,195

33,104

-

-

Contract assets

-

37

-

-

Amounts owed by group undertakings

-

-

75,482

79,819

Prepayments and accrued income

2,651

1,911

-

-

Directors’ loan accounts

978

978

-

-

1,008

530

-

-

42,832

36,560

75,482

79,819

Trade receivables

460

391

-

-

Other receivables

-

-

9,343

9,343

460

391

9,343

9,343

43,292

36,951

84,825

89,162

Current

Other receivables
Non-current

Other receivables for the Company relate to loan notes receivable.
The balance is due on the 10th anniversary of the loan note
instrument and is receivable from 6 March 2028. Interest, accrued
at 9.5% per annum up until IPO, is receivable when the loan notes
are repaid.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The allowance for credit
losses has been determined by reference to past default experience
and a review of specific customers’ debts at the year end. The
Group considers a financial asset to be in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. Trade receivables are
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written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
amounts due, for example when a customer has entered liquidation.
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.
The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base
being large and unrelated.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar credit risk and loss patterns, for example
by customer type, size or credit rating.

and potential future risk of loss, given the significant impact the
pandemic has had on the UK economy.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates over the previous 2 years. The Group will
then adjust the historical loss rate to take into account forward
looking information, for example when forecast economic
conditions, such as gross domestic product or unemployment
rates, are expected to deteriorate. At each reporting date, the
historical default rates are updated and forward looking estimates
re-assessed.

The Group maintains credit insurance for its main customers
within the Bricks and Building Materials segment, which will
mitigate some of this risk. Market recovery following the initial lock
down period has also been considered. Details of the Group’s
credit exposure is included in note 33.

The Group has primarily experienced an increase in the ECL
rate among older debts due to some customers struggling
amid the COVID-19 pandemic. The forward looking estimates
applied have considered the ongoing impact of the pandemic

Set out below is the risk profile of trade receivables and contract
assets based on the Group’s provision matrix. Any reasonable
change in rates applied would not result in a material adjustment
to the expected credit loss recognised.

Trade Receivables and Contract Assets
Days past due
Current
£’000

< 30 days
£’000

30-60 days
£’000

61-90 days
£’000

>91 days
£’000

Expected credit loss rate

0.16%

0.27%

1.43%

9.2%

16.18%

Gross carrying amount

24,823

10,370

1,888

718

1,214

39,013

40

28

27

66

197

358

Total
£’000

31 March 2021

Expected credit loss

Total
£’000

Trade Receivables and Contract Assets
Days past due
Current
£’000

< 30 days
£’000

30-60 days
£’000

61-90 days
£’000

>91 days
£’000

Expected credit loss rate

0.19%

0.29%

9.31%

4.24%

15.69%

Gross carrying amount

16,899

12,444

2,990

307

1,484

34,124

32

36

278

13

233

592

31 March 2020

Expected credit loss

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Balance at the beginning of the year

592

710

Impairment losses recognised

341

433

(575)

(551)

358

592

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses

Amounts written off as uncollectable
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YEARENDED
ENDED3131MARCH
MARCH2021
2021
YEAR
26.Cash
Cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalents
26.
Company
Company

Group
Group

Cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalents
Cash

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

8,592
8,592

27,269
27,269

2222

--

Cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalentscomprise
comprisecash
cashand
andshort-term
short-termbank
bankdeposits
depositswith
withananoriginal
originalmaturity
maturityofofthree
threemonths
monthsororless.
less.
Cash
Thecarrying
carryingamount
amountofofthese
theseassets
assetsapproximates
approximatestototheir
theirfair
fairvalue.
value.
The
27.Trade
Tradeand
andother
otherpayables
payables
27.
Company
Company

Group
Group
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

27,481
27,481

27,159
27,159

--

--

--

--

9,925
9,925

120
120

Accrualsand
anddeferred
deferredincome
income
Accruals

5,869
5,869

3,289
3,289

159
159

4646

Othertaxation
taxationand
andsocial
socialsecurity
security
Other

3,388
3,388

3,070
3,070

--

--

Deferredand
andcontingent
contingentconsideration
consideration
Deferred

1,372
1,372

8,020
8,020

--

--

Otherpayables
payables
Other

659
659

374
374

--

--

38,769
38,769

41,912
41,912

10,084
10,084

166
166

3,153
3,153

2,402
2,402

--

--

41,922
41,922

44,314
44,314

10,084
10,084

166
166

Current
Current
Tradepayables
payables
Trade
Amountsowed
owedtotogroup
groupundertakings
undertakings
Amounts

Non-current
Non-current
Deferredand
andcontingent
contingentconsideration
consideration
Deferred

Tradepayables
payablesare
arenon-interest
non-interestbearing
bearingand
andprincipally
principallycomprise
compriseamounts
amountsoutstanding
outstandingforfortrade
trade
Trade
purchasesand
andongoing
ongoingcosts.
costs.The
TheGroup’
Group’
policyisistotopay
payallallpayables
payableswithin
withinitsitspre-agreed
pre-agreed
purchases
s spolicy
creditterms,
terms,which,
which,forforthe
themajority
majorityofofsuppliers,
suppliers,isisaaperiod
periodofof30
30days.
days.The
TheDirectors
Directors
credit
considerthat
thatthe
thecarrying
carryingamount
amountofoftrade
tradepayables
payablesapproximates
approximatestototheir
theirfair
fairvalue.
value.
consider

94
94

28.
28.Loans
Loansand
andborrowings
borrowings
Company
Company

Group
Group
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

15,750
15,750

24,912
24,912

15,750
15,750

24,912
24,912

Non-current
Non-current
Bank
Bankloans
loans

The
TheDirectors
Directorsconsider
considerthat
thatthe
thecarrying
carryingamount
amountofofloans
loansand
andborrowings
borrowingsapproximates
approximatestototheir
theirfair
fairvalue.
value.
The
Thebank
bankloans
loansare
aresecured
securedbybya afixed
fixedcharge
chargeover
overthe
theGroup’
Group’
s sproperties
propertiesand
andfloating
floatingcharges
chargesover
overthe
theremaining
remainingassets
assetsofofthe
the
Group,
Group,including
includingallallproperty,
property,investments
investmentsand
andassets
assetsofofthe
theCompany’
Company’
s ssubsidiary
subsidiaryundertakings.
undertakings.AAguarantee
guaranteehas
hasalso
alsobeen
beenprovided
provided
bybycertain
certaintrading
tradingsubsidiaries.
subsidiaries.
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29. Leases
Group as lessee
Right of use assets
Land and buildings
£’000

Plant and vehicles
£’000

Equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 April 2019

2,135

406

100

2,641

Additions

3,364

563

43

3,970

Acquisition through business combinations

891

58

-

949

Disposals

(19)

(31)

-

(50)

At 31 March 2020

6,371

996

143

7,510

Additions

534

125

34

693

Acquisition through business combinations

287

1,765

4

2,056

Transferred to property, plant and equipment

-

(127)

-

(127)

Disposals

-

(122)

-

(122)

7,192

2,637

181

10,010

At 1 April 2019

326

124

18

468

Charge for the year

522

169

26

717

Depreciation on disposals

(19)

(31)

-

(50)

At 31 March 2020

829

262

44

1,135

Charge for the year

631

452

28

1,111

Transferred to property, plant and equipment

-

(60)

-

(60)

Depreciation on disposals

-

(121)

-

(121)

1,460

533

72

2,065

At 31 March 2021

5,732

2,104

109

7,945

At 31 March 2020

5,542

734

99

6,375

Cost

At 31 March 2021
Depreciation

At 31 March 2021
Carrying value
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Lease liabilities
Land and buildings
£’000

Plant and vehicles
£’000

Equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 April 2019

1,814

238

81

2,133

Additions

3,477

532

43

4,052

Acquisition through business combinations

926

58

-

984

Interest expense

257

19

4

280

Lease payments

(624)

(219)

(28)

(871)

At 31 March 2020

5,850

628

100

6,578

Additions

543

125

34

702

Acquisition through business combinations

287

1,765

4

2,056

Interest expense

296

52

6

354

Lease payments

(871)

(494)

(33)

(1,398)

-

1

-

1

6,105

2,077

111

8,293

Foreign exchange losses
At 31 March 2021

Maturity analysis
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Due within 1 year

1,497

776

Due between 1 and 5 years

2,688

2,034

Due after 5 years

4,108

3,768

8,293

6,578

The undiscounted maturity analysis in respect of lease payments is disclosed in note 33.
Included within administration expenses within the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is an amount of £117,000 (2020:
£69,000) in respect of short-term leases and an amount of £6,000 (2020: £3,000) in respect of low value asset leases.
During the year, the Group received COVID-19 related rent concessions of £15,000, which is recognised as a credit within
administrative expenses within the profit or loss.
The lease liabilities are secured over the assets to which they relate. The Group is not permitted to pledge these assets as security for
any other borrowings or to sell them to another entity.
The Company does not have any right of use assets or lease liabilities.
Group as lessor
The Group does not have significant leasing activities acting as a lessor. Operating leases, in which the Group is the lessor relate to
the sub-let of part of its freehold and leasehold property.
Rental income on operating leases recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss is as follows:

Rental income

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

46

9
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YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
29. Leases (continued)
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows:
Maturity analysis
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Due within 1 year

119

9

Due between 1 and 5 years

351

23

470

32

Defect provisions
£’000

Dilapidation
provisions
£’000

Total
£’000

1,962

13

1,975

Additions

77

-

77

Utilised in the year

-

(13)

(13)

Unused amounts reversed

(650)

-

(650)

At 31 March 2020

1,389

-

1,389

Additions

209

-

209

Utilised in the year

(62)

-

(62)

Unused amounts reversed

(289)

-

(289)

At 31 March 2021

1,247

-

1,247

The Company does not have any operating lease arrangements.
30. Provisions
Group

At 1 April 2019

The Company does not have any provisions.
Defect provisions
A 10 year warranty is offered in connection with roofing services.
These warranties are offered in the normal course of business
and are in line with industry standards. Provision is therefore
recognised for expected defect claims on goods and services
sold during the last 10 years. The provision is based on the
estimated cost to rectify potential claims as a proportion of
sales, applied to sales in the previous 10 years. The rectification
cost is based on management’s best estimate of the Group’s
liability under the warranties granted, based on past experience.
The main uncertainty relates to estimating the value and
number of claims expected to be made.
Management consider their estimate on a case by case basis,
following a specific review of jobs carried out during the year.
This is considered to be the most appropriate method for
determining the provision due to the individual nature of the
materials used in construction, the size and geography of
the site and other external factors. The cost and number of

98

historical claims forms the basis of the estimated costs that
could potentially arise from future claims over the 10 year
warranty period. The cost of any warranty claim is charged
against the associated provision as those costs become payable.
Once the 10 year warranty period has expired, any unutilised
provision is released back to profit or loss. Due to the long-term
nature of the liabilities and uncertainty surrounding the potential
timing of the claims, the provision is inherently subjective. The
potential impact of discounting is considered immaterial.
Dilapidation provisions
Provision was recognised for expected repairs on the Group’s
operating premises. Leasehold dilapidations relate to the
estimated cost of returning a leasehold property to its original
state at the end of the lease in accordance with the lease terms.
The cost is now recognised as part of the right of use asset and
is depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. The main
uncertainty relates to estimating the cost that will be incurred at
the end of the lease.

31. Deferred tax
Group
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and
prior reporting period:
Accelerated tax
depreciation
£’000

Other temporary
differences
£’000

Total
£’000

662

(4,010)

(3,348)

Charged to profit or loss

(843)

217

(626)

Acquired through business combinations

(28)

(1,424)

(1,452)

At 31 March 2020

(209)

(5,217)

(5,426)

Charged to profit or loss

65

560

625

Acquired through business combinations

(1)

(401)

(402)

(145)

(5,058)

(5,203)

At 1 April 2019

At 31 March 2021

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

98

205

(5,301)

(5,631)

(5,203)

(5,426)

The Company has no deferred tax assets or liabilities.
At the reporting date, the Group had no unused tax losses (2020: £nil), available for offset against future profits, where deferred tax
assets have not been provided.
32. Pensions
Defined contribution plans
The total expense recognised in profit or loss in relation to contributions payable under defined contribution pension plans is
£586,000 (2020: £463,000).
At the reporting date, contributions of £ 75,000 (2020: £72,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not yet been
paid over to the pension provider.
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33. Financial instruments
The Group has the following financial assets and liabilities:
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents

8,592

27,269

Trade and other receivables

40,642

35,040

Total financial assets

49,234

62,309

Financial liabilities

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Trade and other payables

35,092

38,887

Loans and borrowings

15,750

24,912

Lease liabilities

8,293

6,578

59,135

70,377

3,442

2,357

3,442

2,357

62,577

72,734

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
Contingent consideration
Total financial liabilities

Fair values
Financial instruments not measured at fair value include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables, loans and borrowings and lease liabilities.
Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables approximates their fair value.
For details of the fair value of loans and borrowings, refer to note 28.
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The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 are shown below:
Significant
Unobservable
inputs

Financial
instrument

Valuation
technique

Contingent
Consideration
in a business
combination
(note 21)

Present value Assumed probability
of future cash -adjusted EBITDA of
flows
acquired entities.

Range/
estimate

Sensitivity of the input to fair value

2021:
£1,142,000 –
£3,852,000

The higher the adjusted EBITDA, the higher the fair value. If forecast
EBITDA was 10% higher, while all other variables remained constant,
the fair value of the overall contingent consideration liability would
increase by £140,000. A 10% decrease in EBITDA would result in a
decrease in the liability of £424,000.
(2020: increase of £67,000 and decrease of £404,000)

2020:
£1,231,000 –
£3,750,000
Discount rate

2021: 1.7% - 4.9%
2020: 3.5% - 4.8%

The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value. If the discount
rate applied was 2% higher, while all other variables remained
constant, the fair value of the overall contingent consideration liability
would decrease by £110,000. A 2% decrease in the rate would result
in an increase in the liability of £108,000.
(2020: decrease of £103,000 and increase of £109,000)

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments.
Contingent consideration
£’000
At 1 April 2019

(566)

Additions through business combinations

(2,345)

Finance expense charged to profit or loss

(28)

Settlement

627

Fair value losses recognised in profit or loss

(45)

At 31 March 2020

(2,357)

Additions through business combinations

(1,120)

Finance expense charged to profit or loss

(89)

Settlement

(236)

Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss

360

At 31 March 2021

Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow, interest rate and currency risk),
investment risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. Risk management is
carried out by the directors. The Group finances its operations
through a mixture of debt finance, cash and liquid resources and
various items such as trade receivables and payables which arise
directly from the Group’s operations.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows
associated with an instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. Interest bearing assets, including cash and
cash equivalents, are considered to the short-term liquid assets. It
is the Group’s policy to settle trade payables within the credit terms
allowed and thus the Group does not incur interest on overdue
balances. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is therefore
primarily in respect of its long-term floating rate borrowings.

(3,442)

In the prior year, the Group had a mix of fixed and floating rate
borrowings and used an interest rate swap to manage interest
rate risk volatility and hedge against interest exposure on future
firm commitments. The fair values of the assets and liabilities
held at fair value through profit or loss at the reporting date are
determined using quoted prices. Where quoted prices are not
available for derivatives, the fair value of derivatives has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at
prevailing interest rates.
The Group also has the facility to offset cash and cash equivalents
against its bank borrowings in order to minimise its interest charge.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the impact on the Group’s profit
before tax and equity based on the sensitivity of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates on the Group’s floating rate
borrowings, with all other variables held constant. The analysis is
prepared assuming the liability outstanding at the reporting date
was outstanding for the whole year.
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33.Financial
Financialinstruments
instruments(continued)
(continued)
33.
2020
2020

2021
2021

Sterling
Sterling

Changeininrate
rate
Change

Effectononprofit
profit
Effect
beforetax
tax
before
£’000
£’000

Change
Change
rate
ininrate

Effectononprofit
profit
Effect
beforetax
tax
before
£’000
£’000

+ +0.25%
0.25%

(40)
(40)

+0.25%
+0.25%

(63)
(63)

-0.25%
-0.25%

40
40

-0.25%
-0.25%

6363

Thechange
changeinininterest
interestrate
rateisisbased
basedononthe
theobservable
observablemarket
marketenvironment.
environment.
The
Foreigncurrency
currencyrisk
risk
Foreign
TheGroup
Groupundertakes
undertakestransactions
transactionsdenominated
denominatedininforeign
foreigncurrencies
currenciesand
andthus
thusthere
thereisisthe
therisk
riskofofexposure
exposuretotochanges
changesininforeign
foreigncurrency
currency
The
exchangerates.
rates.The
TheGroup
Groupenters
entersinto
intoforward
forwardforeign
foreignexchange
exchangecontracts
contractsininorder
ordertotohedge
hedgeagainst
againstfluctuations
fluctuationsininexchange
exchangerates.
rates.
exchange
Thecarrying
carryingamounts
amountsofofthe
theGroup’
Group’
s foreigncurrency
currencydenominated
denominatedmonetary
monetaryassets
assetsand
andliabilities
liabilitiesatatthe
thereporting
reportingdate
dateare
areasasfollows:
follows:
The
s foreign
Assets
Assets

Liabilities
Liabilities

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Euro
Euro

928
928

132
132

4,370
4,370

2,190
2,190

USD
USD

--

1212

33

--

Total
Total

928
928

144
144

4,373
4,373

2,190
2,190

Foreign
Foreigncurrency
currencysensitivity
sensitivityanalysis
analysis
TheGroup
Groupisismainly
mainlyexposed
exposedtotothe
theEuro
Eurocurrency.
currency.
The
Thefollowing
followingtable
tabledemonstrates
demonstratesthe
theGroup’
Group’
sensitivitytotoa areasonably
reasonablypossible
possiblechange
changeininthe
theEuro
Euroexchange
exchangerates,
rates,with
withallallother
other
The
s ssensitivity
variablesheld
heldconstant.
constant.The
Theimpact
impactononthe
theGroup’
Group’
profitbefore
beforetax
taxisisdue
duetotochanges
changesininthe
thefair
fairvalue
valueofofmonetary
monetaryassets
assetsand
andliabilities,
liabilities,
variables
s sprofit
includingnon-designated
non-designatedforeign
foreigncurrency
currencyderivatives.
derivatives.The
Theimpact
impactononequity
equityisisdue
duetotochanges
changesininthe
thefair
fairvalue
valueofofforward
forwardcontracts
contracts
including
andchanges
changesasasa aresult
resultofoftranslating
translatingoutstanding
outstandingforeign
foreigncurrency
currencydenominated
denominatedmonetary
monetaryitems
itemsatatthe
therevised
revisedexchange
exchangerates.
rates.
and
2020
2020

2021
2021

Euro
Euro

USD
USD

Changeininrate
rate
Change

Effectononprofit
profit
Effect
andequity
equity
and
beforetax
tax
before
£’000
£’000

Change
Change
rate
ininrate

Effectononprofit
profit
Effect
and
andequity
equity
before
beforetax
tax
£’000
£’000

10%
+ +10%

313
313

10%
+ +10%

187
187

- 10%
- 10%

(382)
(382)

- 10%
- 10%

(229)
(229)

10%
+ +10%

--

10%
+ +10%

(1)(1)

- 10%
- 10%

--

- 10%
- 10%

11

Thechange
changeininexchange
exchangerate
rateisisbased
basedononmanagement’
management’
assessmentofofthe
thereasonably
reasonablypossible
possiblechange
changeininforeign
foreignexchange
exchangerates.
rates.
The
s sassessment

102
102

Liquidity
Liquidityrisk
risk
The
TheGroup
Groupmanages
managesliquidity
liquidityrisk
riskbybymaintaining
maintainingsufficient
sufficientcash
cashbalances
balancesand
andreserves
reservesand
andbybyensuring
ensuringit ithas
hasadequate
adequatebanking
banking
and
andborrowing
borrowingfacilities
facilitiesavailable.
available.Management
Managementreviews
reviewscash
cashflow
flowforecasts
forecastsononaaregular
regularbasis
basistotodetermine
determinewhether
whetherthe
theGroup
Grouphas
has
sufficient
sufficientcash
cashreserves
reservestotomeet
meetfuture
futureworking
workingcapital
capitalrequirements
requirementsand
andtototake
takeadvantage
advantageofofbusiness
businessopportunities.
opportunities.
Liquidity
Liquidityand
andinherent
inherentrisk
risktables
tables
The
Thefollowing
followingtables
tablesdetail
detailthe
theGroup’s
Group’sremaining
remainingcontractual
contractualmaturity
maturityforforitsitsfinancial
financialliabilities,
liabilities,based
basedononthe
theundiscounted
undiscountedcash
cashflows.
flows.
3131March
March2021
2021

< <1 year
1 year
£’000
£’000

1 –1 –55years
years
£’000
£’000

> >55years
years
£’000
£’000

Total
Total
£’000
£’000

35,384
35,384

3,323
3,323

--

38,707
38,707

1,737
1,737

3,856
3,856

5,532
5,532

11,125
11,125

--

15,900
15,900

--

15,900
15,900

37,121
37,121

23,079
23,079

5,532
5,532

65,732
65,732

< <1 year
1 year
£’000
£’000

1 –1 –55years
years
£’000
£’000

> >55years
years
£’000
£’000

Total
Total
£’000
£’000

39,023
39,023

2,515
2,515

--

41,538
41,538

1,078
1,078

2,933
2,933

4,936
4,936

8,947
8,947

--

25,000
25,000

--

25,000
25,000

40,101
40,101

30,448
30,448

4,936
4,936

75,485
75,485

Non-derivative
Non-derivativefinancial
financialliabilities
liabilities
Trade
Tradeand
andother
otherpayables
payables
Lease
Leaseliabilities
liabilities
Bank
Bankloans
loans
Total
Totalfinancial
financialliabilities
liabilities

3131March
March2020
2020
Non-derivative
Non-derivativefinancial
financialliabilities
liabilities
Trade
Tradeand
andother
otherpayables
payables
Lease
Leaseliabilities
liabilities
Bank
Bankloans
loans
Total
Totalfinancial
financialliabilities
liabilities
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33.
33.Financial
Financialinstruments
instruments(continued)
(continued)
Capital
Capitalrisk
riskmanagement
management
The
Thecapital
capitalstructure
structureofofthe
theGroup
Groupconsists
consistsofofcash
cashand
andcash
cashequivalents,
equivalents,debt
debtand
andequity.
equity.Equity
Equitycomprises
comprises
share
sharecapital,
capital,share
sharepremium,
premium,retained
retainedearnings
earningsand
andthe
themerger
mergerreserve
reservewhich
whichisisequal
equaltotothe
theamount
amountshown
shownasas
‘Equity’
‘Equity’ininthe
theBalance
BalanceSheet.
Sheet.Debt
Debtcomprises
comprisesloans
loansand
andborrowings
borrowingsand
andlease
leaseliabilities.
liabilities.
The
TheGroup’s
Group’sobjectives
objectiveswhen
whenmaintaining
maintainingcapital
capitalare
areto:
to:
Safeguardthe
theGroup’
Group’
abilitytotoremain
remainaagoing
goingconcern
concernsosothat
thatit itcan
cancontinue
continuetotopursue
pursueitsitsgrowth
growthplans;
plans;
• •Safeguard
s sability
Provideaareasonable
reasonableexpectation
expectationofoffuture
futurereturns
returnstotoshareholders;
shareholders;and
and
• •Provide
Maintainadequate
adequatefinancial
financialflexibility
flexibilitytotopreserve
preserveitsitsability
abilitytotomeet
meetfinancial
financialobligations,
obligations,both
bothcurrent
currentand
andlong
longterm.
term.
• •Maintain
TheGroup
Groupisisnot
notsubject
subjecttotoany
anyexternally
externallyimposed
imposedcapital
capitalrequirements.
requirements.
The
TheBoard
Boardreviews
reviewsthe
thecapital
capitalstructure
structureannually,
annually,considering
consideringthe
thecost
costofofcapital
capitaland
andthe
therisks
risksassociated
associatedwith
witheach
eachclass
classofofcapital.
capital.
The
TheGroup’s
Group’sgearing
gearingratio
ratioatatthe
thereporting
reportingdate
dateisisasasfollows:
follows:
The
2021
2021
£’000
£’000

2020
2020
£’000
£’000

Debt
Debt

24,043
24,043

31,490
31,490

Cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalents
Cash

(8,592)
(8,592)

(27,269)
(27,269)

Netdebt
debt
Net

15,451
15,451

4,221
4,221

Equity
Equity

85,434
85,434

80,065
80,065

18%
18%

5%
5%

Netdebt
debttotoequity
equityratio
ratio
Net

Debtisisdefined
definedasasshort
shortand
andlong-term
long-termloans
loansand
andborrowings
borrowingsand
andlease
leaseliabilities
liabilitiesasasdetailed
detailedininnotes
notes2828and
and29.
29.Equity
Equityincludes
includesallall
Debt
capitaland
andreserves.
reserves.
capital
Creditrisk
riskand
andimpairment
impairment
Credit
Creditrisk
riskrefers
referstotothe
therisk
riskthat
thataacounterparty
counterpartywill
willdefault
defaultononitsits
Credit
contractualobligations,
obligations,resulting
resultingininaafinancial
financialloss
losstotothe
theGroup.
Group.
contractual
ordertotominimise
minimisethe
therisk,
risk,the
theGroup
Groupendeavours
endeavourstotoonly
onlydeal
deal
InInorder
withcompanies
companieswhich
whichare
aredemonstrably
demonstrablycreditworthy.
creditworthy.This,
This,
with
togetherwith
withthe
theaggregate
aggregatefinancial
financialexposure,
exposure,isiscontinuously
continuously
together

104
104

monitored;Credit
Creditapproval
approvalprocesses
processesare
areininplace
placeforfornew
new
monitored;
customersand
andregular
regularreviews
reviewsofofcredit
creditlimits
limitscarried
carriedout.
out.
customers
Creditinsurance
insuranceisisalso
alsotaken
takenout
outwhere
whereappropriate.
appropriate.Policies
Policiesinin
Credit
placeprimarily
primarilycover
covercustomers
customerswithin
withinthe
theBricks
Bricksand
andBuilding
Building
place
Materialssegment.
segment.
Materials

The
Themaximum
maximumexposure
exposuretotocredit
creditrisk
riskisisthe
thecarrying
carryingvalue
valueofofthe
the
Group’
Group’s
s financial
financialassets,
assets,including
includingtrade
tradeand
andother
otherreceivables
receivables
and
andcash
cashand
andcash
cashequivalents.
equivalents.The
TheGroup
Groupdoes
doesnot
notconsider
consider
that
thatthere
thereisisany
anyconcentration
concentrationofofrisk
riskwithin
withineither
eithertrade
tradeororother
other
receivables.
receivables.The
Theage
ageofofreceivables
receivablesisisanalysed
analysedand
andevaluated
evaluated
ononaaregular
regularbasis
basisforforpotential
potentialcredit
creditlosses,
losses,considering
consideringhistoric,
historic,
current
currentand
andforward-looking
forward-lookinginformation.
information.Details
Detailsregarding
regardingthe
the
credit
creditrisk
riskexposure
exposureonontrade
tradereceivables
receivablesisisoutlined
outlinedininnote
note25.
25.

Credit
Creditrisk
riskononcash
cashand
andcash
cashequivalents
equivalentsisisconsidered
consideredtotobebevery
very
low
lowasasthe
thecounterparties
counterpartiesare
areallallsubstantial
substantialbanks
bankswith
withhigh
high
credit
creditratings.
ratings.
The
TheGroup
Groupdoes
doesnot
nothold
holdany
anycollateral
collateralororother
othercredit
creditenhancements
enhancements
totocover
coveritsitscredit
creditrisks
risksassociated
associatedwith
withitsitsfinancial
financialassets.
assets.

34.
34.Share
Sharecapital
capital
Group
Groupand
andCompany
Company
2021
2021

2020
2020

Number
Number

£’000
£’000

Number
Number

£’000
£’000

230,458,821
230,458,821

2,305
2,305

230,458,821
230,458,821

2,305
2,305

230,458,821
230,458,821

2,305
2,305

230,458,821
230,458,821

2,305
2,305

Issued
Issuedand
andfully
fullypaid
paid
Ordinary
Ordinaryshares
sharesofof£0.01
£0.01each
each

Any
Anyprofits
profitsdistributed
distributedshall
shallbebeapplied
appliedpari
paripassu
passuamongst
amongstthe
theholders
holdersofofthe
theordinary
ordinaryshares.
shares.InInthe
theevent
eventofofaaliquidation,
liquidation,the
thesurplus
surplus
assets
assetsshall
shallbebeapplied
appliedpari
paripassu
passuamongst
amongstthe
theholders
holdersofofthe
theordinary
ordinaryshares.
shares.
The
TheCompany
Companyhas
hasshare
shareoption
optionschemes
schemesunder
underwhich
whichoptions
optionshave
havebeen
beengranted
grantedtotocertain
certainemployees
employeestotoacquire
acquireordinary
ordinaryshares.
shares.
Further
Furtherdetails
detailsare
areincluded
includedininnote
note36.
36.
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35. Reserves
The share capital reserve represents the nominal value received
for shares issued.
The share premium reserve represents the amount received, for
shares issued, in excess of the nominal value, less transaction costs.
The capital redemption reserve represents the par value of shares
purchased back by the Company and subsequently cancelled.
The share-based payment reserve represents the value of equity
settled share-based payments provided to employees, including

key management personnel, as part of their remuneration.
See note 36.
The retained earnings reserve represents the total of all current
and prior period retained profits and losses.
The merger reserve in the Consolidated Balance Sheet represents
the difference between the carrying value of the assets and
liabilities acquired and the value of consideration transferred on
a previous group re-organisation. Within the Company Balance
Sheet, it represents the merger relief arising on a share for share
exchange in which the Company acquired a subsidiary.

36. Share-based payments
Equity settled share option plans
The Company operates a Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) and Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for certain employees,
including senior management and Directors.
Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)
Options are exercisable at a price equal to the market value per ordinary share at the grant date. Options have a vesting period
of three years and a contractual life of ten years. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves employment before the options vest,
unless considered a ‘good leaver’.
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
2021

2020

Number of share
options

Weighted average
exercise price
£

Number of share
options

Weighted average
exercise price
£

3,635,422

0.41

-

-

Granted during the year

-

-

3,681,311

0.41

Forfeited during the year

(519,793)

0.41

(45,889)

0.41

Outstanding at 31 March

3,115,629

0.41

3,635,422

0.41

Exercisable at 31 March

106,203

0.41

-

-

Outstanding at 1 April

No share options were exercised during the year.
The options outstanding at the reporting date have an exercise price of £0.41 and a remaining contractual life of 8.33 years (2020 9.33 years).
The aggregate of the estimated fair value of the options granted during the year is £nil (2020: £257,692).
No options have been granted under the CSOP during the year. For options granted during the prior year, the fair value was
determined using the binomial option pricing model. The inputs into this model are as follows:
2021

2020

Weighted average share price

-

£0.41

Weighted average exercise price

-

£0.41

Expected volatility

-

23%

Option life

-

10 years

Expected dividend yield

-

2.6%

Risk free interest rate

-

0.34%

Sub-optimal exercise multiple

-

4.5x

106

The sub-optimal exercise multiple builds into the binomial option pricing model the assumption that once a vested option’s intrinsic
value reaches a certain multiple of the exercise price, the option-holder will choose to ‘cash in’ and exercise the option before it
reaches the end of its contractual life.
Expected volatility was determined using the average volatility of listed companies in the Building Materials FTSE ICB Subsector
weighted by market cap, as obtained from the LBS Risk Measurement Service’s report for the relevant period.
Long Term Investment Plan (LTIP)
On 16 November 2020, the Group granted options under
the LTIP scheme. The options are exercisable at the nominal
price of £0.01 and have performance based vesting conditions
dependent on total shareholder return (TSR) and adjusted
EBITDA, with each award split equally between the two
performance conditions. Vesting occurs on a straight-line basis
on achieving 18% (equivalent to 6% per annum) to 30%
(equivalent to 10% annually) of the relevant performance

condition over the performance period (3 years ending 1
October 2023). There is no vesting if the relevant target is
not met but a 50% vesting if the initial 18% hurdle is met with
a proportionate additional vesting of up to 100% at the 30%
threshold being met.
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves employment before
the options vest, unless considered a ‘good leaver’.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
2021

2020

Number of share
options

Weighted average
exercise price
£

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise price
£

-

-

-

-

Granted during the year

5,621,074

0.01

-

-

Lapsed during the year

(260,870)

0.01

-

-

Forfeited during the year

(498,189)

0.01

-

-

Outstanding at 31 March

4,862,015

0.01

-

-

Exercisable at 31 March

-

-

-

-

Outstanding at 1 April

No share options were exercised during the year.
The options outstanding at the reporting date have an exercise price of £0.01 and a remaining contractual life of 9.63 years.
The aggregate of the estimated fair value of the options granted during the year is £2,315,000.
For options granted during the year, the fair value in connection with the TSR awards was determined using a Monte Carlo
simulation model, while the fair value of the EBITDA awards was determined using a Black-Scholes model. The inputs into these
models are as follows:
2021

2020

Weighted average share price

£0.53

-

Weighted average exercise price

£0.01

-

Expected volatility

25%

-

10 years

-

3.5%

-

0.39%

-

Option life
Expected dividend yield
Risk free interest rate
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
37. Notes to the statement of cash flows
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below outlines the changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Non-cash changes
1 April 2020
£’000

Financing
cash flows (1)
£’000

New leases
£’000

Acquisition of
subsidiaries
£’000

Changes In
fair value
£’000

Other
changes (2)
£’000

31 March
2021
£’000

Bank borrowings (note 28)

24,912

(9,190)

-

-

-

28

15,750

Lease liabilities (note 29)

6,578

(1,398)

2,471

287

-

355

8,293

Deferred and contingent
consideration

10,422

(7,883)

-

2,217

(360)

128

4,524

Total liabilities from
financing activities

41,912

(18,471)

2,471

2,504

(360)

511

28,567

(1) The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds and repayments of loans and borrowings in the cash flow statement.
(2) Other changes include interest and fee accruals and payments.

Non-cash changes
1 April 2019
£’000

Financing
cash flows (1)
£’000

New leases
£’000

Acquisition of
subsidiaries
£’000

Conversion
to equity
£’000

Changes In
fair value
£’000

Other
changes (2)
£’000

31 March
2020
£’000

Bank borrowings (note 28)

36,422

(12,055)

-

-

-

-

545

24,912

Loan notes

28,966

(14,562)

-

1,514

(11,845)

-

(4,073)

-

Lease liabilities (note 29)

2,133

(871)

5,036

-

-

-

280

6,578

Deferred and contingent
consideration

8,449

(5,885)

-

8,266

-

(167)

(241)

10,422
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(105)

-

-

-

(1)

-

-

76,076

(33,478)

5,036

9,780

(11,845)

(168)

(3,489)

41,912

Derivative financial
instruments
Total liabilities from
financing activities

(1) The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds and repayments of loans and borrowings in the cash flow statement.
(2) Other changes include interest and fee accruals and payments.

Non cash changes in equity arising from financing activities
Shares issued in the prior year for consideration of £978,000 were funded by Directors’ loans (note 38). The cash inflow of £43,923,000
as proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares is therefore £978,000 less than the total reported in the Consolidated and Company
Statement of Changes in Equity, for the issue of paid shares, in the year ended 31 March 2020.
In addition to the conversion of loan notes into equity, amounting
to £nil (2020: £11,845,000), fees of £nil (2020: £2,087,000), in
connection with the IPO, were settled by the issue of shares in the
Company. Total debt converted to equity was therefore £nil
(2020: £13,932,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, the above mentioned fees of
£2,087,000 and the £414,000 of share issue costs paid, form
the total share issue costs of £2,501,000, as presented in the
Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity.

38. Related party transactions
Group
Transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Transactions with Directors
Included within receivables are the following balances due from a Director and former Director:

Directors’ loan accounts

There has been no movement in the balance during the year.
In respect of Directors who had an overdrawn loan account
during the year, the following transactions took place
between the Directors and the Group:
£’000
Opening balance

978

Amounts advanced

-

Amounts repaid

-

Closing balance

978

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

978

978

The amounts advanced were for the purpose of paying up the
subscription price for ordinary D shares of £0.01 each, during the
financial year ended 31 March 2020. The loans are unsecured and
interest free and are repayable on the sale of any of the shares held
in the Company by the Director and former Director. The balance
has been repaid in full since the year end.
During the year, interest of £nil (2020: £317,000) was charged at
a rate of 9.5% per annum, to profit or loss in respect of loan notes
payable to Directors.
During the year, loan notes payable to Directors amounting to £nil
(2020: £5,883,000) were exchanged for shares in the Company.
Loan notes and accrued interest amounting to £nil (2020:
£3,818,000) were paid to Directors.

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

3,219

2,033

Post-employment benefits

75

66

Share-based payment expense

96

2

3,390

2,101

Key management personnel
Key management personnel compensation
Short-term employee benefits

During the year, interest of £nil (2020: £279,000) was charged at
a rate of 9.5% per annum, to profit or loss in respect of loan notes
payable to key management personnel. Loan notes payable to key
management personnel amounting to £nil (2020: £3,850,000)
were exchanged for shares in the Company. Loan notes and
accrued interest amounting to £nil (2020: £4,403,000) were paid
to key management personnel.
Included within the deferred consideration liabilities is an amount
of £nil (2020: £1,001,000) in respect of deferred consideration
payable to key management personnel, in connection with

acquisitions made by the Group on 6 March 2018. A finance
expense of £16,000 (2020: £85,000) was recognised in respect
of the unwinding of the discount applied to deferred consideration
due to key management.
During the year, the Group made sales amounting to £13,000
(2020: £68,000) to members of key management. A balance of
£7,000 (2020: £33,000) was included within trade receivables
at the reporting date, in respect of these sales. The Group also
purchased a motor vehicle from a member of key management
personnel for £nil (2020: £35,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
38. Related party transactions (continued)
Other related parties
Included within trade receivables/ payables are the following amounts due from/ to other related parties, at the reporting date:
Amounts owed by related parties

Amounts owed to related parties

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Associates

-

120

88

44

Other related parties

-

-

24

-

-

120

112

44

Transactions undertaken between the Group and its related parties during the year were as follows:
Sales to related parties

Purchases from related parties

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Associates

1

100

474

565

Other related parties

1

-

199

178

2

100

673

743

Other related parties comprise of entities owned by Directors
or key management. Purchases relate to rent and
administrative expenses.

During the year, the Group was charged £nil (2020: £50,000),
in respect of monitoring fees, by an entity in which members of
that entity previously had significant influence over the Group.

Interest of £nil (2020: £71,000) was accrued during the year in
respect of loan notes due to a close relative of a Director, at a
rate of 9.5% per annum. In the year, £nil (2020: £2,048,000)
was paid to this close relative, in respect of these loan notes.

Interest of £nil (2020: £211,000) was accrued during the year
in respect of loan notes issued to an entity in which members of
that entity previously had significant influence over the Group.
The loan notes were secured with interest payable, at 9.5% per
annum, on redemption. The loan notes were redeemable on 13
September 2026 but were settled during the prior year, with a
total of £6,978,000 paid on settlement.

Included within the deferred consideration liability is an amount
of £nil (2020: £1,363,000) in respect of deferred consideration
payable to close relatives of key management, in connection
with acquisitions made by the Group on 6 March 2018. A
finance expense of £21,000 (2020: £116,000) was recognised
in respect of the unwinding of the discount applied to deferred
consideration due to these close relatives.

Company
In accordance with the exemption under FRS 101, transactions
and balances with wholly owned Group members and key
management personnel are not disclosed.

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

111

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
39. Post balance sheet events
On 20 May 2021, the Group purchased a property for £2,425,000.
On 7 June 2021, the Group granted 506,825 options under its LTIP scheme to a Director. The options were granted on the same
terms as previous awards, as disclosed in note 36.
On 30 June 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire share capital and 100% of the voting rights in Taylor Maxwell
(2017) Limited, one of the UK’s leading suppliers of timber and non-combustible cladding to the construction industry.
The acquisition was made in order to expand the Group’s position in the UK market and further broaden the Group’s product
offering, whilst developing enhancement opportunities within the acquired business.
The book value of the separable assets acquired and liabilities assumed on acquisition are estimated as follows:
£’000
Property plant and equipment

3,321

Inventory

6,538

Trade and other receivables

46,913

Trade and other payables

(47,797)

Deferred tax

(363)

Total identifiable net assets

8,612

Due to the timing of the acquisition, a detailed assessment of the fair value of the identifiable net assets, and value of any
uncollectable contractual cash flows, has not yet been completed at the date of approving these financial statements.
The total consideration expected to be payable is:
£’000
Cash

40,000

Issue of shares

10,000

Contingent consideration

13,000

Total consideration

63,000

The above consideration is subject to post completion
adjustments and the initial cash consideration of £40 million
is subject to a retention in respect of certain indemnities given
under the share purchase agreement.

It is expected that goodwill will arise on the acquisition and this
will primarily comprise the value of expected synergies arising
from the acquisition and value of the assembled workforce. This
goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The £10 million consideration through the issue of shares has
resulted in 9,900,990 new ordinary shares being issued.

To fund the above acquisition and future bolt-on acquisitions,
the Company has placed 57,894,737 new ordinary shares
of £0.01 each, at an issue price of £0.95 per share with new
and existing institutional investors, raising £55 million before
fees and expenses. Shareholders involved in the management
of businesses within the Group, including Directors, key
management and persons connected with them, also sold 40
million existing ordinary shares, at the issue price of £0.95.

The contingent consideration is subject to future performance
of the acquired business, measured against agreed adjusted
EBITDA targets, over the three years following acquisition. Due
to the timing of the acquisition, the above value represents the
undiscounted estimate of contingent consideration payable.
The total potential undiscounted contingent consideration
payable ranges from £nil to £13 million.
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The above transactions have resulted in an increase of
67,795,727 ordinary shares, giving a total number of shares
of 298,254,548 and a revised share capital balance of
£2,983,000.
Total costs of £3,048,000 comprising stamp duty, legal and
professional fees and transaction costs, directly attributable
to the issue of new shares, are estimated to be incurred in
connection with the acquisition. Of this total, share transaction
costs of £2,280,000 are expected to be recognised as a
reduction in the share premium account, while the remaining
£768,000 will be recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
Again, due to the timing of the acquisition, not all costs have
been invoiced or finalised at the time of approving these
financial statements.

The Company has also entered into an agreement to extend its
borrowing facilities, increasing its facility limit from £30 million
to £60 million. Arrangement fees and legal and professional
fees associated with this re-financing are expected to amount
to £325,000.
On 30 July 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
share capital and 100% of the voting rights in Leadcraft Limited,
a UK provider of energy efficient roofing solutions.
The acquisition was carried out to expand the Group’s customer
base and further enhance its offering of environmentally
sustainable and efficient roofing products and services.
The book value of the separable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed on acquisition are estimated as follows:
£’000

Property plant and equipment

123

Inventory

13

Trade and other receivables

681

Trade and other payables

(371)

Deferred tax

(18)

Total identifiable net assets

428

Due to the timing of the acquisition, a detailed assessment of the fair value of the identifiable net assets, and value of any
uncollectable contractual cash flows, has not yet been completed at the date of approving these financial statements.
The total consideration expected to be payable is:
£’000
Cash

3,300

Deferred cash consideration

1,320

Contingent consideration

390

Total consideration

5,010

The above consideration is subject to post completion adjustments.
The contingent consideration is subject to future performance of the acquired business, measured against agreed adjusted EBITDA
targets, over the three years following acquisition. Due to the timing of the acquisition, the above value represents the undiscounted
estimate of contingent consideration payable. It is not possible to determine a range of outcomes for the contingent consideration
payable as the arrangement does not contain a maximum payable.
It is expected that goodwill will arise on the acquisition and this will primarily comprise the value of expected synergies arising from
the acquisition and value of the assembled workforce. This goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
Acquisition costs of £78,000, in relation to stamp duty and legal and professional fees, are estimated to be incurred in connection
with this acquisition and will be recognised in profit or loss. Due to the timing of the acquisition, not all costs have been invoiced or
finalised at the time of approving these financial statements.
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